
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND 

ENTERPRISE SPC 
 

TO BE HELD BY REMOTE VIDEO CONFERENCING VIA - ZOOM 
 

ON MONDAY 24 JANUARY 2022 AT 3.30 PM 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

MONDAY 24 JANUARY 2022
  PAGE 
 
1   Minutes   

 
3 - 8 

2   Matters Arising   
 

 

3   Motion of Notice   
 

 

4   Draft Dublin City Development Plan 2022 - 2028 -  Update - Deirdre Scully, 
Deputy City Planner, Planning & Property Development   
 

9 - 21 

5   Dublin City Local Economic and Community Plan - Mary MacSweeney, Senior 
Executive Officer/Deputy Head of Enterprise & Economic Development   
 

22 - 24 

6   Published Reports for Circulation   
 

 

a   Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards 2015 - 2021 Brochure 
 

25 - 54 

b   Reset Summit 2020 - Outcomes Report 
 

55 - 98 

7   European Programme Support Office - Anthony Flynn, Executive Manager, CRES   
 

99 - 111 

8   Economic Development & Enterprise Management Reports 112 - 

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm 
if all or part of the meeting is being filmed. 
 
You should be aware that the Council is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2014, the Data Protection Act 1988 and 2018, 
General Data Protection Regulations (EU) 2016/679 and the Defamation Act 2009. Data collected during this webcast will be retained 
in accordance with the legislation. 
 
Therefore, by entering the Council Chamber/Meeting Room and using the seats around the meeting tables, public gallery etc., you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Chief Executives Department on Extn. 2101 or DD (01) 222 2100. 

 



 

 

a. Economic Development Office 

b. Local Enterprise Office 

c. Dublin.ie 

d. Smart Dublin and Smart Cities 

e. International Relations 

 

139 

9   Any Other Business 
 

Next SPC Meeting: 12th April 2022 (3.30pm – 5.30pm)  

Council Chamber, City Hall (In line with government guidelines operating at this 

time) 
 

 

 



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 9th Nov 2021  1  
 

 

 

 

Members Present: 

Cllr. Claire O’Connor (Chair), Dublin City Council  

Cllr. Rachael Batten, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Niall Ring, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Donna Cooney, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Mary Freehill, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Cat O’Driscoll, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Tara Deacy, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Danny Byrne, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Terence Flanagan, Dublin City Council 

Aidan Sweeney, IBEC; Sectoral Member (Business Rep) 

Evanne Kilmurray, Inner City Enterprise (ICE), Sectoral Member (PPN Rep) 

Natalie McGuinness, Dublin Chamber of Commerce; Sectoral Member (Business Rep) 

Dr Sarah Ingle, Assoc. of Consulting Engineers in Ireland (ACEI), Sectoral Member (Development Rep) 

 

Apologies: 

Odran Reid, Northside Homecare Service; Sectoral Member (PPN Rep) 

 

Absent: 

Cllr. Michael MacDonncha, Dublin City Council 

 

Officials Present: 

Anthony Flynn, Executive Manager  

Greg Swift, Head of Enterprise & Economic Development 

Mary MacSweeney, Deputy Head of Enterprise & Economic Development 

Jamie Cudden, Smart City Manager  

Ciara O hAodha, Senior Economic Development Officer 

Grainne Kelly, Head of International Relations  

 

Apologies:  

Richard Shakespeare, Assistant Chief Executive  

 

Guest: 

Lord Mayor Councillor Alison Gilliland 

Cllr. Deirdre Heney, Dublin City Council  

 

External Presenter: 

Alan Saunders, Government and Enterprise Account Manager, Virgin Media Business 

 

Strategic Policy Committee 

Economic Development & Enterprise  

Minutes of Meeting  

9th November 2021 (3.30pm – 5.30pm) 

Delivered Remotely via Zoom 

Page 3



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 9th Nov 2021  2  
 

The Chair opened the meeting and advised the Members of the procedure and protocol of remote meetings and asked 

Members to note that the meeting would be recorded and live streamed and available as a webcast on Public I.  Cllr. 

O’Driscoll agreed to act as Deputy Chair, as a contingency plan if any technical problems arose.  

 

1. Minutes 

Minutes of the previous meeting, which took place on 14th September 2021, were agreed by Cllr. Cooney and seconded 

by Evanne Kilmurray.  
 

2. Matters Arising 

None.  
 

3. Motion of Notice  

None received.  

4. Smart Dublin Presentation: WiFi4EU Project Partnership  

Virgin Media Business – Smart Dublin Project Partner 

Copy of presentation was provided in advance of the meeting in the ModGov pack  
 

Alan Saunders and Jamie Cudden presented to Members. The Chair thanked the Presenters and opened the floor to 

questions and answers. 
 

Cllr. Cooney thanked the Presenters and enquired on the progress of the Bicycle Buddy App and enquired on the 

findings of the research into which areas have the most need for people to have access to WiFi.   

 

The Presenters replied as follows: 
 

In relation to the Bicycle Buddy App there are over 6000 downloads and active users of the app.  The onset of the Covid 

Pandemic has shown that connectivity is essential and a Telecoms Unit is being set up in DCC to this end.  

Unfortunately, research has shown that areas of deprivation have poor connectivity and Virgin have put infrastructure in 

33 key locations across the City to further improve connectivity.   
 

Evanne Kilmurray thanked the Presenters and commented on how some small organisations have been technically 

challenged and left behind and spoke about the digital divide that currently exists.   
 

The Chair commented on how economic recovery was dependent on technology and WiFi connectivity.   
 

5. Dublin Region Enterprise Plan to 2024 

Mary MacSweeney, Deputy Head of EDE, CRES 

Copy of Progress Report was provided in advance of the meeting in the ModGov pack  

 

Mary MacSweeney presented to Members. The Chair thanked the Presenter and opened the floor to questions and 

answers. 
 

Aidan Sweeney thanked the Presenter and highlighted the work of the team, including Mary MacSweeney, Jamie 

Cudden and Tim Graham from Dublin Place Brand.  

 

6. Your Dublin Your Voice: ED Strategy Survey Results 

Juliet Passmore, Economist, EDO Office  

Copy of Presentation was provided in advance of the meeting in the ModGov pack  

Page 4



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 9th Nov 2021  3  
 

Juliet Passmore presented to Members. The Chair thanked the Presenter and opened the floor to questions and 

answers. 
 

Cllr. Cooney thanked the Presenter and asked if there was the facility for comment in the surveys and what happens next 

with the survey results? 
 

Cllr. O’Driscoll thanked the Presenter and commented on the two themes which were evident from the survey and the 

Development Plan consultation process – use of space and greening.  She welcomed the breakdown of age divides. 
 

Aidan Sweeney thanked the Presenter and asked if the respondents are provided with results of survey.  He commented 

on the respondent figure in relation to the panel figure, 900 respondents v 5000 on panel, and what DCC is doing to 

increase the panel number and promote YDYV?  
 

The Chair asked for further information on International Relations data commenting on how it was worrying that from the 

panel only 1% chose International Relations and expanding International Relations as an important goal. However, i n 

slide 19 it would appear that 62% are looking towards that goal and she queried how this squared with statistics provided 

at beginning of presentation.  
 

The Presenter replied as follows: 
 

The survey allows for comments with are collated and which then feed into the Economic Development Strategy.  

 

The 1% and 62% are in response to two separate questions asked of all respondents relating  to Expanding International 

Relations. Firstly, all respondents were asked to select their top goal out of 7. 1% chose Expanding International Relations. 

Secondly, all respondents were asked to prioritise areas of work under each goal. 62% selected Managing/Attracting 

European Funding as their top priority under the Expanding International Relations goal.  

 

Currently the survey has 20% response rate, DCC are continually promoting the survey through social media channels, 

promotion in Colleges etc.  
 

Mary MacSweeney said this panel was a great resource and updated the Group on next steps of survey results feeding 

into Economic Development Strategy - look at tender process, appointment of consultants to lead on developing economic 

strategy for Dublin City, establish workshops and s eminars on economic strategy for Dublin City, promotion of  stakeholder 

involvement, feed into the LECP etc.  It was hoped that work would be finalised by Q1/Q2 2022. 
 

Cllr. Heney enquired as to the makeup of the panel, is it random or targeted, and whether this existing Panel could be used 

to carry out survey on the Irish Language Quarter in the City and if Economic Development would be open to this idea? 
 

The Presenter replied that the Panel was a very representative panel with regard to age/gender/socio economic status 

etc., it is the only one in DCC and with regard to using the Panel Cllr Heney should contact Mary MacSweeney directly 

regarding the matter.  Mary MacSweeney was agreeable to this and agreed to contact Cllr. Heney after the meeting.  

 

7. Social Enterprise Report 

Evanne Kilmurray, CEO, Inner City Enterprise 

Copy of Progress Report was provided in advance of the meeting in the ModGov pack  

Evanne Kilmurray presented to Members. The Chair thanked the Presenter and opened the floor to questions and 

answers. 

 

Page 5



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 9th Nov 2021  4  
 

Lord Mayor Councillor Alison Gilliland thanked the Presenter and conveyed her congratulations to Evanne and ICE team 

and commended the Social Enterprise Awards and awardees, two of whom she has since me t and plans to engage with 

on exploring future projects for the Mansion House.  

 

Natalie McGuinness thanked the Presenter and commented on how inspirational the Awards were and asked what 

further assistance private companies could provide?  

 

Cllr. O’Driscoll thanked the Presenter and commented on the positivity of the Awards and how so cial enterprises are 

filling gaps in the market. She asked how much money is awarded to each awardee of the Awards.   

Cllr. Ring again thanked the Presenter and reiterated the positive comments of previous Members.  

Cllr. Cooney thanked the Presenter and commented on the importance of supporting social enterprises and future 

possible use of Moore Street for social enterprises to use.  

The Presenter replied as follows: 

She thanked the Members for all the positive comments and feedback.  

It is hoped that organisations would raise awareness and showcase social enterprises and try to promote social 

enterprises as viable businesses. The current grant scheme for the Social Enterprise Awards is €50,000 - the top award 

is €15,000 and smaller awards are €5,000 and she made the case for upping the grant scheme from €50,000 to 

€100,000.  It was agreed that a compilation list of the 38 awardees to date would be drawn up and circulated to SPC 

Members for onward circulation and promotion. 

  

8. Progress Report European Programme Support Office 

Anthony Flynn, Executive Manager, CRES  

Copy of Progress Report was provided in advance of the meeting in the ModGov pack.  

Anthony Flynn presented to Members. The Chair thanked the Presenter and opened the floor to questions and answers. 
 

Cllr. Freehill thanked the Presenter and commented on positive news of DCC opening up relations with Barcelona and 

updating contacts with Eurocities.  She expressed concern over the length of time for recruitment and commented on 

programmes mentioned in the Presenters progress report and queried what programmes are coming up for next tranche 

of funding.  She also put questions around making contact with Belfast and looking at possible partnerships for co funded 

projects.  
 

Aidan Sweeney thanked the Presenter and reiterated the concerns of Cllr. Freehill around the length of time for recruitment.  

He requested a briefing by email on the OECD project, and advised that since last SPC he has been appointed vice chair 

of the Business Pillar at OECD.  
 

Cllr. Cooney advised she was not aware of all projects which were included in the progress report and requested if work 

could be undertaken on the communication and showcasing of such projects to get the message into the public domain.  
 

The Chair commented on 2 points – procedure and personnel.  She advised that the DCC strategy was signed off on the 

18th Dec 2020 and commended work done to date to this end.  She congratulated Aidan Sweeney on appointment as Vice 

Chair and suggested that he present on this at a future SPC.  She also welcomed Ciara O hAodha as interim Head of the 

European Programme Support Office and thanked the Lord Mayor for her attendance and input into this SPC.  

Page 6



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 9th Nov 2021  5  
 

The Presenter replied as follows: 

DCC are very optimistic that the Department will look favourably on the business case for recruitment for the office. It is 

clear that this is critical to the successful establishment of the EPSO.  In the interim, Ciara O hAodha has been transferred 

to the EPSO as Interim Head of the newly established office with the Steering Committee progressing matters in the interim.  

DCC are pushing to progress the departmental approval, but it can take time before the departmental sanction is given. 
 

In relation to potential DCC projects & upcoming funding programmes; it was noted a number of potential projects were 

submitted for consideration in the development of the National Recovery and Resilience Plan, but to date no 

correspondence has been received from the Department.  DCC will continue to work with the Regional Assemblies with 

regard to future funding opportunities. The Presenter advised that the team were continuously monitoring avenues for 

potential funding from EU programmes and also referred members to “Housing for All” – there are significant opportunities 

within that platform for retrofitting, upgrading of social houses to achieve higher BER ratings and strong opportunities for 

DCC for potential funding.  
 

The Presenter understood that it was agreed at previous SPC meetings that contacts with Belfast would be dealt with 

through the Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor. 
 

The Presenter agreed details on the OECD Project would be shared with Aidan Sweeney & offered a separate meeting is 

required.   
 

The Presenter reiterated that the DCC EU Strategy report went before the CPG held Dec 2020 and went to City Council 

Jan 2021 and introduced the Interim Head of the EPSO. 
 

Ciara O hAodha reiterated that DCC are very much focused on EU funding programmes and are closely monitoring any 

upcoming open calls and highlighted a suite of open calls listed in the Appendix in the Progress Report submitted to the 

Members. She advised on upcoming EU funding workshops; a DCC Project brochure which was being developed as part 

of the EPSO Communications Plan and thanked the Members for their support to date.  
 

9. Economic Development & Enterprise Management Reports  

a. Economic Development Office 

b. Local Enterprise Office  

c. Dublin.ie  

d. Smart Dublin and Smart Cities  

e. International Relations  

Copy of Management Reports were provided in advance of the meeting in ModGov pack. 

The Chair opened to floor to questions and answers.  

No questions/comments – noted as circulated.  

10. A.O.B. 

a. 2022 Meeting Dates – no questions/comments – noted as circulated.  

 

Next SPC Meeting: 24th January 2022 (3.30pm to 5.30pm) 

Council Chamber, City Hall / remote via Zoom (In line with government guidelines operating at this time) 

Page 7



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 9th Nov 2021  6  
 

Action items for Progression: 

 

Agenda 

Item: 

Action: Responsibility: 

6 Possible use of YDYV panel for survey on Irish Language Quarter  Cllr. Heney / Mary MacSweeney  

7 Compilation list of 38 Awardees of Dublin Social Enterprise Awards 

to date to be drawn up and circulated to SPC Members for onward 

distribution/promotion 

Evanne Kilmurray / Mary MacSweeney 

8 Aidan Sweeney requested a side meeting/briefing on OECD project 

discussed under Agenda Item 7.  

 

Mary MacSweeney 

 

Page 8



Draft Dublin City Development Plan 

2022 - 2028

Presentation to the 

Economic 

Development and 

Enterprise SPC

January 2022

Deirdre Scully
Deputy City Planner

P
age 9



Background and Context

 Extensive pre Draft Consultation Process.

 752 submissions from the public.

 1,078 pre draft strategic directions from 

elected members.

 301 motions on the CE Draft Plan.

P
age 10



 Population for Dublin City for the year 2028 is 625,750 (Low) to

640,000 (High) persons.

 Housing Demand for the years 2022 to 2028, is approximately 40,000

residential units for the six year period.

 Land capacity: approximately 550 hectares available to develop during

this development plan cycle which can provide approximately 48,500

residential units.

 Headroom – 20%

Core Strategy & Housing Strategy – Chapter 2 & Appendix 1

City Area Name Estimated Capacity Area (HA)

SDRA lands 34,350 - 35,550 357

Other City lands (excluding SDRAs) 13,000 189

Current zoned total 48,500 550

Potential lands at Glasnevin & Naas Road, Phase 1 (see 
Section 2.3.5)

6,000

Potential total 54,500

Appropriately Zoned Lands Available 
(Ha)

2022 - 2028

Residential Capacity of Available 
Land (Residential Units)

Housing Need Demand Requirement 
(Residential Units)

Exceedance

(%)

550 48,500 40,150
8,350

(20%)

P
age 11



P
age 12



Cross Cutting Theme: Ensure that Dublin becomes a low

carbon and climate resilient city.

 Requirement for a Climate Action Energy

Statement.

 Renewable energy -offshore, geothermal, micro renewable energy.

 Sustainable energy – enhanced district heating policy

 Energy initiatives – decarbonisation zones

 Waste management – circular economy

 Green infrastructure and nature based solutions to flood risk and

surface water management.

 Sustainable transport modes & Electric vehicles.

 Built environment – sustainable building materials, energy efficiency,

retrofit/reuse.

Climate Action – Chapter 3

P
age 13



Shape and Structure of the City – Chapter 4

 Emphasis on quality density and mixed use approach – vibrant 

self sustaining communities with commensurate social and 

physical infrastructure.

 Compact growth to be promoted through infill, consolidation and 

brownfield development.

 Importance of key Urban Villages, 15 minute city and SDRA’s 

emphasised.

 New approach to managing height using locational and 

performance criteria SC14-18.

 Appendix 3 - Detailed guidance on performance criteria in 

assessing proposals for enhanced height, density and scale as 

well as for landmark buildings.

 Intrinsically linked with SDRA where guiding principles identify 

potential for increased height and densification.

P
age 14



Quality Housing and Sustainable Neighbourhoods – Chapter 5

 New approach – housing intrinsically interlinked with community infrastructure and 

services.

 15 minute city and healthy placemaking.

 Emphasis on regeneration, consolidation.

 Social inclusion and housing for all – new policies for older people.

 BTR – required to demonstrate that there is not an overconcentration.

• Locational criteria 

• General presumption against large scale residential developments (in excess 

of 100 units) which comprise of 100% BTR. 

• A minimum of 40% of standard build to sell apartments will be required in such 

instances.

• Discourage BTR Accommodation schemes of less than 100 units.

P
age 15



 Safeguard and enhance Dublin’s role as Ireland’s internationally

competitive capital; Aligns with MASP – Strategic Employment Areas.

 Support the to a low-carbon, green, circular economy – CEE 12-13.

 Support key economic sectors – including marine – CEE 24.

 Tourism Accommodation – CEE 28 – prevent unacceptable intensification.

 Data centres – CEE 25.

 Concern re: city centre post Covid. Bannon Report.

Primacy of the City Centre. Diversifying the role of the city centre.

 Retail Strategy – Appendix 2 – City Centre Strategy. Actions/policies to enhance

the vibrancy, liveability and competitiveness of the city centre – events, markets,

the evening economy, public realm, F&B, increased residential population

 Re-categorisation of Cat 1 and 2 streets – CCUV 16.

 Enhanced role for KUV’s – CCUV 20 – 24. 15 minute city .

City Economy and Retail – Chapter  6, 7

P
age 16



Provides policy support to the growth of culture in the City and seeks to 

address planning challenges to ensure that culture is valued and grows 

as part of the city fabric.

 Support for growth of a number of cultural quarters across the City, 

including Docklands as a quarter (page 444-445).

 Support for key cultural activities- music, art, digital arts, night time 

cultural activities, street art, use of public realm.

 Protective policies on risk of loss of venues for music, dance, 

rehearsal CU 12-17, CU O23.

 Emphasis on need to invest in cultural facilities within local 

communities and requirement for new facilities as part of larger 

developments – CUO 21, 22, 26.

 Support for Irish language quarter, the use of the Irish language and 

the traditional arts CU 26-27, CUO 4-49.

Culture – Chapter 12

P
age 17



 Comprehensive review of zoning maps

 Z15: clearer criteria for residential development – greater emphasis on the

need to protect existing social and community infrastructure. Protection of

educational facilities- many schools changed to Z15.

 Z10 – Mixed use philosophy promoted.

 Z6: Employment zone.

 Development Standards – clearer criteria regarding BTR developments.

Policy to manage distribution of hotel development.

 New guidance regarding dual aspect and sunlight and daylight.

Zoning and Development Management – Chapter 14 & 15. 

P
age 18



 17 SDRAs: Each contain overarching framework and development

principles and approach to regeneration

 Key element in the delivery of compact growth and meeting brownfield

regeneration requirements of the National Planning Framework

Strategic Development and Regeneration Areas- Chapter 13. 

number SDRA location number SDRA location

SDRA 1 Clongriffin/Belmayne SDRA 10 North East Inner City

SDRA 2 Ballymun SDRA 11 St. Teresa’s Gardens

SDRA 3 Finglas and Environs SDRA 12 Dolphin House

SDRA 4 Park West/Cherry Orchard SDRA 13 Markets Area

SDRA 5 Naas Road SDRA 14 St. James Medical Campus

SDRA 6 Docklands SDRA 15 Liberties and Newmarket

SDRA 7 Heuston and Environs SDRA 16 Oscar Traynor Road

SDRA 8 Grangegorman/Broadstone SDRA 17 Werburgh Street

SDRA 9 Emmet Road

P
age 19



 More focussed Z6 (industrial zoning) and greater use of Z10 and Z14 

(mixed use and regeneration) to encourage the integration of new housing 

with places of employment, particularly on larger sites with high quality 

public transport

 Strong emphasis on supporting the city centre as a destination, 

encouraging multi-purpose trips to the city to support retail and food and 

beverage sector

 Importance of making the city an attractive place to work, with 

improvements to public realm, local environments and greater connectivity

 Seek to preserve and regenerate spaces in the city for enterprise

 Expansion of Docklands into new Poolbeg West SDZ

 Expand role of urban villages as places of employment

Issues of Interest to the SPC

P
age 20



Q and A

P
age 21



 

 
Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Economic Development & Enterprise  

Monday 24th January 2022  
 

Agenda Item 5: LECP Update 
 

 

Local Economic and Community Plan Update  

 

The Local Economic and Community Plan (LECP) sets out, for a six-year period, the objectives and 
actions needed to promote and support the economic development and the local and community 
development of each local authority area, both by the local authority directly and in partnership with 
other economic and community development stakeholders.  The LECP is part of the overall process 
for national transformation, set out in Project Ireland 2040.  

Dublin City Council developed the first LECP 2016 to 2021 where a series of actions were identified 
and implemented to further the objectives of the 12 High Level Goals, established through a 
consultation process, with a wide range of stakeholders.  This plan has been reviewed using the 2016 
census data and the outcome of this process will inform the development of a new LECP.  The second 
iteration of the LECP should be completed by 2023, and in line with the requirements of the 
legislation, cover a period of six years. 

The Department of Rural and Community Development (DRCD) in conjunction with the Department 
of Housing, Local Government and Heritage (DHLGH) launched the new LECP Guidelines on 11th 
November 2021.  

DRCD has oversight of the community elements of the LECP and work closely with each Local 
Authority and the LCDC’s to support this function.  DHLGH has responsibility for the economic 
elements of the LECP and the Economic and Enterprise SPC’s have a statutory role in the preparation 
of the LECP.  The Local Government Reform Act 2014 requires that the Economic Elements of the 
LECP be developed by the Local Authority through their Strategic Policy Committees (SPC) for 
Economic Development and Enterprise.   

The DRCD and DHLGH held an initial information session with over 340 attendees on 9th December 
2022, all members of the SPC and LCDC were invited to attend this event. This information session 
provided an overview of the Guidelines, key changes to the Guidelines and the next steps in 
conducting a review of the existing plans and establishing an Advisory Steering Group to oversee the 
preparation of the new LECP’s. 

There were presentations on Background, New Approach and Economic and Community Elements 
including roles of LCDCs and SPCs; LECP’s – A Local Authority Perspective; and Next Steps – Plan for 
further support events. 

Details of the presentations and a recording of the event are available on gov.ie - Community 
Development (www.gov.ie). 

 

 

Page 22

https://www.gov.ie/en/policy/d5adb8-community-supports/
https://www.gov.ie/en/policy/d5adb8-community-supports/


Next steps: 

There are 6 stages to the development of the LECP’s.  There is a statutory role for LAs, SPCs, LCDCs, 

Regional Assemblies and Municipal District Members.  An Advisory Steering Group will be established 

made up of members of the SPC and the LCDC and others. It is advised to keep the membership of 

this group to a reasonable number so that it can effectively meet and discharge its work in shaping 

the LECP.  The Chair of the Economic Development and Enterprise SPC will meet with the Chair of the 

LCDC to arrange the establishment of the Advisory Steering Group.  

 

LECP Development Stages 

The process for the development of the LECPs will initially consist of four broad phases:  

Preparation, public consultation, development of the High-Level Goals objectives and outcomes, and 

finalisation of the LECP.  The fifth stage involves the development of an Implementation Plan process 

and the sixth and final stage involves the monitoring, evaluation and review of the plan. 

 

Advisory Steering Group (ASG) 

Under Section 66C of the Local Government Reform Act each Local Authority is required to have 

regard to the need to integrate the economic and community elements of the LECP.  In order to 

ensure that the preparation of the plans is co-ordinated and that duplication of efforts, in terms of 

engagement with stakeholders is avoided, an Advisory Steering Group (ASG) will be establish to assist 

in the preparation, drafting, adoption, implementation and monitoring of the LECP.  

The LA, LCDC and Economic Development and Enterprise SPC have statutory responsibility of the 

LECP and this should be reflected in the membership of the ASG, but the group may also seek inputs 

from other sources and other bodies and agencies in the delivery of the Implementation Plans.  

Structure: 

The Advisory Steering Group should include: 

 At least one member of the LCDC 

 At least one member of the Economic Development and Enterprise SPC  

 The Chief Officer (or a nominee) of the LCDC 

 The Director of Service supporting the SPC for Economic Development and Enterprise or a 

nominee; and 

Subject to avoiding unwieldy size, any person that both the SPC and LCDC consider likely to make a 

significant contribution can be invited to join the group.  This may include senior personnel from 

relevant public and private sector organisations, individuals with entrepreneurial expertise, expertise 

that can practically consider potential synergies between economic and community elements, third 

level institutions, members of the relevant Regional Enterprise Plan Steering Committee or other 

relevant interests. 

 

 

 

Page 23



LECP Framework Role 

The specific role of the Advisory Steering Group will be to advise and assist on:- 

 The development of the socio-economic statement setting out the High-Level Goals for the 

area; 

 The arrangement and management of an inclusive consultation process for the development 

of the economic elements and the community elements of the framework LECP based on the 

High-Level Goals in the socio-economic statement, and the additional consultation identified 

for the community element; 

 The particular areas of activity to be covered respectively by the economic elements and the 

community elements of the LECP, as well as areas of complementary and co-ordinated 

activity, taking account of the need to reduce duplication and unnecessary overlap and to 

maximise the use of available resources; 

 The integration of both the economic and community elements into a single, coherent 

Framework LECP: 

 Ensuring that, there is clarity as to where responsibility rests for leading/coordinating for each 

action detailed in the Implementation Plan; 

 Ensuring the LECP is consistent with the relevant statutory City/County Development Plan; 

and 

 Ensuring the LECP is consistent with any Regional Spatial and Economic Strategy (RSES) or, as 

appropriate, National Planning Framework or other national policy, that may apply.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 

  

Dublin City 

Social 
Enterprise 

Awards 

Brochure 
2015-2021 

P
age 25



 
 

1 
 

Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards 

2015 - 2021  

Brochure 

 

 

 

 

Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards Information: 

The Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards are funded by the Department of Rural and Community Development and Dublin City Coun cil, managed by Inner City 
Enterprise and supported by Local Enterprise Office Dublin City.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Awards are overseen by the Dublin City Social Enterprise Committee. The members of the committee are: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Brochure Information: 

Brochure produced by: Economic Development Office, Dublin City Council ( January 2022). For further information, please contact: 

 Address:  Economic Development Office, Dublin City Council, 3 Palace Street, Dublin 2, D02 T277   
 Phone:  01 222 5611   Email:  economicdevelopment@dublincity.ie   Website:  www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity  

Dublin City Social Enterprise Committee – Members: 

Mary Mac Sweeney, DCC (Chair) Bernie Walsh, Sunflower Recycling Chris MM Gordon, ISEN / BuySocial.ie 

Dr. Deiric O’Broin, DCU / NorDubCo Diarmaid Ó Corrbuí, Carmichael Ireland Emma McEvoy, ISEN 

Evanne Kilmurray, Inner City Enterprise Jim Hargis, St. Andrews Resource Centre Paul Rogers, Northside Partnership 

P
age 26

mailto:economicdevelopment@dublincity.ie
http://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/
https://www.dublincity.ie/
http://www.sunflowerrecycling.ie/
https://www.socent.ie/
https://buysocial.ie/
https://www.dcu.ie/
https://www.carmichaelireland.ie/
https://www.socent.ie/
https://innercityenterprise.com/
https://www.standrews.ie/
https://www.northsidepartnership.ie/


 
 

2 
 

Contents 
1 Foreword .........................................................................................................................................................................................................................4 

2 Introduction .....................................................................................................................................................................................................................5 

3 Award Trophies ................................................................................................................................................................................................................7 

4 Awardees.........................................................................................................................................................................................................................8 

4.1 Awardees Index ........................................................................................................................................................................................................9 

4.1.1 Crafts ................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 10 

4.1.1.1 Frontline Bikes ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 10 

4.1.1.2 House of AKI-NA .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 10 

4.1.1.3 Mendicity Workshop .................................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

4.1.1.4 We Make Good............................................................................................................................................................................................ 11 

4.1.1.5 Recreate ..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 12 

4.1.1.6 Rediscover Fashion....................................................................................................................................................................................... 12 

4.1.1.7 The Yard ..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 13 

4.1.2 Education / Advocacy........................................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

4.1.2.1 Connections Arts Centre ............................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

4.1.2.2 Dignity Partnership....................................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

4.1.2.3 Dress for Success Dublin ............................................................................................................................................................................... 15 

4.1.2.4 Mellow Spring  ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 15 

4.1.2.5 Outhouse .................................................................................................................................................................................................... 16 

4.1.2.6 Open Doors Initiative.................................................................................................................................................................................... 16 

4.1.2.7 Spark Ireland ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 17 

4.1.2.8 The Adventure Project* ................................................................................................................................................................................ 17 

4.1.3 Environment ....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 18 

4.1.3.1 Bee8........................................................................................................................................................................................................... 18 

P
age 27



 
 

3 
 

4.1.3.2 Eco Mattress ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 18 

4.1.3.3 Pocket Forests ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 19 

4.1.3.4 The Grow Dome Project ................................................................................................................................................................................ 19 

4.1.4 Health ................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 20 

4.1.4.1 First Light  .................................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

4.1.4.2 Inter7s ........................................................................................................................................................................................................ 20 

4.1.4.3 My Mind ..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

4.1.4.4 parkHIIT ...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

4.1.4.5 Siel Bleu ...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

4.1.4.6 The Great Care Co-Op................................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

4.1.5 Hospitality .......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 23 

4.1.5.1 The Green Kitchen........................................................................................................................................................................................ 23 

4.1.5.2 The Mug Shot .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 23 

4.1.5.3 Third Space ................................................................................................................................................................................................. 24 

4.1.6 Property ............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 25 

4.1.6.1 Ava Housing ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 25 

4.1.6.2 Clean Slate .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 25 

4.1.6.3 Handy Helpers ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 26 

4.1.7 Technology ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 27 

4.1.7.1 Aspire Productions ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 27 

4.1.7.2 Thriftify....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 27 

4.1.8 Tourism .............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 28 

4.1.8.1 In Our Shoes Walking Tours........................................................................................................................................................................... 28 

4.1.8.2 My Streets Ireland........................................................................................................................................................................................ 28 

 

P
age 28



 
 

4 
 

 Foreword 
Social Enterprises proactively and tangibly help to positively impact issues in 

our economy and community but many of us don’t know about their 

important work. They bring about multifaceted benefits to individuals, 

communities and economies from the bases where they operate. Through 

various initiatives and most notably the alignment with European, national 

and local policies and the work of the Dublin City Social Enterprise 

Committee, Dublin City Council (DCC) has increasingly supported social 

enterprise development in our city. The Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards 

(DCSEA) celebrate established and early-stage social enterprises. Over the 

past seven years, 35 innovative social enterprises have received an award and 

support to enhance their operations and ability to deliver positive impact 

while helping to make Dublin a better place for all.  

I am delighted that we could produce this brochure to collectively highlight 

all the awardees, their social mission and the products or services they sell. 

The purpose of this brochure is to promote the awardees and encourage 

stakeholders and interested parties to support and purchase from them. By 

supporting these social enterprises, you are further enabling them to bring 

about more, much-needed benefits to people and places that greatly need it. 

Overseeing the awards programme is the Dublin City Social Enterprise 

Committee, the members of which I wish to sincerely thank. In addition, I 

wish to thank the Department of Rural and Community Development for their 

continued support and for generously co-funding the awards with DCC. A very 

special thanks also to the remarkable team at Inner City Enterprise who are 

co-creators of these awards for managing and administrating them and for 

their continued support and mentoring of all previous awardees. 

Mary Mac Sweeney, Deputy Head of Enterprise and Economic Development, 

Dublin City Council / Chairperson, Dublin City Social Enterprise Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity 

DCC Civic Offices, D08 RF3F 

info@leo.dublincity.ie  

01 222 5611 

@LEO_DublinCity /  

@DCCEconDev 

 

Mary Mac Sweeney 

P
age 29

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity
mailto:info@leo.dublincity.ie
https://twitter.com/LEO_DublinCity
https://twitter.com/DCCEconDev


 
 

5 
 

 Introduction 
Social enterprises are businesses that have a core mission to achieve a social, 

societal, or environmental impact. They typically work to support 

disadvantaged groups and / or address important issues in society and the 

economy. Rather than maximising profits for owners or shareholders, they 

seek to maximise positive impact. In order to realise this impact, they trade 

in products and services on an ongoing basis. They are governed in an 

accountable and transparent manner and profits or surpluses that are 

generated via trading, are directly reinvested to further enhance their impact. 

Through their many activities, social enterprises bring about a diverse range 

of economic, community and policy benefits in the communities and areas 

where they are based. These benefits include shared prosperity, inclusive 

growth, social inclusion, active citizenship, and training and employment 

often for marginalised and disadvantaged people. In addition, they typically 

embrace, embed and promote: collaboration, solidarity, pluralism and 

sustainability which leads to integrated economic and community 

development in their respective setting or concerning their mission. 

In practice, social enterprises operate as a type of hybrid organisation 

exhibiting characteristics of both charity / voluntary organisations and private 

enterprises. Similar to a charity, social enterprises have a social mission that 

they seek to address, and similar to private enterprises, social enterprises sell 

products and services to generate a profit or surplus. However, dissimilar to 

a charity, they seek to raise funds primarily through trading, not through 

donations, and dissimilar to private enterprises, they primarily reinvest 

profits / surplus to further address their social mission, not to maximise 

profit. Due to them operating between the charity and private sector and 

because of their primary focus being on social impact, it is sometimes difficult 

for social enterprises to gain access to the type of supports that are available 

to other enterprises. There is thus a need for additional supports and 

improved access to appropriate supports to better help social enterprises 

start, develop and achieve more positive impact1 2. 

                                                                 
1 National Social Enterprise Policy for Ireland 2019-2022 
2 Government of Ireland – Social Enterprise Recreate 

P
age 30

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/govieassets/19332/2fae274a44904593abba864427718a46.pdf
https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/624c74-social-enterprise/


 
 

6 
 

In order to address this need for supports, the Dublin City Social Enterprise 

Awards (DCSEA) were established in 2015 by Dublin City Council (DCC), Inner 

City Enterprise (ICE) and the Local Enterprise Office (LEO) Dublin City. These 

partner organisations recognised the need for specific funding and support 

to help social enterprises start and develop in the city. In alignment with the 

National Social Enterprise Policy, the awards programme aims to: increase 

awareness of social enterprises and to grow and strengthen them.  

The programme is funded by the Department of Rural and Community 

Development and Dublin City Council, and is managed by Inner City 

Enterprise. It is overseen by the Dublin City Social Enterprise Committee 

which is comprised of key stakeholder representatives. Each year, typically a 

fund of €50,000 is distributed among social enterprise awardees who are 

competitively evaluated and selected. As part of being selected, awardees 

receive funding and supports to enhance their development and impact. The 

benefits of receiving an award include: 

 Award Funding (Typically €5,000- €10,000 per social enterprise) 

 Award Trophy (Specially made by a local social enterprise)  

 Publicity & Recognition (Featured in press releases, news etc.)  

 Promotional Video 

 Mentoring (Specialist ongoing mentoring support) 

 Profile on www.BuySocial.ie  

 Other Supports (Conference tickets, training, profiling etc.)  

In addition to the above benefits, awardees are highlighted at an annual 

awards ceremony. This event serves to celebrate both the awardees and the 

social economy in general by bringing together relevant stakeholders, actors 

and interested parties. Typically, the Lord Mayor of Dublin presents the 

awards and various Government Ministers and Officials attend, which greatly 

adds to the prestige of the event and to the recognition of the awardees.   

To date, 35 social enterprises have received a Dublin City Social Enterprise 

Award. The purpose of this brochure is to highlight all of these social 

enterprises in a central document and to encourage stakeholders to support 

and purchase from them. Each social enterprise is featured below along with 

contact details and an overview of their core products and services.    

The Grow Dome Project 

P
age 31

http://www.buysocial.ie/


 
 

7 
 

The Yard 

 Award Trophies 
As part of the awards programme and ceremony event, local social 

enterprises and previous awardees are commissioned to supply services and 

products wherever possible. Catering services have been provided at 

previous ceremonies by Third Space (2016 Awardee); promotional videos of 

awardees have been made by Aspire Productions (2017 Awardee) and award 

trophies have been made by a number of the previous awardees.  

Many of the social enterprises that produced the award trophies had not 

made trophies before being commissioned by Dublin City Council. 

Nonetheless, after being invited and commissioned, they produced 

handmade, bespoke and unique trophies. To highlight the beautiful trophies 

and to promote the social enterprises that made them, this section of the 

brochure features images of the trophies so far and provides contact details 

of the social enterprises below. The section also serves to highlight how social 

enterprises can adapt and create products for unique and new requirements.  

 2017 & 2018. Mendicity Workshop (2021 & 2017 Awardee) 

programme participants made the trophies by hand-pressing the 

design onto copper sheets. In 2017 they framed the copper sheets, 

whereas in 2018 they mounted the sheets on recycled wood. 

 2019. Rediscovery Centre made the trophies through combining skills 

and using recycled materials from their social enterprises Rediscover 

Furniture and Rediscover Fashion (2018 Awardee).  

 2020. We Make Good (2018 Awardee) designed and then produced 

the trophies by involving two social enterprises that they work with to 

make the tin and wooden elements.  

 2021. PACE (2018 Awardee) designed and produced the trophies. They 

were handmade using sustainable and recycled materials by 

programme participants in the PACE workshop in Santry. 

paceorganisation.ie 01 823 1000             headoffice@paceorganisation.ie 
 

 

mendicity.org  01 677 3308             workshop@mendicity.org 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

rediscoverycentre.ie 01 893 3801             info@rediscoverycentre.ie 
   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

wemakegood.ie  01 872 0030             info@wemakegood.ie  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 32

http://www.paceorganisation.ie/
mailto:headoffice@paceorganisation.ie
http://www.mendicity.org/
mailto:workshop@mendicity.org
http://www.rediscoverycentre.ie/rediscover-fashion/
mailto:info@rediscoverycentre.ie
http://www.wemakegood.ie/
mailto:info@wemakegood.ie


 
 

8 
 

Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards - Logo 

 Awardees 
35 social enterprises have received a Dublin City Social Enterprise Award 

so far. Each awardee is actively involved in addressing important issues 

such as unemployment, addiction, education, diversity, health, mental 

health, homelessness, sustainability, biodiversity, accessibility and ex-

offender reintegration. Furthermore, many are actively involved in 

addressing multiple issues simultaneously as they deliver significant and 

wide-reaching positive impact where they are based.   

In this section, the 35 social enterprise awardees are featured along with 

their core products and services. They have been arranged under broad 

categories that are most relevant to their primary objectives and 

operations. An index table is featured below which lists the awardees and 

their product and service areas. When using the index, further information 

and contact details for each awardee can be found by hovering over and 

clicking on their respective name.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Yard 

P
age 33



 
 

9 
 

4.1 Awardees Index 

Awardees Index 
Social Enterprise Products / Services  Social Enterprise Products / Services 

Crafts 

Frontline Bikes Bicycles, Accessories, Maintenance  ReCreate Art Materials, Training, Corporate Sessions 

House of AKI-NA Fashion Accessories, Homeware  Rediscover Fashion Fashion Accessories 

Mendicity Workshop Flower Boxes, Art, Homeware  The Yard Wooden Homeware  

We Make Good Furniture, Homeware, Art      

Education / Advocacy 

Connections Arts Centre Training, Art   Outhouse Advice, Facilities, Events 

Dignity Partnership Advice, Training, Events  Open Doors Initiative Training, Personal Development 

Dress for Success Dublin Training, Styling, Personal Development  SPARK Ireland Education Support 

Mellow Spring Childcare  The Adventure Project* Adventure Sports & Therapy 

Environment 
Bee8 Training, Honey  Pocket Forests Mini Forest Cultivation, Training 

Eco Mattress Mattress Collection & Recycling  The Grow Dome Project Domes (Greenhouses), Herbs & Vegetables  

Health 

First Light Bereavement Counselling & Therapy   parkHIIT Exercise 

Inter7s Football Leagues  Siel Bleu Exercise 

My Mind Counselling  The Great Care Co-op Homecare 

Hospitality 

The Green Kitchen Café, Catering, Garden Shop, Room Hire  Third Space Café, Catering, Room Hire 

The Mug Shot Café, Catering     

Property 

Ava Housing House Retrofitting, Tenancy Support  Handy Helpers Cleaning and Maintenance 

Clean Slate Cleaning and Maintenance    

Technology 
Aspire Productions Videography, Photography, Graphic Design  Thriftify Online Charity Shop Platform 

Tourism 

In Our Shoes Walking Tours Guided Walking Tours  My Streets Ireland Guided Walking Tours 

 

P
age 34



 
 

10 
 

4.1.1 Crafts 

4.1.1.1  Frontline Bikes  
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

4.1.1.2  House of AKI-NA 
  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

147 Emmet Road, D08 Y7N0  087 737 7737 

www.frontlinebikes.com frontlinebikes 

info@frontlinebikes.com   Frontline Bikes 

@FrontlineBikes1 Video 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

House of AKI-NA supports migrant / refugee / asylum seeker women and young 

people through providing workshop, training and employment opportunities. 

Participants are trained and ethically paid to make bespoke fashion, personal 

and home accessories in line with fair trade standards.  

 Social Cause(s): Refugees / Migrants / Asylum Seekers, Diversity 

 Products / Services:  Bow Ties, Travel Bags, Vases, Desk Pals  

 

Established to provide training and employment for those struggling with 

addiction problems and ex-offenders, Frontline Bikes makes and sells unique, 

upcycled bicycles. Each bicycle is created by people who are participating in 

upskilling, accredited training and an overall re-integration programme.       

 Social Cause(s): Addiction, Ex-Offenders, Environment 

 Products / Services:  Bicycles, Cycling Accessories, Repair & Maintenance 

Crafts 

Huckletree, D02 YX88  houseofakina 

www.houseofakina.ie    Shop  

info@houseofakina.ie   Video 

@HouseofAkina 
 

 

 

P
age 35

https://frontlinebikes.com/
https://instagram.com/frontlinebikes
mailto:info@frontlinebikes.com
https://www.facebook.com/Frontline-Bikes-102091474913224
https://twitter.com/FrontlineBikes1
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pglwZMpqN4o
https://www.instagram.com/houseofakina/
http://www.houseofakina.ie/
https://www.houseofakina.ie/shop
mailto:info@houseofakina.ie
https://youtu.be/XU4qrtFNIE0
https://twitter.com/houseofakina


 
 

11 
 

 

4.1.1.3  Mendicity Workshop  
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

4.1.1.4  We Make Good 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

As Ireland’s first social enterprise design brand, We Make Good aims to support the 

social enterprise sector, change lives and build stronger communities. Their 

products are designed by emerging designers and made by people facing social 

challenges who are supported to develop skills and gain employment in their craft.   

 Social Cause(s): Disadvantaged People, Unemployment 

 Products / Services:  Tables, Rugs, Mirrors, Cushions, Baskets, Blankets, 

Buckets, Bowls, Candles, Bags, Wash Bags, Art, etc.   

 

The Mendicity Workshop aims to provide a way out of homelessness, addiction 

and isolation for long term homeless migrants. It offers employment, 

treatment care, training and integration as part of a holistic support 

programme. Participants are trained to make various craft & wooden products.  

 Social Cause(s): Homelessness, Unemployment, Migrants 

 Products / Services:  Flower Boxes, Shelves, Stools, Cooper / Wooden Art,   

  Greeting Cards, Soap, Candles, etc.  

9 Island Street, D08 KW8H  01 677 3308 

www.mendicity.org   Shop  

workshop@mendicity.org  Video 

@Mendicity1818 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

16 Fade Street, D02 XA58  01 872 0030 

www.wemakegood.ie    Shop  

info@wemakegood.ie   wemakegoodireland 

@WeMakeGoodIre Video 
 

 

Crafts 

 

P
age 36

http://www.mendicity.org/
http://www.mendicity.org/mendicity-workshop/
mailto:workshop@mendicity.org
https://youtu.be/Vumv7l7U4pQ
https://twitter.com/Mendicity1818
https://twitter.com/Mendicity1818
https://wemakegood.ie/
https://wemakegood.ie/
mailto:info@wemakegood.ie
https://www.instagram.com/wemakegoodireland/?hl=en
https://twitter.com/WeMakeGoodIre
https://youtu.be/NXzQ9tbnh4E


 
 

12 
 

 

4.1.1.5  Recreate 
 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

4.1.1.6  Rediscover Fashion 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Ballymount, D12 AK5V 01 456 8798 

www.recreate.ie    Shop  

info@recreate.ie   recreate_irl 

@ReCreateIreland Video 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rediscover Fashion produces 100% redesigned and repurposed clothing, 

accessories and homewares ranges. It promotes the circular fashion model 

through training, lectures and events while also providing training and 

employment opportunities for long term unemployed people.  

 Social Cause(s): Environment, Disadvantaged People, Unemployment  

 Products / Services:  Bags, Clothes, Masks, etc. 

 

Recreate salvages reusable and surplus materials from businesses and 

organisations in order to provide them for creative reuse. The materials and 

items are used to make art and educational supplies which are accessible and 

affordable to every sector of the community for all kinds of creative purposes.  

 Social Cause(s): Education, Environment 

 Products / Services:  Art / Craft / Education Materials, Camps, Workshops, 

Corporate Teamwork / Creativity Sessions  

Crafts 

The Boiler House, D09 HK58  01 893 3801 

www.rediscoverycentre.ie Shop  

info@rediscoverycentre.ie  Rediscovery Centre 

@RediscoveryCtr Video 
 

 

 

P
age 37

http://www.recreate.ie/
https://recreate.ie/material-delivery/
mailto:info@recreate.ie
https://www.instagram.com/recreate_irl/
https://twitter.com/ReCreateIreland
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-lztJS58oNA&t=8s
http://www.rediscoverycentre.ie/rediscover-fashion/
http://www.rediscoverycentre.ie/about-us/eco-store/
mailto:info@rediscoverycentre.ie
https://www.facebook.com/RediscoveryCentre/?rc=p
https://twitter.com/RediscoveryCtr
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=L9SXFZGEpiw


 
 

13 
 

 

4.1.1.7  The Yard  
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Based in the Liberties area of Dublin, The Yard supports disadvantaged youth 

through workshop, training and employment opportunities. It equips, upskills 

and empowers young people as part of a development programme in which 

they are trained to make wooden items and to repair bicycles.   

 Social Cause(s): Disadvantaged Youth, Unemployment, Ex-Offenders 

 Products / Services:  Bowls, Pens, Bottle Openers, Door Stops, Canoes 

Liberty View, D08 WY84 SolasProject 

www.solasproject.com    Shop  

info@solasproject.ie   Video 

@SolasProject 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Crafts 

P
age 38

http://www.facebook.com/SolasProject
https://solasproject.com/social-enterprise
https://solasproject.com/the-yard-shop-summary
mailto:info@solasproject.ie
https://youtu.be/r9v5I8jJ0Us
https://twitter.com/SolasProject
https://twitter.com/SolasProject


 
 

14 
 

4.1.2 Education / Advocacy 

4.1.2.1  Connections Arts Centre  
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

4.1.2.2  Dignity Partnership 
  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

CC Rathgar, D06 CF63 Connections Art Centre 

connectionsartscentre.ie Shop 

hello@connectionsartscentre.ie   Video 

connectionsartscentre 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dignity Partnership promotes integration for refugees and people seeking 

international protection through personal development, self-employment and 

entrepreneurship programmes. It seeks to integrate migrants into the business 

community so they can meaningfully use their passions, talents and interests. 

 Social Cause(s): Refugees / Migrants / Asylum Seekers, Diversity 

 Products / Services:  Advice, Training, Workshops, Networking Events  

 

Through providing accessible arts and lifestyle programmes and events, 

Connections Arts Centre (CAC) enables people with disabilities to learn and 

interact. Programmes include arts, crafts, music and drama. It also champions 

artists with disabilities by featuring their work in the CAC art gallery and shop.       

 Social Cause(s): Disability, Mental Illness, Education 

 Products / Services:  Training, Classes, Art 

Portlaoise, R32 A4P1 089 254 6155 

dignitypartners.company    Dignity Partnership  

info@dignitypartners.company   dignitypartnership 

@DignityPartner1 Video  
 

 

Education / Advocacy 

 

P
age 39

https://www.facebook.com/connectionsartcentre
http://www.connectionsartscentre.ie/
https://www.connectionsartscentre.ie/siopa
mailto:hello@connectionsartscentre.ie
https://youtu.be/ss39uvgsMWg
https://www.instagram.com/connectionsartscentre/
http://www.dignitypartners.company/
https://www.facebook.com/dignitypartnership/
mailto:info@dignitypartners.company
https://www.instagram.com/dignitypartnership/?igshid=t8s4b9k1mjf0/
https://twitter.com/dignitypartner1/
https://youtu.be/L0nAc9ttloI


 
 

15 
 

 

4.1.2.3  Dress for Success Dublin  
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

4.1.2.4  Mellow Spring 
   

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Ellis Quay, D07 XRF9 01 640 0001 

dublin.dressforsuccess.org   Video 

info@dressforsuccessdublin.org   
 

Mellow Spring is a childcare development centre that takes a holistic approach to 

nurturing children. It seeks to empower children via active participation in play, 

learning and development. Through its childcare services, it directly supports 

parents returning to education, homeless children and working parents.      

 Social Cause(s): Family Support, Disadvantaged Children & Adults 

 Products / Services:  Childcare, Training 

 

With a mission to promote economic independence and equality of women, 

Dress for Success Dublin provides job search supports, career development 

services, professional clothing and styling to women seeking to (re)enter the 

labour force. It also campaigns for full gender equality in the workplace.    

 Social Cause(s): Disadvantaged Women, Unemployment 

 Products / Services:  Advice, Training, Mentoring, Events, Styling  

 

Mellowes Road, D11 K250 01 864 2591 

www.mellowspring.ie    Mellow-Spring-Childcare  

info@mellowspring.com   Video 

@mellowspring 
 

 

Education / Advocacy 

 

P
age 40

https://dublin.dressforsuccess.org/
https://youtu.be/Q8GU2wJ3G_8
mailto:info@dressforsuccessdublin.org
http://www.mellowspring.ie/
https://www.facebook.com/Mellow-Spring-Childcare-359554240737175/
mailto:info@mellowspring.com
https://youtu.be/yEk04pswNVM
https://twitter.com/mellowspring
https://twitter.com/mellowspring


 
 

16 
 

 

4.1.2.5  Outhouse 
  

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

   

4.1.2.6  Open Doors Initiative 
  

 

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

105 Capel Street, D01 R290 01 873 4999 

www.outhouse.ie outhouse_dublin 

info@outhouse.ie   Outhouse 

@Outhouse_Dublin Video 
 

In seeking to help disadvantaged people overcome barriers to employment, the 

Open Doors Initiative provides training, employment opportunities and 

education initiatives. It primarily supports disadvantaged youth, people with 

disabilities and migrants to help them achieve meaningful employment.  

 Social Cause(s): Refugees / Migrants, Disadvantaged Youth, Disability, 

 Products / Services:  Training, Work Experience, Employment Support 

 

Outhouse is a community and resource centre owned and operated on behalf 

of the LGBT+ community. It provides a safe space for people to meet, build 

friendships, develop support networks and join interest groups. In addition, it 

acts as a hub for many LGBT+ support organisations that utilise its facilities.  

 Social Cause(s): LGBT+  

 Products / Services:  Café, Library, Office, Meeting Rooms, Personal 

Development Courses, Training, Theatre, Art 

 

Education / Advocacy 

(Mail Address) D07 K2DR Video 

www.opendoorsinitiative.ie  

info@opendoorsinitiative.ie  

@OpenDoorsToWork 
 

 

 

P
age 41

https://outhouse.ie/
https://www.instagram.com/outhouse_dublin/
mailto:info@outhouse.ie
https://www.facebook.com/outhouse.ie
https://twitter.com/Outhouse_Dublin
https://youtu.be/bZwJ3gS6fbs
https://youtu.be/454r_b_Gsps
https://www.opendoorsinitiative.ie/
mailto:info@opendoorsinitiative.ie
https://twitter.com/OpenDoorsToWork


 
 

17 
 

Crafts 

4.1.2.7  Spark Ireland 
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

   

4.1.2.8  The Adventure Project* 
  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

SPARK Ireland Video 

@Spark_Ireland     
 

*Please note: The Adventure Project is currently closed until further notice.  

The Adventure Project was established to provide adventure therapy 

programmes and outdoor education experiences to disadvantaged young 

people. It worked closely with crime diversion projects and the prison service.  

 Social Cause(s): Disadvantaged Youth, Ex-Offenders, Addiction 

 Products / Services:  Adventure Sports and Therapy, Outdoor Education 

 

SPARK Ireland seeks to promote equality and address the gap in services and 

supports for children with an autism diagnosis and their families. It focuses on 

the three key areas of education, socialisation and inclusion as part of a holistic 

approach to support children with an autism diagnosis to attend school.  

 Social Cause(s): Disadvantaged Children, Disability, Family Support 

 Products / Services:  Support Sessions, Advice, Information 

 

Education / Advocacy 

North Strand Rd, D03 E2V0  Video 

theadventureproject.ie     

 
 

 

 

 

P
age 42

https://www.facebook.com/SPARKIreland/
https://youtu.be/bCuZ1Q_azHE
https://twitter.com/Spark_Ireland
https://youtu.be/0ANFKclEBkw
https://theadventureproject.ie/


 
 

18 
 

4.1.3 Environment 

4.1.3.1  Bee8  
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

4.1.3.2  Eco Mattress 
  

 

  

  

 

  

  

 

 

Slaney Road, D11 E6XC 01 860 3619 

ecomattressrecyclingireland.com    Eco Mattress Recycling 

info@ecomattressrecycling.ie   Video 

@ecomattireland 
 

 

REDCP, Usher St, D08 T202 01 670 8880 

www.bee8.ie innercitybee8 

austin@recdp.ie   InnerCityBee8 

@InnerCityBee8 Video 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Established in 2013, Eco Mattress was set up to provide work experience, 

employment and recycling solutions for mattress disposal. Participants receive 

accredited training, experience and support while they work as part of the 

team to fully recycle mattresses and reuse or sell the materials.     

 Social Cause(s): Disadvantaged Men, Unemployment 

 Products / Services:  Mattress Collection and Recycling  

 

Bee8 seeks to enhance biodiversity, increase green space and provide 

education and employment opportunities for local people. It trains local 

beekeepers, hosts community events and sells the harvested honey locally, 

with all revenue reinvested to further develop the social enterprise. 

 Social Cause(s): Disadvantaged Adults / Youth, Unemployment 

 Products / Services:  Beekeeping Training and Workshops, Honey 

Environment 

 

P
age 43

https://www.ecomattressrecyclingireland.com/
https://www.facebook.com/Eco-Mattress-Recycling-Ireland-101251008903353
mailto:info@ecomattressrecycling.ie
https://youtu.be/4O-BalSO43A
https://twitter.com/ecomattireland
https://bee8.ie/
https://www.instagram.com/innercitybee8/
mailto:austin@recdp.ie
https://www.facebook.com/InnerCityBee8
https://twitter.com/InnerCityBee8
https://youtu.be/io68EllE6Vo


 
 

19 
 

 

4.1.3.3  Pocket Forests   
 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

   

4.1.3.4  The Grow Dome Project 
 

  

 

  

 

  

  

  

 

www.pocketforests.ie pocketforests 

catherine@pocketforests.ie   Pocket Forests  

ashe@pocketforests.ie   Video 

@pocketforests 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In order to transform unutilised space into a community resource and encourage 

urban vegetable and plant growing, The Grow Dome Project creates geodesic 

domes in local communities. The domes provide a space for sustainable growing 

and also act as community hubs, education centres and event spaces.   

 Social Cause(s): Diversity, Education, Unemployment 

 Products / Services:  Herbs, Vegetables, Community / Event Space  

 

Pocket Forests aims to make the city more liveable by creating new and 

enhanced urban, green outdoor spaces. It collaborates with local communities, 

schools and organisations to utilise unused spaces to plant small native forests 

while using locally sourced recycled waste materials.   

 Social Cause(s): Disadvantaged Adults, Education 

 Products / Services:  Miniature Forests, Tree Planting, Advice, Training, 

Workshops 

thegrowdomeproject.com The Grow Dome Project 

@thegrowdome    Video  
 

 

 

 

Environment 

 

P
age 44

https://www.pocketforests.ie/
https://www.instagram.com/pocketforests/
mailto:catherine@pocketforests.ie
https://www.facebook.com/Pocket-Forests-111408864321541/
mailto:ashe@pocketforests.ie
https://youtu.be/8FsQtWp5w6s
https://twitter.com/pocketforests
https://www.thegrowdomeproject.com/
https://www.facebook.com/thegrowdomeproject/
https://twitter.com/thegrowdome
https://youtu.be/FnUV58jP3ao


 
 

20 
 

4.1.4 Health 

4.1.4.1  First Light 
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

4.1.4.2  Inter7s 
  

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

 

Carmichael, D07 RHA8 01 873 2711 

www.firstlight.ie FirstLightIreland 

info@firstlight.ie   Video 

@FirstLight_Ire 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Established in 2007, Inter7s organises 5/6/7-a-side football leagues and 

tournaments. It provides integrated physical, mental and social activity in order 

to encourage inclusion, diversity and positive mental health among participants. 

All profits generated are distributed to local area projects or charities.  

 Social Cause(s): Diversity, Disadvantaged Men, Mental Illness 

 Products / Services:  Football Leagues and Tournaments, Training  

 

First Light supports families that experience the unexpected death of their 

child. As a trauma-informed organisation, it provides 24 hour helpline, crisis 

intervention and therapeutic services. It also conducts research on child 

mortality and promotes training for those who encounter bereaved families. 

 Social Cause(s): Family Support, Mental Illness 

 Products / Services:  Counselling, 24 Hour Helpline, Home Visits, Couples 

Therapy, Play Therapy, Psychotherapy, Peer Support 

Reuben House, D08 Y2Y3 01 906 0008 

www.inter7s.com    Video  

info@inter7s.com   

Inter7s 
 

 

 

Health 

P
age 45

https://firstlight.ie/
https://www.facebook.com/FirstLightIreland/
mailto:info@firstlight.ie
https://youtu.be/cWpJR5H61UU
https://twitter.com/FirstLight_Ire
http://www.inter7s.com/
https://youtu.be/nfyHdk2J8pU
mailto:info@inter7s.com
https://www.facebook.com/Inter7s


 
 

21 
 

  

4.1.4.3  My Mind  
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

4.1.4.4  parkHIIT 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Rathmines Road, D06 V3Y8 0818 500 800 

www.mymind.org   mymindcentre  

hq@mymind.org  MyMind 

@MyMindCentre Video 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Promoting resistance exercise, bringing the community together, and removing 

financial barriers to exercise are all part of the mission of parkHIIT. It provides free 

regular exercise sessions in various parks across Dublin in an effort to increase the 

amount of local people exercising and connecting.  

 Social Cause(s): Diversity, Health 

 Products / Services:  Exercise Sessions, Training   

 

My Mind aims to give every person in Ireland equal access to mental support 

in an early, affordable and direct way. It provides low cost and accessible 

counselling and psychotherapy services, both in-person and online with 

services available in over 15 languages to ensure wide-ranging access. 

 Social Cause(s): Mental Illness, Family Support, Addiction 

 Products / Services:  Individual / Children’s / Couple’s / Online Counselling,  

Family Sessions 

brian@parkhiit.com parkHIIT 

@parkHIIT Video  

parkHIIT    
 

 

 

Health 

 

P
age 46

https://mymind.org/
https://www.instagram.com/mymindcentre/
mailto:hq@mymind.org
https://www.facebook.com/mymind.org/
https://twitter.com/MyMindCentre
https://youtu.be/bflcP6MN5pU
mailto:brian@parkhiit.com
https://www.facebook.com/groups/parkHIIT/
https://twitter.com/parkHIIT
https://youtu.be/2h7I3RIOrm8
https://www.instagram.com/parkhiit/?hl=en


 
 

22 
 

 

4.1.4.5  Siel Bleu 
 

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

  

4.1.4.6  The Great Care Co-Op 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

18 Eustace St., DO2 WR53 01 209 6889 

www.sielbleu.ie    Shop  

info@sielbleu.ie   SielBleuIreland 

@SielBleuIreland Video 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Great Care Co-Op provides person centred homecare via its innovative 

migrant led and care worker owned model, the first of its kind in Ireland. It trains 

and employs migrants to deliver community based, socially focused care which 

results in higher quality care for clients and employment for carers. 

 Social Cause(s): Family Support, Disability, Migrants, Unemployment   

 Products / Services:  Homecare 

 

Using a preventative approach, Siel Bleu Ireland delivers affordable and 

accessible exercise programmes to older people and those living with chronic 

disease, physical or intellectual disabilities. Participants benefit physically, 

socially and psychologically which helps them live healthier and happier lives.   

 Social Cause(s): Disability, Family Support 

 Products / Services:  Online / In-Person / Group Exercise Sessions, Training  

Health 

21 St Patrick's Rd, A96 DV76 085 252 7654 

www.thegreatcarecoop.ie Video  

info@tgcc.ie  

@GreatCareCoop 
 

 

 

P
age 47

https://www.sielbleu.ie/
https://www.sielbleu.ie/book-online-class/
mailto:info@sielbleu.ie
https://www.facebook.com/SielBleuIreland/
https://twitter.com/SielBleuIreland
https://youtu.be/JM4YxcluWiU
https://www.thegreatcarecoop.ie/
https://youtu.be/q0FSAdkRpHA
mailto:info@tgcc.ie
https://twitter.com/GreatCareCoop


 
 

23 
 

4.1.5 Hospitality 

4.1.5.1  The Green Kitchen  
  

  

 

 

  

  

 

   

 

  

4.1.5.2  The Mug Shot 
  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

Walkinstown, D12 AW22 01 557 6853 

walk.ie/thegreenkitchen The Green Kitchen 

info@walk.ie   Video 

@greenkitchendub 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Mug Shot is a mobile coffee cart that is used to sell coffee and train and 

employ ex-offenders as baristas. It is one of the social enterprises created by 

PACE, an organisation that provides accommodation, training, employment 

and social enterprise services for people with criminal convictions.  

 Social Cause(s): Ex-Offenders, Unemployment 

 Products / Services:  Coffee, Catering. (PACE also provides: Planters, 

Benches, Picnic Tables, Gates, Bee Hotels, Trophies)   

 

The Green Kitchen and Garden Shop is a local, friendly café and garden shop 

where nutritious food is served and where a diverse range of plants are 

available. It supports, trains and employs people who have disabilities, helping 

them to gain new skills, confidence and prospects for further employment.    

 Social Cause(s): Disability, Unemployment 

 Products / Services:  Café, Catering, Meeting Room Hire, Garden Shop, 

Plants, Seeds etc.  

The Four Courts - Car Park 01 823 1000 

www.pace/social-enterprise    Shop  

headoffice@paceorganisation.ie   pace_socialenterprise 

@PACE_IRL Video 
 

 

 

Hospitality 

P
age 48

https://www.walk.ie/thegreenkitchen/
https://www.facebook.com/greenkitchencafedublin/
mailto:info@walk.ie
https://youtu.be/aaORm7SIl14
https://twitter.com/greenkitchendub
https://paceorganisation.ie/social-enterprise/
https://shopatpace.ie/
mailto:headoffice@paceorganisation.ie
https://www.instagram.com/pace_socialenterprise/?hl=en
https://twitter.com/PACE_IRL
https://youtu.be/qFR-68uyLVU


 
 

24 
 

 

4.1.5.3  Third Space   
 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Smithfield, D07 P440 01 529 7208 

www.thirdspace.ie    Shop  

office@thirdspace.ie   ThirdSpaceSmithfield 

thirdspacedublin Video 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Operating as a café by day and a community hub by night, Third Space seeks 

to be a welcoming space where guests are at home and where the community 

thrives. It hosts various community groups, clubs and initiatives and also 

provides training and employment opportunities for disadvantaged people.   

 Social Cause(s): Disadvantaged Adults, Unemployment, Diversity 

 Products / Services:  Café, Event Space, Catering  

Hospitality 

 

P
age 49

http://thirdspace.ie/
https://thirdspace.clickandcollection.com/
mailto:office@thirdspace.ie
https://www.facebook.com/ThirdSpaceSmithfield/
https://www.instagram.com/thirdspacedublin/?hl=en
https://youtu.be/5XpiP9MVQSA


 
 

25 
 

4.1.6 Property 

4.1.6.1  Ava Housing  
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

4.1.6.2  Clean Slate 
  

 

 

 

  

  

  

 

 

147 Emmet Road, D08 Y7N0  01 485 1880 

www.avahousing.ie ava_housing 

info@avahousing.ie   avahousing 

@AvaHousing Video 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Clean Slate provides property clearance, cleaning and maintenance services in 

a safe and environmentally responsible way. Seeking to overcome the 

difficulties that ex-offenders face trying to obtain employment, it trains, 

upskills and employs them as part of a holistic programme. 

 Social Cause(s): Ex-Offenders, Unemployment 

 Products / Services:  Property Clearance, Cleaning and Maintenance, 

Grounds Maintenance 

 

Ava Housing supports elderly homeowners to retrofit and rent out part of their 

homes. It helps homeowners plan, make appropriate choices and to find 

renters for the property. It thus encourages social inclusion and also helps to 

address the housing shortage in Dublin.   

 Social Cause(s): Family Support, Elderly Care, Housing 

 Products / Services:  House Retrofitting, Rent  

131 Frances St, D08 EW44 01 473 4644 

www.cleanslateservices.ie    Video  

admin@bridge.ie   

@BridgeDublin 
 

 

Property 

 

P
age 50

https://www.avahousing.ie/
https://www.instagram.com/ava_housing/
mailto:info@avahousing.ie
https://www.facebook.com/avahousing
https://twitter.com/AvaHousing
https://youtu.be/Z_3359mrKew
http://www.cleanslateservices.ie/
https://youtu.be/gbgwtqTaypc
mailto:admin@bridge.ie
https://twitter.com/BridgeDublin


 
 

26 
 

 

4.1.6.3  Handy Helpers   
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Priorswood, D17 E027 01 877 1600 

www.handyhelpers.ie    Video  

info@handyhelpers.ie   

Handy Helpers 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Through its team of qualified, trustworthy and vetted workers, Handy Helpers 

provides a professional home maintenance and cleaning service for older 

people in the Dublin 17, 13 and 5 areas. It does so to help older people live 

comfortably, independently and safely in their own homes. 

 Social Cause(s): Elderly Care, Family Support 

 Products / Services:  Property Cleaning and Maintenance, Advice, 

Gardening, Safety / Security Equipment Installation  

 

Property 

P
age 51

https://handyhelpers.ie/index.html
https://youtu.be/Prw1Xyrl6YI
mailto:info@handyhelpers.ie
https://www.facebook.com/HandyHelpersDublin/


 
 

27 
 

4.1.7 Technology 

4.1.7.1  Aspire Productions  
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

4.1.7.2  Thriftify 
  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

Carmichael, D07 E8XF 086 029 7650 

www.aspireproductions.ie aspire.productions 

hello@aspireproductions.ie   AspireProductions 

@AspireProIre Video 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Thriftify connects charity shops with relevant consumers through its innovative 

online platform. The platform enables charity shops to easily sell and market 

their products to a much greater audience which results in higher earnings for 

the charities and also less unsold stock and waste.  

 Social Cause(s): Technology for Charities 

 Products / Services:  Online Charity Shop Platform  

 

Aspire Productions provides high quality and affordable media products and 

services. It trains and employs people with Asperger Syndrome who are 

interested in the media and production industry. They work as part of a team 

to create videos, music and photography according to client requirements. 

 Social Cause(s): Disability, Mental Illness, Unemployment 

 Products / Services:  Animation, Music / Sound Production, Photography, 

Videography, Graphic Design, Storyboarding 

Ballyfermot, D10 T042 thriftify 

www.thriftify.ie    Shop  

info@thriftify.ie   thriftify 

@thrift_ify Video 
 

 

 

Technology 

 

 

P
age 52

https://aspireproductions.ie/
https://www.instagram.com/aspire.productions/
mailto:hello@aspireproductions.ie
https://www.facebook.com/AspireProductions.ie/
https://twitter.com/AspireProIre
https://youtu.be/I5_jy84EGcY
https://www.instagram.com/thriftify/
https://www.thriftify.ie/
https://www.thriftify.ie/
mailto:info@thriftify.ie
https://www.facebook.com/thriftify
https://twitter.com/Thrift_ify
https://youtu.be/-C_tsOBfYBg


 
 

28 
 

4.1.8 Tourism 

4.1.8.1  In Our Shoes Walking Tours 
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

4.1.8.2  My Streets Ireland 
  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

Merchants Quay, D08 W2K3  083 149 9927 

inourshoeswalkingtours.ie Shop 

info@inourshoeswalkingtours.ie   InOurShoesWalkingTours 

@OurWalking Video 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

My Streets Ireland empowers people who are homeless to become fairly paid 

walking tour guides. The guides receive extensive training and support to 

develop their confidence, presentation skills and communication styles while 

participants receive an immersive, fun and thought provoking experience.  

 Social Cause(s): Homelessness, Unemployment, Mental Health 

 Products / Services:  Guided Walking Tours 

 

Based in the historic Liberties area of Dublin, In Our Shoes Walking Tours trains 

and employs local unemployed and disadvantaged people to become tour 

guides. The tours provide an authentic and memorable experience as the tour 

guides share personal stories about the area that they grew up in.       

 Social Cause(s): Unemployment, Mental Health 

 Products / Services:  Bespoke / Corporate / Standard Walking Tours  

Tourism 

www.mystreetsireland.com 087 707 3548 

mystreetsireland@gmail.com    Shop  

My Streets Ireland Video 

    
 

 

 

P
age 53

https://inourshoeswalkingtours.ie/
https://inourshoeswalkingtours.ie/book-now/
mailto:info@inourshoeswalkingtours.ie
https://www.facebook.com/InOurShoesWalkingTours/
https://twitter.com/OurWalking
https://youtu.be/2m8m9gwBjLc
http://www.mystreetsireland.com/
mailto:mystreetsireland@gmail.com
https://www.mystreetsireland.com/book-a-tour/
https://www.facebook.com/StreetsTours/
https://youtu.be/N481ghTpBPY


 
 

29 
 

 

Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards  

2015 - 2021  

Brochure 

P
age 54



1

#ResetDublin

Outcomes Report

Summit
Reset

For further information about this report, please contact: 

Economic Development Office, Dublin City Council, 3 Palace Street, Dublin 2, D02 T277 

Phone: 01 222 5611  Email: economicdevelopment@dublincity.ie  Website: www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity 

Innovation & Entrepreneurship

Sustainability & Climate Change

Employment & Skills

Culture & Community

Page 55

mailto:economicdevelopment%40dublincity.ie?subject=Reset%20Summit%20Outcomes%20Report
http://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity


Even with these uncertain times, 
with today’s discussions and 

collaborations, we are building 
stronger connections to tackle the 

many issues facing our city and 
region together. These issues were 

facing us anyway but they have 
been accelerated by the COVID crisis

Foreword

Executive Summary

Closing Address

Appendices

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Dublin

Future of Dublin

Key Insights and Recommendations

Reset Summit Contributors

Reset Summit Photograph Gallery

Context

   Lord Mayor’s Welcome

   Keynote Address / European Context

   Dublin City Context

   Dublin Region Context

Panel Discussions

   Panel 1 Innovation & Entrepreneurship

   Panel 2 Sustainability & Climate Change

   Panel 3 Employment & Skills

   Panel 4 Culture & Community

1

2

5

6

2.1

2.2

2.3

6.1

6.2

4.1

 4.1.1

 4.1.2

 4.1.3

 4.1.4

4.2

 4.2.1

 4.2.2

 4.2.3

 4.2.4

3

4

4

6

8

9

11

18

24

24

24

26

30

32

35

36

46

56

66

80

82

82

84

Introduction

Reset Summit Contributions

2 3

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

CONTENTS

P
age 56



As Chairperson of Reset Summit and of the Economic Development and Enterprise Strategic Policy Committee (SPC), it 

was an honour to preside over the summit and bear witness to so many thoughts and interesting perspectives. Evident 

from the many contributions and from the various stakeholders, was both an overall desire and need to better collaborate, 

engage and communicate in order to ensure that Dublin becomes more inclusive, sustainable and innovative in future. The 

Economic Development and Enterprise SPC and Dublin City Council look forward to working alongside the various stakeholder 

organisations represented at the summit and many others, to enable and participate in enhanced collaboration, engagement 

and communication. It is through these means, that we can reset Dublin and fulfil the extensive need for the city post Covid. 

Importantly this is necessary, not only to address the impact of the challenge at hand, but also to future proof the economy and 

social fabric of Dublin. 

I wish to expressly thank the dedicated team in the Economic Development Office of Dublin City Council for organising Reset 

Summit and producing this seminal report which I am sure will benefit many interested parties. Thank you as well to the 

expert contributors for sharing their much needed insights, ideas and observations. Finally I wish to thank in advance all those 

stakeholders, who will work collaboratively towards resetting the region and building back a better Dublin.

Cllr. Claire O’Connor

The unprecedented COVID-19 global pandemic has impacted Dublin in numerous 

and indeed, untold ways. On account of the pandemic, many pre-existing issues 

have been made all the more acute while many pre-existing trends have been 

greatly accelerated. Furthermore, much of the impact will likely be felt long after 

the pandemic has subsided, as every sector of the economy and society has been 

radically challenged. As with any challenge, however, the situation provides a 

unique opportunity to rethink, reassess and reset. 

In response to the pandemic and the unique opportunity, Dublin City Council in 

partnership with the Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment (previously 

Department of Business, Trade & Innovation), hosted Reset Summit. The summit 

was structured to consider how to reset and build back a better Dublin following 

the pandemic and subsequent economic crisis. Hosted as part of the annual Dublin City Summit Series, it featured 25 speakers, 

4 panel discussions and 300 registered attendees. A multitude of insights, ideas and observations were provided by the key 

and expert stakeholder representatives, who kindly contributed as speakers, moderators and panellists. This report provides 

a compilation of what was shared, along with an extensive account of the summit. It has been produced to share knowledge, 

inspiration, vision and indeed tangible insights to inform policymakers, stakeholders and interested parties, all in regard to 

realising a better future for our city and region going forward.

1. Foreword

Cllr. Claire O’Connor, Chairperson of the 
Economic Development and Enterprise 

Strategic Policy Committee (SPC), 
Dublin City Council

4 5

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 57



2. Executive Summary
Reset Summit was hosted on the 26th November 2020, at which key stakeholders shared insights, ideas and observations 

regarding the need, challenges and opportunities of resetting and building back a better Dublin economy following the COVID-19 

crisis. It was hosted as a fully virtual event, by Dublin City Council in partnership with the Department of Enterprise, Trade and 

Employment (previously Department of Business, Trade & Innovation).

Reset Summit commenced with a welcome address by the Lord Mayor of Dublin, followed by European, Dublin region and 

Dublin City contextual overviews which focused on the overarching context of the COVID-19 crisis and its impact on society 

and the economy. Commissioner Mairéad McGuinness provided a keynote address and overview of the European context, 

Richard Shakespeare representing Dublin City Council provided a Dublin City overview and Declan Hughes representing the 

Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment and the Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan provided a Dublin region overview. 

The summit was structured on four interlinked themes, which although not exhaustive, served to represent key elements of an 

economy, society and city-region like Dublin. Each theme was the focus of a panel discussion which featured expert and key 

stakeholder representatives. Panellists were asked to contribute from their perspective regarding their current context, a vision 

for the future and actions (ideas, interventions, examples) needed to realise their respective vision. The four themes and panel 

discussions were

This outcomes report provides an account of the insights and observations shared by contributors along with an extensive 

overview of the summit. It will be disseminated to inform national government, policymakers, stakeholders and other interested 

parties. 

European Commission, Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment, Dublin City Council, Draper Esprit, Tech Ireland, 

Scale Ireland, VRAI, Enterprise Ireland, Smart Dublin / Cities, Dublin City University, Cisco, Sustainable Energy Authority of 

Ireland, Fáilte Ireland, Dublin Regional Skills Forum, Ibec, Dalata Hotel Group, Cpl, Dublin Town, Wide Awake Communications, 

Department of Rural and Community Development and the Arts Council of Ireland.  

Contributors at the summit represented a diverse array of key stakeholder organisations which included:

Reset Summit Panel Discussions

1.    Innovation & Entrepreneurship     

3.      Employment & Skills    

2.    Sustainability & Climate Change     

4.      Culture & Community    

6 7

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 58



2.2 Future of Dublin2.1 Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Dublin

1. Dublin Economic Monitor (Qtr. 3 2020) www.dublineconomy.ie/dublin-economic-monitor/latest-dublin-economic-monitor-records-collapse-in-economic-activity

2. YDYV Qtr. 2 Survey: Covid-19 Executive Report www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2020-11/executive-report-your-dublin-your-voice-covid-19-survey-

may-2020_0.pdf

3.  YDYV Qtr. 3 Survey: Build Back Better E Report www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2020-11/executive-report-your-dublin-your-voice-build-back-better-

august-2020.pdf

4. Government of Ireland – Press Release Payments awarded for COVID-19 Pandemic Unemployment Payment and Enhanced Illness Benefit  

https://www.gov.ie/en/press-release/deae9-update-on-payments-awarded-for-covid-19-pandemic-unemployment-payment-and-enhanced-illness-benefit/

5. Employment and Economic Impact Assessment of COVID-19 on the Arts Sector in Ireland  

http://www.artscouncil.ie/uploadedFiles/Employment_and_Economic_Impact_Assessment_of_COVID-19_on_the_Arts_Sector_in_Ireland.pdf

Statistics, trends and insights regarding the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Dublin’s economy and society. (Period: March 

to November 2020. Data sourced from Qtr. 3 Dublin Economic Monitor1, Qtr. 22 and Qtr. 33 YDYV surveys and Reset Summit 

speaker and panellist contributions.) 

The retail, hospitality, 
aviation and arts 
sectors have been 
severely impacted, 
while the life 
sciences, health and 
technology sectors 
have been resilient.

Pre-existing trends 
rapidly accelerated 
such as: increased 
digitalisation, online 
shopping and 
ecommerce.  

People most impacted are 
typically those who were 
already marginalised / 
disadvantaged. Furthermore, 
youth have been 
disproportionally impacted.

Increased solidarity, 
connectivity, 
local leadership, 
innovation and 
volunteerism at local 
and community 
levels.

Increased local 
shopping and desire 
to support local 
businesses.

Increased remote working. 
In May 2020, 76% of YDYV 
respondents were working 
remotely.

Increased cycling and 
walking.

18-34 year olds were 
more likely than 
older respondents 
to report feelings of 
boredom, anxiety, 
stress, sadness, 
loneliness and anger.

Increased environmental 
awareness, appreciation and 
expectations.

Approx. 55%5 
decrease in the arts 
sector economic 
activity / compared 
to 11% decrease 
national economic 
activity.

Discretionary 
spending decreased 
by 56%; household 
goods spending 
decreased by 21%, 
entertainment 
spending decreased 
by 79%.

At the peak in March / April 
2020, footfall decreased by 
75% in the north city centre 
and 90% in south city centre.

Employment 
decreased 3.5% YoY 
in Dublin compared 
to 0.4% decrease 
outside Dublin.

Public transport 
usage decreased 
by 76% YoY in Qtr. 2 
2020.

At the peak in May 20204, 
174,2004 people in Dublin 
received the Pandemic 
Unemployment Payment 
(PUP), representing 
approximately 1/3 of national 
PUPs distributed at the time.

-3.5%
-76%

174,200

Dublin hotel 
occupancy decreased 
by 85% in June and 
77% in July YoY.

Construction 
completions 
decreased by 41% 
YoY in Qtr. 3 2020.

6.9 million passengers 
travelled through Dublin 
Airport between January to 
October 2020, compared to 
21.4 million between January 
to October 2019.

-41%

-14
.5m

Summarised visions and thoughts regarding the recovery and future of Dublin post the COVID-19 pandemic.

• On account of the pandemic, many pre-existing issues have been made all the more acute while many pre-existing trends 

have been greatly accelerated. Through collaborations and discussions continuing during these uncertain times, we 

are building stronger connections to tackle the many issues facing our city and region together. - Cllr. Claire O’ Connor, 

Chairperson, Economic Development & Enterprise SPC

• The pandemic has led to profound economic, political and social disruptions while magnifying many pre-existing issues 

in society and the economy. It has also highlighted the significant need and opportunity for change to improve the city, 

communities and the economy.  - Lord Mayor of Dublin, Hazel Chu

• The European Union seeks to build a future Europe that is more sustainable, green and digital, that supports innovation and 

entrepreneurship; and reduces barriers in the single market. - Mairéad McGuinness, European Commissioner for Financial 

Services, Financial Stability and Capital Markets Union, European Commission 

• The COVID-19 crisis has had and will continue to have a significant impact on both society and the economy. The city and 

region have changed considerably, however, it will be some time before the full extent of the impact is clear. - Richard 

Shakespeare, Assistant Chief Executive, Dublin City Council

• Effective institutional structures and strong collaboration are key to enabling and enhancing Dublin. Building and sustaining 

connections between stakeholders is vitally important to enable joint planning, open engagement on development and 

to consider the future of Dublin. Going forward, design, layout and connections between amenities, recreation, working, 

remote working, arts and the entertainment sector should be considered. - Declan Hughes, Assistant Secretary General, 

Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment

• There is an interesting trend of more businesses being organised as Companies Limited by Guarantee (CLGs) or non-profit 

companies which are driven as much by mission as by profitability. Jobs in those businesses are as valuable to the economy 

and the future of the city as profit-based businesses. - Brian Caulfield, Entrepreneur, Venture Capital Investor, Board Member

• Going forward, the key areas that Enterprise Ireland will focus on are: Brexit, competitiveness, R&D, innovation, diversification, 

enhancing digitisation and exporting among companies, and supporting the start-up community for companies that have 

high potential. - Eoghan Hanrahan, Regional Director, Dublin Region and Regional Development, Enterprise Ireland 

• A major digital opportunity exists which should be leveraged by companies, stakeholders and the city. New investments 

should be digitally integrated in order to enable data capture and monitoring. For the future, a collaborative approach and 

consideration of the digital layer are key. - Jamie Cudden, Smart City Programme Manager, Dublin City Council 

• The future focus must be on the environment as the climate crisis is mounting. Job creation, innovation, data collection 

and employment must all be focused on the climate crisis. The recovery is a priming opportunity to make considerable 

progress regarding the environment. - Dr. Roisin Lyons, Assistant Professor of Entrepreneurship and Innovation, Dublin City 

University 

• Triple Bottom Line and B Corp status approaches could be formally introduced and encouraged as opportunities for new 

and existing businesses in order to encourage businesses to not only focus on profit, but people and the planet as well. - 

Niall Campion, Managing Director, VRAI

Panel 1 Innovation & Entrepreneurship

9

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

8

P
age 59

http://www.dublineconomy.ie/dublin-economic-monitor/latest-dublin-economic-monitor-records-collapse-in-economic-activity/
http://www.dublineconomy.ie/dublin-economic-monitor/latest-dublin-economic-monitor-records-collapse-in-economic-activity/
http://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2020-11/executive-report-your-dublin-your-voice-covid-19-surve
http://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2020-11/executive-report-your-dublin-your-voice-covid-19-survey-may-2020_0.pdf
http://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2020-11/executive-report-your-dublin-your-voice-build-back-better-august-2020.pdf
http://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2020-11/executive-report-your-dublin-your-voice-build-back-better-august-2020.pdf
https://www.gov.ie/en/press-release/deae9-update-on-payments-awarded-for-covid-19-pandemic-unemploym
http://www.artscouncil.ie/uploadedFiles/Employment_and_Economic_Impact_Assessment_of_COVID-19_on_the


Panel 3 Employment & Skills

Panel 4 Culture & Community

• Maintaining a connection with and upskilling employees regarding future trends, processes and operations, is vital for 

when they return. SMEs in Dublin can avail of additional support through the Dublin Regional Skills Forum, as many don’t 

have the capacity to upskill. - Natasha Kinsella, Regional Skills Manager, Dublin Regional Skills Forum

• Tourism throughput into Dublin significantly benefits the citizens of Dublin via the diverse offering of retail, hospitality, arts 

and entertainment, which could not exist without tourism related spend. The reappearance of international visitors and 

tourists is very important to supporting the recovery and future of both Dublin and Ireland. - Pat McCann, Chief Executive 

Officer, Dalata Hotel Group

• Post the pandemic, Dublin must remain as a strong, attractive proposition with a highly skilled labour force in order to attract 

FDI, inward investment and economic activity from SMEs and existing businesses. There will be long term impacts that 

must be focused on, so as to mitigate further exclusion and marginalisation. - Siobhan O’Shea, Director Cpl / Chairperson 

Dublin Regional Skills Forum

•  People will value engagement again and will likely return to working in offices in a hybrid way, participating in learning, 

training, project scoping and team building. City streets, primarily those that were retail only need to become more 

integrated, with hospitality, leisure and residential offerings. - Richard Guiney, Chief Executive Officer, Dublin Town 

• The substantial adjustment to remote working has brought forward many opportunities regarding work and social location 

or relocation. In future, Dublin will increasingly become a service economy along with an experience economy where there 

will be additional value added. This will benefit the citizens of Dublin while also continuing to attract globalised workforces. 

- Danny McCoy, Chief Executive Officer, Ibec

2.3 Key Insights and Recommendations

Contextual Presentations - Key Insights and Recommendations

Lord Mayor of Dublin, Hazel Chu

Mairéad McGuinness, European Commissioner for Financial Services, Financial Stability and Capital Markets 
Union, European Commission

• ‘The European Union is wanting to and will build back better’.

• The EU seeks to: build a more sustainable, greener, digital future; support innovation and entrepreneurship; 
and reduce barriers in the single market. ........continued

• The pandemic has led to profound economic, political and social disruptions and also magnified many pre-

existing issues in society and the economy.

• ‘Prior to the crisis, but all the more now, it is clear that change is drastically needed to improve society’.

• Key trends stemming from the impact of the pandemic include: increased walking, cycling, appreciation of 

wildlife, desire to support local businesses.

• ‘There is an opportunity now within this crisis for us to instil change and change for the better’.

• Citizens and their role are central and vitally important to addressing climate change and advancing sustainability 

throughout Dublin in future. - Dr. Sabrina Dekker, Climate Action Coordinator, Dublin City Council

• In order to develop a future compact city with increased density, the city must be ‘green’ and make use of and create 

additional greenways and green areas such as Dublin Bay, the River Liffey and other rivers and canals. As people are 

tactile, physical, digital and mobility connectivity along with creating places that are appealing and attractive for people to 

converge should be priorities. - John O’Hara, City Planning Officer, Dublin City Council

• The recovery and growth of the tourism sector, should be based on a sustainable and balanced approach. Tourism activity 

in 2050 will contribute not only to protecting the environment but also to giving back in terms of habitat restoration and 

enhancing the natural environment. There will be stronger partnerships in place, given the fundamental link between 

tourism and all the other sectors. - Shane Dineen, Environment & Planning Manager, Fáilte Ireland

• Opportunities exist post-COVID regarding district heating in Dublin and retrofitting homes in order to improve comfort, 

increase energy efficiency savings and reduce emissions. However, this also represents a major challenge as 500,000 

buildings need to be retrofitted by 2030. In future, leveraging technology to gamify and engage citizens will be extensively 

utilised in the societal transition to address climate change. - William Walsh, Chief Executive Officer, SEAI

• Buildings can be constructed in much more integrated, efficient and effective ways, which modern technology can greatly 

assist with. Businesses should create low carbon pledges and expect their supply chain to also. In future, products will 

be expected to exist and circulate for much longer as the circular transition comes. - Brian Jordan, Head of Innovation & 

Industry Solutions, Cisco

Panel 2 Sustainability & Climate Change

• Significant impacts have occurred during the lockdown periods, the effects of which on the future and resetting society 

and the economy, are very difficult to anticipate. There is an eagerness to collaborate going forward. - Ray Yeates, City Arts 

Office, Dublin City Council

• The live entertainment and events sector contributes extensively to the economy and has the potential to greatly assist the 

recovery and attract people back into the city. As ticket sales for future events are continuing, there is confidence that the 

sector will remerge robustly to satisfy pent-up demand for entertainment. - Justin Green, Managing Director, Wide Awake 

Communications

• Enhanced connectivity at local levels has emerged, which may result in profound and long lasting changes in future. Going 

forward, collaboration and activation and engagement measures are needed to ensure that inclusive opportunities are 

available for all to participate in the arts and communities. - Dr. Dáithí Downey, Head of Housing Policy, Research and 

Strategy, Dublin City Council

• Community, people and social enterprises should be central to the recovery in Dublin, to ensure it is inclusive, open and 

fair. The values which need to inform the recovery are vital and should be considered along with relevant metrics to capture 

and measure wellbeing. - Kevin McCarthy, Secretary General, Department of Rural and Community Development

• Arts and culture have been reaffirmed as being incredibly important to society and the economy, and will help to build 

back better. The arts sector and community have however, suffered extensively and may be less appealing to young or new 

entrants seeking a career. - Maureen Kennelly, Director, Arts Council of Ireland

10 11

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 60



• ‘The pandemic cannot be used as an excuse to avoid urgent action on climate change, environmental 
degradation and biodiversity loss’.

• The EU is greatly prioritising sustainability via the Green Deal, Sustainable Europe Investment Plan and the 
Renewed Sustainable Finance Strategy while utilising the just transition mechanism to support those most 
affected by the climate transition.

• The private sector must be involved alongside the public sector to support the green and more sustainable 
future.

• The European Commission seeks to ensure that climate and environmental risks are managed and fully 
integrated into the financial system.

• The cost of financial illiteracy is significant and is paid disproportionately by the most vulnerable in society.

• The pandemic restrictions have had a disproportionate effect on the Dublin labour market. Unemployment is 
higher in Dublin than in the rest of the country. This is attributed to the concentration of service and hospitality 
sectors which have seen the most severe effects.

• There is an increased desire to staycate more in Ireland, however, there is much less desire to staycate more 
in Dublin.

• The retail sector has been decimated, however, there is a significant desire and choice among those living in 
the city to support local businesses.

• Environmental awareness, appreciation and expectations have increased.

• ‘Dublin plays a hugely important role in national economic development as it is our one city of international 
scale, it is a lighthouse for attracting investment on the global stage’

• Effective institutional structures and strong collaboration are key to enabling and enhancing Dublin. Building 
and sustaining connections between stakeholders is vitally important to enable joint planning, open 
engagement on development and to consider the future of Dublin.

• Less than half of small and micro-firms are digitally enabled which has been a key issue during COVID. Digital 
adoption among firms must be increased.

• The start-up and entrepreneurship ecosystem should focus on digitalisation. 
• Dublin must be a liveable city to attract people to live and work. Design and connections between amenities, 

arts, recreation and work should be considered.  
• Regarding sustainability, there is a very significant challenge in terms of decarbonising businesses and how 

people live and work.

Richard Shakespeare, Assistant Chief Executive, Dublin City Council

Declan Hughes, Assistant Secretary General, Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment

March 2020

12 13

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 61



Panel Discussions - Key Insights and Recommendations

Insights

Recommendations

• SMEs have had to radically diversify, pivot and re-evaluate in response to the crisis.
• COVID-19 is also creating opportunities for some companies.
• Trends exist of more businesses prioritising social mission as well as profit.
• A key concern is extending supports and maintaining the overall I&E ecosystem.
• Justifying an office space is a challenge on account of the crisis.
• Culture and community are also key determinants regarding why start-ups / companies locate in a city, as 

opposed to a rural setting.
• Dublin is a tech cluster of leading companies, start-ups and research hubs.
• Education can be used as a key way to support SME digital adaption.
• Social entrepreneurship can help regarding the pandemic and recovery.
• Nudge theory, research, data, knowledge of human behaviour can be used to support positive behavioural 

change. Collaboration is key. 

• Enhance support for the I&E ecosystem along with culture and community.
• Provide dedicated resources, micro-finance for people unemployed on account of the pandemic who 

desire to start a business.
• Encourage sustainable, triple bottom line, B Corp approaches among businesses. 
• Support companies to diversify / export to enhance digitisation.
• Leverage and promote the current and extensive digital opportunity. 
• Remove regulatory barriers to enable Dublin to be utilised as a testbed.  
• The city can more clearly communicate challenges and proactively procure and support solutions from 

start-ups and local companies.
• Consider the digital layer regarding new city investments to enable environmental monitoring and effective 

data capture.
• Enterprises should actively seek assistance from support organisations and consider how to adapt / 

futureproof processes and their products or services.
• Consider, support and leverage social enterprise in the digital space and recovery.
• Connect students with real cases to help SME’s with digital adaption. 
• The future focus should be on the environment and climate crisis.  

Panel 1 Innovation & Entrepreneurship

Panel Discussions - Key Insights and Recommendations

Insights

Recommendations

• Buildings must become more connected and efficient.
• Citizen participation is impacted by: law and policy, finance and attitude. 
• Careful consideration is needed as the economy becomes more circular.
• There will be significant pressure regarding carbon tax and budgeting in future. 
• Retrofitting represents a major challenge to meet targets and also an opportunity to enhance efficiency in 

the housing stock.
• Community buy-in & rewards can be used to support sustainability adaption.
• Public and private sector collaboration is key to business sustainability adaption.
• Technology, gamification and nudge theory can and will play a major part in societal transition, encouraging 

green behaviour and active citizenship.
• Successful implementation of sustainability approaches is dependent on multifaceted embeddedness and 

multi-stakeholder collaboration.
• There is increased appreciation and demand for the outdoors and activities.
• There is a socio-economic divide in the city which needs to be addressed. 

• Engage meaningfully to: understand citizen needs, communicate, mitigate resistance to change and to 
more effectively plan.

• Businesses should make low carbon pledges, and expect their supply chain to also. 
• Promote green procurement to the public and private sectors.
• Educate businesses on the circular economy and the needed future transition.
• Understand business behaviour and needs, provide support for businesses to make core decisions and to 

transition to sustainable practices and operations.
• Consider successful interventions and approaches in other settings / contexts.
• The public sector should act as an exemplar and leader regarding sustainability.
• Performance measures should be used to track sustainability progress.
• Develop leading outdoor experiences, activities and the public realm in Dublin.
• Support place-making, community buy-in and mixed use development in disadvantaged areas of the city, 

generally and regarding office developments.
• The tourism sector recovery should be based on a sustainable approach. 

Panel 2 Sustainability & Climate Change

14 15

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 62



Panel Discussions - Key Insights and Recommendations

Insights

Recommendations

• There will be long term impacts and effects which are currently unknown.
• Culture and the arts are significantly valuable yet very difficult to value. 
• Community and culture are vital to international visibility and attractiveness.
• Building community and the arts requires time, appreciation and deep thinking.
• The live entertainment sector contributes significantly to tourism, the city and the night time economy. It 

has great potential to support the recovery and generate additional revenue for the city.
• Culture and the arts contribute significantly to creating and sustaining vibrant communities. They will play 

an important role in the recovery and telling the story. 
• Ticketing systems can be used to capture data and highlight other attractions.
• Solidarity, local leadership, connectivity, volunteerism have increased.
• The social enterprise sector has significant potential to grow, contribute towards the recovery and create 

sustainable jobs. Joined-up collaboration is key.

• Consideration should be given to values and value measurement going forward. 
• Utilise and support live events to attract people back into the city. 
• Establish a permanent task force with government and industry stakeholders.
• Support venues via rates waiver, finance, VAT reduction and encouraging increased activity seven nights a 

week post COVID-19.
• Provide insurance cancellation protection support for venues and promoters.
• Provide an operational method statement for reopening and operating venues. 
• Develop consumer law protection regarding refunds to allow promoters and venues to reschedule events 

within a reasonable time period. 
• Expressions of culture should be participatory, inclusive & linked to sustainability.
• Utilise activation and engagement measures that support inclusive activity, skills and training opportunities.
• Ensure that community development, social inclusion, social solidarity and engagement with the 

marginalised are core factors in the recovery.
• The government should sign up to the copyright directive. 
• Encourage, support and upskill artists to benefit financially from the digital space.

Panel 4 Culture & Community

Panel Discussions - Key Insights and Recommendations

Insights

Recommendations

• Remote working has created significant opportunities and impacts regarding workplace, recreational and 
social locations. 

• There is a major globalised impression in Ireland. The attractiveness of Dublin to international movement 
is very important.

• Public infrastructure is not keeping pace with the scale of the population and qualitative expectations of 
citizens. 

• Effective communication, technology and the use of upskilling / training programmes enabled Dalata to 
retain connection with employees.

• Hospitality and tourism are vitally important to the city economy and vibrancy.
• SMEs in particular need support regarding skills development.
• Ireland and Dublin must remain as attractive propositions for FDI.
• A highly skilled labour force is a top factor regarding FDI / location.
• The governments’ investment and multipronged approach to support apprenticeships, upskilling and 

further education has been positive and proactive.
• The retail, hospitality and aviation sectors have been severely impacted while life sciences, health and 

technology sectors have been resilient. 
• Those most impacted have typically been those already marginalised.
• The absence of office workers has severely impacted retail and hospitality.
• Trends have been consolidated and rapidly accelerated, including: declining retail, increasing ecommerce, 

increasing experience purchasing.
• Retail is important regarding vibrancy and employment opportunities. 

• Explore and identify mechanisms to fund skills development and employment. 
• Support talent resourcing and youth unemployment. 
• Promote supports and resources to industry and SMEs.
• Assist those most impacted with specific supports. 
• Integrate hospitality, leisure, retail and residential use regarding city core streets and future planning. 
• Encourage public and private sector collaboration to ensure that Dublin is an attractive city for residents, 

visitors and investors.  

Panel 3 Employment & Skills

16 17

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 63



The aims and programme of the summit were:3. Introduction

Aims

The COVID-19 crisis and the associated political, economic and social disruptions have drastically changed and continue to 

change the traditional context for decision making, policy implementation and daily living around the world. Furthermore, the 

inconsistencies, inadequacies and contradictions of multiple systems: social, education, health, financial, energy, economic 

systems have become increasingly exposed as the crisis has unfolded. Despite the multitude of complex challenges, the crisis 

also presents a unique opportunity to review national and city economies, and identify opportunities for resetting the priorities 

of societies and business models to support an inclusive, sustainable, innovative and altogether better future. 

Reset Summit took place within this context to consider the challenges and opportunities of resetting the Dublin Economy. The 

summit was hosted on the 26th November 2020, at which key local and national stakeholders shared perspectives, insights and 

ideas regarding the need, challenges and opportunities of resetting and building back a better Dublin economy following the 

COVID-19 crisis. 

The summit is part of the Dublin City Summit Series - an initiative of the Economic Development and Enterprise Strategic Policy 

Committee (SPC) which is made up of councillors, industry and community representatives. Each summit brings together 

key stakeholders including policymakers, elected officials, topic experts and practitioners to share insights, information 

and perspectives in order to encourage greater collaboration, awareness and development regarding relevant policy issues 

and challenges facing the city. After each summit an Outcomes Report comprised of the summit contributions, insights and 

observations is produced and disseminated to policymakers, stakeholders and interested parties to support future policy 

formulation, knowledge sharing and relevant economic development. Previous summits as part of the series include Brexit 

Summit 20166 , Infrastructure Summit 20177 , Apprenticeship Summit 20188  and Social Enterprise Summit 20199 . (Links to the 

Outcomes Reports are provided in the footnotes below). 

Reset Summit also took place as part of the Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan (DREP)10 to use collective resources and expertise 

to support regional economies and recovery. It was a fully online event and was broadcast live. The recording is available on 

the Dublin City Council webcast site11. 

Brexit Summit 2016 Outcomes Report www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Documents/Outcome-Report-DCC-Brexit-Summit.pdf

Infrastructure Summit 2017 Outcomes Report councilmeetings.dublincity.ie/documents/s12181/286%201%20Final%20Dublin%20City%20

Infrastructure%20Summit %20Outcomes%20Report.pdf

 Apprenticeship Summit 2018 Outcomes Report councilmeetings.dublincity.ie/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=22333

Social Enterprise Summit 2019 Outcomes Report www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Documents/Social%20Enterprise%20Summit%20Outcomes%20

Report.pdf 

Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan to 2020 enterprise.gov.ie/en/Publications/Dublin-Regional-Enterprise-Plan-to-2020.html 

Reset Summit – Recording dublincity.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/529532 

1.    Innovation & Entrepreneurship     

3.      Employment & Skills    

2.    Sustainability & Climate Change     

4.      Culture & Community    

Share Knowledge 
and 

perspectives

Obtain insights and
ideas to inform
policymakers

Highlight opportunities 
for

collaboration

• Introduction: Cllr. Claire O’Connor - Summit Chairperson / ED&E SPC Chairperson

• Welcome: Lord Mayor of Dublin Cllr. Hazel Chu

• Keynote Address / European Context: Commissioner Mairéad McGuinness - Commissioner for Financial 

Stability, Financial Services & the Capital Markets Union, European Commission

• Dublin City Context: Mr. Richard Shakespeare - Assistant Chief Executive, Dublin City Council

• Dublin Region Context: Mr. Declan Hughes - Assistant Secretary General, Department of Enterprise, Trade 

and Employment / DREP

• Summit Panel Discussions (see below)

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

18 19

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

Summit
Reset

Summit ProgrammeReset

P
age 64

http://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Documents/Outcome-Report-DCC-Brexit-Summit.pdf
https://councilmeetings.dublincity.ie/documents/s12181/ 286 1 Final Dublin City Infrastructure Summit Outcomes Report.pdf
https://councilmeetings.dublincity.ie/documents/s12181/ 286 1 Final Dublin City Infrastructure Summit Outcomes Report.pdf
https://councilmeetings.dublincity.ie/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=22333
http://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Documents/Social Enterprise Summit Outcomes Report.pdf
http://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Documents/Social Enterprise Summit Outcomes Report.pdf
https://enterprise.gov.ie/en/Publications/Dublin-Regional-Enterprise-Plan-to-2020.html
https://dublincity.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/529532


- Sectoral Impacts

- Environmental Impacts

Construction activity contracted in Qtr. 3 with completions down 41% YoY to 1,145 and the leading indicator of commencements 

was down 47% YoY in the three months to the end of August. The decreased construction activity was expected to negatively 

affect the pre-existing constrained housing supply. 

Aviation activity was dramatically curtailed with a 76% fall in passengers travelling through Dublin Airport between January 

and October 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. The impact of the restrictions resulted in 21.4 million fewer passengers 

travelling through Dublin Airport compared to 2019.  

Hospitality was among the most negatively impacted sectors. Dublin hotels had non-seasonally adjusted occupancy rates of 

13% in June and 20% in July representing a decrease of 85% and 77% YoY respectively. Year-to-date (January-October 2020) 

occupancy rates were 32.4% compared to 84.5% at the same time in 2019. Furthermore, October 2020 rates were 18.4% 

compared to 79% in 2019. Regarding the Qtr. 3 YDYV survey, 51% will staycate more in Ireland vs 10% less, 12% will staycate in 

Dublin more vs 30% and 39% said nothing could encourage them to staycate more in Dublin.

Retail was also drastically impacted. In Qtr. 2, YoY retail spending was mostly decimated as discretionary spending decreased by 

56%; household goods spending decreased by 21% and entertainment spending decreased by 79%. Nonetheless, necessities 

spending increased by 16.7% and ecommerce spending increased dramatically by 43%17. In regard to the YDYV survey and retail, 

56% of respondents were shopping locally more often since March 2020; 70% wanted to keep more money in the local economy; 

48% were shopping online more and 36-38% intend to shop (non-grocery), socialise and eat out less in the city centre post 

COVID-19. Respondents also stated that initiatives that could encourage people to engage more in the city centre should focus 

on health measures, transport and value for money.

YDYV survey respondents highlighted their desire for active commuting with 59% wanting to see improved cycle lanes and 67% 

wanting the new cycling / walking infrastructure to remain. In addition, 50% of respondents stated that they found comfort 

from nature and the environment during COVID-19 restrictions and 64% wanted the promotion and protection of nature and 

wildlife to form part of local government plans and actions. Regarding businesses, 64% of respondents thought that providing 

incentives to businesses that operate pro-environmental practice was the most important business ecosystem initiative for the 

recovery and 63% thought that investment in green infrastructure is the most important infrastructure initiative for recovery. 

Reset Summit was structured around four interlinked themes with each one being the focus of a panel discussion featuring 

expert stakeholders. Panellists were asked to contribute from their perspective regarding their current context, a vision for the 

future and actions (ideas, interventions, examples) needed to realise the vision. Prior to the summit, panellists and speakers 

were provided with a briefing paper which highlighted the then current context. For reference, the context at the time of the 

summit using the briefing paper is recapped below:

At the time of the summit in November 2020, Ireland had been through an unprecedented series of economic and social 

restrictions to counter the spread of COVID-19 among the population. Through the work of the Dublin Economic Monitor 12 and 

the Your Dublin Your Voice 13 (YDYV) opinion panel, an extensive amount of data had been analysed which provided key insights 

regarding impacts and trends. These are highlighted below using data from the Quarter (Qtr.) 3 Dublin Economic Monitor 14, Qtr. 

215 and Qtr. 316 YDYV surveys:

Overall employment in Dublin fell by 27,000 in Qtr. 3 2020. The data also highlighted the disproportionate impact that the 

pandemic restrictions were having on the Dublin labour market compared to the rest of the country. In Qtr. 3, employment 

was 3.5% Year on Year (YoY) lower in Dublin compared to -0.4% YoY outside Dublin. Furthermore the non-seasonally adjusted 

unemployment rate stood at 8.2% in Dublin compared to 7.1% in the state as a whole. This divergence was driven by the services 

and in particular the hospitality sector.   

As part of the YDYV survey, respondents selected the following as the most important ‘people initiatives / programmes for our 

recovery’: 

1. Retrain / reskill workers (Re: digitalisation. retrofitting etc) (68%) 2. Support the unemployed to find work (67%)

3. Support creative workers (musicians, writers, actors) (58%) 4. Support community & voluntary sectors (charities, 

             social enterprises) (50%)

- Employment

In addition, 62% of respondents think providing support to the sectors most badly impacted is the most important business 

ecosystem initiative for recovery. 

The proportion of those remote working increased dramatically as the restrictions were imposed. The associated impacts 

included: increased office vacancy rates in Dublin 2/4 and the suburbs in Qtr. 2 and Qtr. 3 and a 76% YoY fall in public transport 

usage in Qtr. 2. The Qtr. 3 YDYV survey results revealed the following remote working rates among respondents: Pre COVID-19 

(6%), May 2020 (76%), August (56%). The majority of respondents (61%) also highlighted that they were using more household 

energy and (52%) that improving home energy efficiencies is the most important green initiative for recovery.  

- Remote Working

12.    Dublin Economic Monitor is a joint initiative of the four Dublin Local Authorities which monitors and analyses key economic data on the city and    

          region. For more information and to subscribe, please visit: www.dublineconomy.ie 

13.    Your Dublin Your Voice is an opinion panel featuring a representative sample of residents of Dublin. Regular surveys are conducted on various               

          aspects of living, working and learning in the city. For more information and to join the panel, please visit:

          www.dublincity.ie/business/economic-development-and-enterprise/economic-development/your-dublin-your-voice

14.   Dublin Economic Monitor (Qtr. 3 2020) 

         www.dublineconomy.ie/dublin-economic-monitor/latest-dublin-economic-monitor-records-collapse-in-economic-activity

15.    YDYV Qtr. 2 Survey: Covid-19 May 2020 – Executive Report 

          www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2020-11/executive-report-your-dublin-your-voice-covid-19-survey-may-2020_0.pdf

16.   YDYV Qtr. 3 Survey: Build Back Better August 2020 - Executive Report

         www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2020-11/executive-report-your-dublin-your-voice-build-back-better-august-2020.pdf

17.      Mastercard SpendingPulse (In: Dublin Economic Monitor Qtr. 3 2020) 

            www.dublineconomy.ie/dublin-economic-monitor/latest-dublin-economic-monitor-records-collapse-in-economic-activity      

20 21

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 65

http://www.dublineconomy.ie/
http://www.dublincity.ie/business/economic-development-and-enterprise/economic-development/your-dublin-you
http://www.dublincity.ie/business/economic-development-and-enterprise/economic-development/your-dublin-your-voice
http://www.dublineconomy.ie/dublin-economic-monitor/latest-dublin-economic-monitor-records-collapse-in-eco
http://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2020-11/executive-report-your-dublin-your-voice-covid-19-surve
http://www.dublincity.ie/sites/default/files/2020-11/executive-report-your-dublin-your-voice-build-back-bet
http://www.dublineconomy.ie/dublin-economic-monitor/latest-dublin-economic-monitor-records-collapse-in-economic-activity/


- Community Impacts

The Qtr. 2 YDYV survey in May revealed the impact COVID-19 and the associated restrictions were having on people’s lives in 

Dublin at that time. Among respondents, 93% indicated that they had family or friends who could look after them if they became 

ill; 56% had heard of the Community Call initiative; 73% had engaged in some form of online learning, networking or cultural 

activity since the restrictions began. The survey also revealed that 18-34 year olds were more likely than older respondents to 

report feelings of boredom, anxiety, stress, sadness, loneliness and anger.  

In response to the crisis and the impact on the economy, the Economic Development and Local Enterprise Offices were 

designated as critical services by the Local Government Management Agency. Various supports and initiatives were provided 

during March-October 2020 which include: 

Financial Supports (Grants)

Programme

Total 8,637 54.4 million

No. of Businesses Supported

3,858

4,779

Assessment of Applications

20.3  million

34.1 million

€

Economic Development Supports / Initiatives

• Dublin Economic Monitor – May & September editions identified and reported on the impact of the crisis on 

the economy

• Your Dublin Your Voice – Public consultations on impact of the crisis on Dublin residents and businesses 

• Dublin Place Brand18 Campaigns – In This Together; Shop Local; Make a Day of It, Stay Active

• Fáilte Ireland Collaborations – 5 Working Groups

• Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan – Submission to Government regarding Recovery Strategy

• Reset Summit – 26th November 2020

Local Authority (DCC) Supports / Initiatives
(Provided March-October 2020)

• Restart Grant

Public Realm Response

• Restart Grant +

• Street Furniture Initiative

Financial Supports (Grants, Vouchers, Loans)

Programme

Total

Total

1,985

6,007

6.1 million

No. of Businesses Supported

146

840

4,586

999

1,421

1.6 million

2.1 million

2.4 million

€

Local Enterprise Office Supports / Initiatives
(Provided March-October 2020)

• Grants - Feasibility, Priming, 
Expansion

Training & Mentoring Supports

• Business Continuity Voucher

• Training

• Trading Online Voucher

• Mentoring

• Public Spaces Working Group 
Established

18.      Dublin Place Brand - Dublin.ie

22 23

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 66

https://dublin.ie/


4.1 Context

4.1.1 Lord Mayor’s Welcome

Commencing with a welcome address by the Lord Mayor of Dublin and followed by European, Dublin City and Dublin region 

contextual overviews, this section of the summit focused on the overarching context of the COVID-19 crisis and its impact on 

society and the economy. 

Lord Mayor of Dublin, Hazel Chu officially welcomed all attendees to Reset Summit, the fifth edition in the Dublin City Summit 

series. She noted that it is a critical time to have the summit and the 

associated discussions, as the city and country is impacted by COIVD-19 

and as the history of the city and country continues to change. Describing 

the context of the summit as an ongoing, untold and mounting crisis 

and in spite of the good news around vaccines, she explained that the 

pandemic has led to profound economic, political and social disruptions 

that everyone at the summit, in the city and indeed around the world are 

trying to deal with. Regarding this context, she stated: ‘decision-making, 

structures and daily living activities have all been disrupted and it has 

been down to the public and the leaders such as ourselves to try to steer through those disruptions’. 

The Lord Mayor stressed how no one was left untouched as individuals, families and communities have been impacted in some 

way by the pandemic with many experiencing losses during the difficult year. She mentioned businesses and organisations in 

this context, as they continue to grapple with many challenges that the pandemic poses. Nonetheless, she stated ‘I’m hopeful 

that there is light at the end of the tunnel, but it’s our job to steer the course as best as possible and this is why conversations 

like these are so important’. 

 The Lord Mayor cited a recent survey conducted by the Economic Development Office of Dublin City Council that explored 

the impact of the crisis on Dublin citizens. Key insights and trends from the survey included increased: cycling, walking, 

appreciation of wildlife, desire to be closer to nature and desire to support local businesses. Another insight was that of 

improved relationships among survey respondents. The Lord Mayor presented these insights as being significantly helpful to 

the forum in trying to understand the fears and concerns among citizens and establishing how the city could do better, how 

there could be better transport access and how to make the city whole again. 

In many ways, she said, the crisis has magnified pre-existing issues that each of Ireland’s cities have faced, namely inconsistencies 

and inadequacies within society and the economy. Furthermore, she 

stated: ‘prior to the crisis, but all the more now, it is clear that change is 

drastically needed to improve society. While I loathe to call anything that 

has been such a challenge and cost peoples’ lives an opportunity, there is 

an opportunity now within this crisis for us to instil change and change for 

the better’.     

In Dublin alone, the Lord Mayor highlighted that changes are needed to 

improve the city in many ways and despite its drastic and negative impact, 

the crisis produces an opportunity to plan in terms of the new Dublin City 

Development Plan19 and associated economic plans. Specifically, she explained that the summit was convened to consider 

together how we can reset, how we can support the goal of a better future, how to build Dublin back to what it was and also 

how to safeguard the city and build resilience for any future crises. She confirmed that the forum would hear from an extensive 

range of stakeholders and experts who would share different challenges and perspectives and expressed the hope of creating a 

good discussion around how to build a better city.

In concluding, the Lord Mayor thanked the various summit attendees and contributors as well as Dublin City Council who have 

been and will be vitally important in driving this initiative forward. She also conveyed her sincere gratitude to the speakers, 

panellists, moderators and the summit chairperson.  

Cllr. Hazel Chu was elected the 352nd Lord Mayor of Dublin on 29th June 2020 and 

is the 9th woman to hold the office of the Lord Mayor of Dublin. She was born and 

raised in Dublin; growing up in Firhouse, before moving to Celbridge and now living 

in Ranelagh. At UCD, she studied politics and history and subsequently trained as 

a barrister at Kings Inns. After being called to the Bar in 2007, Cllr. Chu worked in 

Sydney, Hong Kong and Guilin. Upon returning home she was offered a Fellowship 

by UCD Smurfit and worked in New York for Bord Bia. In addition, she has worked in 

various management roles and in 2013 became Diageo’s Head of Brand, Corporate 

and Trade Communications.

Decision-making, structures and 
daily living activities have all been 
disrupted and it has been down to 
the public and the leaders such as 
ourselves to try to steer through 

those disruptions

Prior to the crisis, but all the 
more now, it is clear that change 
is drastically needed to improve 
society. There is an opportunity 
now within this crisis for us to 

instil change and change for the 
better

19.      Dublin City Development Plan 2022-2028 

             www.dublincity.ie/residential/planning/strategic-planning/dublin-city-development-plan/development-plan-2022-2028

4. Reset Summit Contributions

Lord Mayor of Dublin, Hazel Chu

24 25

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 67

http://www.dublincity.ie/residential/planning/strategic-planning/dublin-city-development-plan/development-plan-2022-2028


4.1.2 Keynote Address / European Context

Mairéad McGuinness, European 
Commissioner for Financial Services, 

Financial Stability and Capital Markets 
Union, European Commission

Mairéad McGuinness is the European Commissioner for Financial Services, Financial 

Stability and Capital Markets Union. Before joining the Commission in October 

2020, Ms. McGuinness was First Vice-President of the European Parliament from 

2017. She served as an MEP from Ireland for 16 years and was a Vice-President of 

the Parliament since 2014. During her time in the Parliament, Ms. McGuinness sat on 

a range of committees, covering agriculture, environment, public health, budgets, 

petitions and constitutional affairs. Her legislative work included leading for the 

EPP Group on the European Climate Law, the revision of medical devices legislation 

and CAP reform post-2013. As an Irish MEP representing the border region, she was 

outspoken on Brexit and the consequences for the EU and Ireland. In 2006-2007, Ms. 

McGuinness chaired the Parliament’s investigation into the collapse of the Equitable 

Life assurance company which identified issues around weak financial regulation. Prior to becoming an MEP, she was an award-

winning journalist, broadcaster and commentator.

From the outset, I would say that 
the European Union is wanting to 
and will build back better, I think 
this is absolutely vital because of 

the crisis

The pandemic cannot   be used as 
an excuse to avoid urgent action on 
climate change, on environmental 

degradation and on biodiversity loss

Our hope should be  that the 
European Union and the United 
Kingdom  strike a deal and end 

the uncertainty facing businesses 
and citizens… Brexit is a lose-lose 

situation for both

Commissioner Mairéad McGuinness opened with her thanks for the invitation to the summit, expressing how good it was to 

be present online, in spite of missing Dublin and not being able to be 

physically in attendance. She extended thanks to Dublin City Council 

and said she was delighted to be involved in a very important exchange 

of views. She also conveyed her thanks to the Lord Mayor for her ‘words 

of wisdom’ and summary of the current situation and challenges faced 

due to COVID-19, reiterating how ‘we might make better changes to 

society and how we function because of the learnings from the crisis’. 

The Commissioner proceeded and stated: ‘from the outset, I would 

say that the European Union is wanting to and will build back better, I think this is absolutely vital because of the crisis’. 

As such, she wished to give a brief overview of the European Union’s (EU) response to the pandemic and the desire to build a 

more sustainable, digital Europe that breaks down barriers in the single market. Beginning with Ireland, she acknowledged that 

the Irish economy has been strongly impacted by COVID-19, particularly homegrown businesses and services requiring physical 

presence and interaction, such as transport, tourism and culture, many of which are concentrated in the Dublin region. She 

outlined the government interventions in Ireland, including the Pandemic Unemployment Payment20 and the Temporary Wage 

Subsidy Scheme21 which have helped to stabilise household incomes. 

She mentioned that member states including Ireland, are already drawing up national plans and it is expected that these will be 

approved next year, allowing money to flow to projects. She pointed out that this is not the only EU response available, naming 

loans under SURE24 the European instrument for temporary support to mitigate unemployment risks in an emergency that 

supports short-time work schemes and similar measures. Last week, the Commission allocated €2.5 billion to Ireland under 

SURE. It also introduced a more flexible framework on state aid, allowing governments to support sectors in need and again last 

week, she noted that the Commission approved Ireland’s applications to support tourism and performance venues. 

She highlighted that Ireland is facing a significant challenge from 

Brexit at the end of the transition that is fast approaching, while also 

coping with the impacts of the pandemic. She remarked that the Irish 

public authorities and businesses are putting in a lot of work trying 

to adjust to this new reality. In July, the EU’s national leaders reached 

a deal on the next long-term EU budget, which includes a €5 billion 

Brexit Adjustment Reserve to support the member states and sectors most affected by Brexit. She stated that Ireland will be 

hit more severely than any other member state, as confirmed by all objective analysis, saying ‘while we would rather this was 

not the case, it is simply a fact’. Explaining that this fund is intended to compensate for the negative impacts, she expressed 

confidence that it will be allocated accordingly. Indicating that others will suffer too, she stressed that this is not a compensation 

fund for one specific sector but rather is much wider in scope and that Ireland is ‘making its’ case and will continue to do so with 

considerable muscle’. 

Regarding Brexit, Commissioner McGuinness shared her views and 

stated: ‘our hope should be that the European Union and the United 

Kingdom strike a deal and end the uncertainty facing businesses and 

citizens. I’ve repeatedly said as an MEP and as a Commission member 

that Brexit is a lose-lose situation for both parties’. She outlined that 

the Commission is working to mitigate the costs and provide supports 

to those sectors and member states worst hit, and that while the 

adjustment fund is a help, it cannot fully compensate for the damage Brexit will cause.

At EU level, she introduced the main response to the economic crisis as the new Recovery and Resilience Facility22 which is part 

of the NextGenerationEU23 recovery package. It will finance national plans for recovery, containing investment and reforms 

that contribute to wider policy goals such as the green and digital transition. The Commissioner cautioned that ‘the pandemic 

cannot be used as an excuse to avoid urgent action on climate change, on environmental degradation and on biodiversity loss’. 

20.    Pandemic Unemployment Payment www.gov.ie/en/service/be74d3-covid-19-pandemic-unemployment-payment 

21.    Temporary Wage Subsidy Scheme www.revenue.ie/en/employing-people/twss/index.aspx 

22.    Recovery and Resilience Facility ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/recovery-coronavirus/recovery-and-resilience-facility_en  

23.    NextGenerationEU ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/recovery-plan-europe_en 

24.    SURE - ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/economic-and-fiscal-policy-coordination/financial-assistance-eu/funding-mechanisms-and-   

           facilities/sure_en

26 27

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 68

http://www.gov.ie/en/service/be74d3-covid-19-pandemic-unemployment-payment
http://www.revenue.ie/en/employing-people/twss/index.aspx
https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/recovery-coronavirus/recovery-and-resilience-facility_en
https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/recovery-plan-europe_en
http://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/economic-and-fiscal-policy-coordination/financial-assistance-eu/funding-mechanisms-and-facilities/sure_en
http://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/economic-and-fiscal-policy-coordination/financial-assistance-eu/funding-mechanisms-and-facilities/sure_en


We’ve seen the value of digital 
transformations for businesses and 

for consumers. The Commission 
supports this digitalization 
of financial services to help 

businesses, households during the 
pandemic, the recovery and beyond

Looking beyond the recovery, she moved on to the flagship initiatives in financial services and the approaches for trying to build 

a greener, digital future. She stated that the EU wants to support innovation and entrepreneurship. With the capital markets 

union25 representing a key part of her portfolio, she described it as trying to get funds to flow to businesses and SMEs as well 

as across borders. ‘At the moment, we know that European citizens are saving and deposits are increasing, but we need to put 

those savings to good use in terms of investment, and investor citizens need to be sure that their money is safe. We do need to 

create more financing opportunities, especially for SMEs, start-ups but large companies as well’.   

She explained that there are currently 27 national capital markets which 

are neither fully developed nor fully integrated and that the capital 

markets union is about working towards the completion of a single 

market for capital, emphasizing that there is a lot of work to do. While 

considering how to build a digital Europe, she said that despite the 

lockdown the financial sector continued to provide services remotely 

to customers thanks to digital services. In regard to digitalization, the 

Commissioner stated: ‘we’re all learning more skills in using digital 

and remote technologies to be connected and that’s all to the good. 

We’ve seen the value of digital transformations for businesses and for consumers. The Commission supports this digitalization 

of financial services to help businesses and households during the 

pandemic, the recovery and beyond’.   

According to the Commissioner, digital finance can help develop better 

financial products for consumers, including people currently unable 

to access financial services. The aim is to ensure that the EU remains 

among the leaders of digital development of the financial sector while 

addressing related risks. On the topic of building a more sustainable 

Europe, she stated that the EU’s Green Deal26 aims to cut greenhouse 

gas emissions by 55% (compared with 1990) by 2030 and to be climate neutral by 2050. ‘We are putting a lot of money behind 

this via the Sustainable Europe Investment Plan and this will mobilise at least €1 trillion in sustainable investments over the 

next decade. Part of this is the ‘just transition’ mechanism to support people in regions most affected by the climate transition’. 

However, she advised that public money can only go so far to meet investment needs towards this green and more sustainable 

future and that the private sector must and will have to be involved, and stressed: ‘that’s where the topic of sustainable finance 

is one of the priorities of the Commission and indeed a priority for me in my new role’. She referenced a number of important 

pieces of legislation in place, including the Taxonomy Regulation27, which is an EU-wide classification system for environmentally 

sustainable economic activities. 

‘But we want to go further’, she continued. ‘To build back better from this crisis, the Commission will present a renewed 

sustainable finance strategy next year. We will put EU financial systems on the path to reach our ambitious climate targets 

and our strategy will be comprehensive because there is no silver bullet to make our financial system more sustainable’. 

Commissioner McGuinness elaborated on the strategy, saying it aims to strengthen the foundations for sustainable investment 

by creating an enabling ecosystem, to increase opportunity for citizens, financial institutions and companies to have a positive 

impact on sustainability. The Commission wants to make sure that climate and environmental risks are managed and fully 

integrated into the financial system. In talking to many businesses and public authorities since taking on her new role, she 

highlighted how the issue of sustainability is very high on the agenda and believes the Commission has to seize this moment to 

make sure that it remains there and that the commitments are delivered upon. 

The Commissioner raised a subsequent issue which she hoped would 

garner support from the forum as well as member states and explained: 

‘I have a concern about financial literacy or indeed a concern that we as 

citizens are not financially literate. This means that we could be making 

better financial decisions about our retirement or borrowing or asking 

better questions of those we engage with. Put simply, the cost of financial 

illiteracy is very high, sadly it is paid disproportionately by the most vulnerable groups in society’. She gave the example of the 

third of EU households that are financially fragile, meaning they would not be able to face an unexpected expense in normal 

times, let alone during a pandemic.  

   

To demonstrate the low level of financial literacy, she cited a 2014 survey which 

revealed that about half of EU adults did not sufficiently understand basic 

financial concepts. While admitting that part of that may be due to the failure 

of the financial system to use language that is understandable and engaging 

for consumers, it is a topic she intends to address with both ‘soft power’ 

and any other available mechanisms. Furthermore, she elaborated: ‘at the 

moment, we’re looking at a framework for financial literacy and are carrying 

out engagement with stakeholders to see what is needed and what we as a 

Commission can do. At the end of the day, knowledge is power and I think for our consumers and citizens right across the 

European Union, to have better financial literacy is absolutely key’.

In closing, she conveyed her thanks for the opportunity to share this vision and said that the EU stands ready to support Dublin 

and indeed all the capitals and member states to reset, to rethink, to build back better after the COVID-19 crisis. Quoting the 

Lord Mayor, the Commissioner concluded that we should and must use whatever we learn as an opportunity to do things better 

for the future and that this conference was a good start in that direction. Her hope is to visit Dublin in the not-too-distant 

future and she looks forward to a time when people can again be physically present and engage. In the meantime, she wished 

everyone safe health during this difficult time in communities and a good conference.
25.    Capital markets union

           https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/growth-and-investment/capital-markets-union/what-capital-markets-union_en

26.    European Green Deal  ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal_en

27.    EU Taxonomy ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/banking-and-finance/sustainable-finance/eu-taxonomy-sustainable-activities_en 

We will put EU financial systems 
on the path to reach our ambitious 

climate targets and our strategy will 
be comprehensive because there is 

no silver bullet to make our financial 
system more sustainable

Put simply, the cost of financial 
illiteracy is very high, sadly it is 
paid disproportionately by the 

most vulnerable groups in society

At the end of the day, 
knowledge is power and 
I think for our consumers 

and citizens right across the 
European Union, to have 
better financial literacy is 

absolutely key

28 29

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 69

https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/growth-and-investment/capital-markets-union/what-capital-markets-union_en
https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal_en
https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/banking-and-finance/sustainable-finance/eu-taxonomy-sustainable-activities_en


4.1.3 Dublin City Context

Richard Shakespeare, Assistant Chief 
Executive, Dublin City Council

Richard Shakespeare holds over 22 years’ experience working at Dublin City Council 

and Dun Laoghaire Rathdown County Council. He is the Assistant Chief Executive for 

the Planning & Property Development and the Culture, Recreation and Economic 

Services Departments in Dublin City Council. Mr. Shakespeare oversees a dynamic 

and extensive brief responsible for the orderly development of Dublin City as a 

sustainable and living city in which people can live, work and form communities. He 

also oversees the Culture Recreation and Economic Services department which has 

experienced a considerable increase in service demand throughout the crisis period, 

assisting and supporting in excess of 7,900 businesses across the city. 

Richard Shakespeare acknowledged the Reset Summit Chairperson, the Lord Mayor 

and Commissioner McGuinness, while thanking everyone for participating in the Reset Summit, hosted virtually from Dublin 

city. He explained that the summit was designed to bring together many voices who will share their ideas on how Dublin is 

currently managing and how we can build a better future for those who live, work and visit our capital city. He proceeded to 

briefly outline the context of the summit and the evidence base that informs the understanding of how the city is responding to 

the pandemic and how we can work collectively to communicate and widen this evidence base and plan for the future.

Mr. Shakespeare highlighted how the COVID-19 crisis has had and will 

continue to have a significant impact on both society and the economy, 

stating ‘our city and region have changed tremendously during the last 

three quarters of this year. It will be some time before we see the full 

extent of the impact, which the crisis has had’. Nonetheless, during the 

crisis, Dublin City Council has been using various methods to monitor 

the impact where possible. These include the Your Dublin Your Voice 

citizen engagement survey panel and the Dublin Economic Monitor which 

provides key economic data regarding the city and region on a quarterly basis. Both offered some key insights and trends 

regarding the impact of the pandemic, which he shared as follows:  

• The pandemic restrictions have had a disproportionate effect on the Dublin labour market. Unemployment is higher in 

Dublin than the rest of the country, attributed to the concentration of service and hospitality sectors which have seen the 

most severe effects. 

• Remote working has been quickly adopted by office-based workers in Dublin. This has however in turn, contributed to 

increased office vacancy rates particularly in the Dublin 2 and 4 areas. It is important to note that increased remote working 

has also impacted footfall and spend in the city along with a reduction in public transport usage, which has reduced by over 

76% in Qtr. 2 2020. 

• Construction has slowed with completions down by 41% year on year which in turn, will negatively impact the already 

constrained housing supply in Dublin. In particular, the hospitality sector has suffered significantly. Dublin hotel occupancy 

rates were 13% in June and 20% in July compared to 85% and 77% year on year respectively. Sentiment from the latest Your 

Dublin Your Voice survey revealed that although respondents registered an increased desire to staycate more in Ireland, 

fewer were attracted to staycate more in Dublin. 

• The retail sector has been decimated as a result of the restrictions, however, sentiment and findings reveal a significant 

desire and choice among those living in the city to support local businesses. A trend Mr. Shakespeare is sure we will see 

furthermore in the run up to Christmas but one which ‘requires our continued and collective support’.   

• Increased environmental awareness has greatly accelerated as respondents to the survey highlighted the importance of 

the existing and the need to develop new nature and environmental amenities.   

Our city and region have changed 
tremendously during the last 

three quarters of this year. It will 
be some time before we see the 
full extent of the impact, which 

the crisis has had

The insights and ideas shared 
will help shape our COVID-19 

response both in the short and 
long term as we commence 

formulating a new Dublin City 
Development Plan and other 

initiatives

Mr. Shakespeare indicated that these and many other challenges would be 

considered on the relevant discussion panels and that the summit had been 

designed to focus on four interlinked themes, while not exhaustive are key 

elements or pillars to an economy, society and indeed a city and region like 

Dublin. These four themes of Innovation and Entrepreneurship, Sustainability 

and Climate Change, Employment and Skills, and Culture and Community 

would be discussed in detail by a respective panel comprised of key stakeholder 

representatives. 

He reiterated the purpose of the Reset Summit: to bring together a diverse grouping of stakeholders, policymakers and 

representatives to share perspectives, ideas and insights regarding both the challenges and opportunities of resetting and 

building back a better Dublin after the COVID-19 crisis. He emphasised that ‘the insights and ideas shared will help shape our 

COVID-19 response both in the short and long term as we commence formulating a new Dublin City Development Plan and 

other initiatives’. He said he was glad to see such a diverse and cross sectoral grouping present and that he looked forward 

to hearing the insights and ideas during the panel discussions. He thanked the contributors from both the public and private 

sectors who had come together to discuss the future of our city and region. 

30 31

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 70



4.1.4 Dublin Region Context

Declan Hughes, Assistant Secretary 
General, Department of Enterprise, Trade 

and Employment

Declan Hughes is the Assistant Secretary General in the Department of Enterprise, 

Trade and Employment. He is a member of the Management Board of the Department 

with responsibility for the Indigenous Enterprise, Digital and Finance Division and 

formerly the Strategic Policy Division and Management Support Unit. Mr. Hughes 

has over twenty years’ experience in enterprise policy and advisory roles. He was a 

member of the National Competitiveness Council, the Expert Group on Future Skills 

Needs and co-chair of the ICT Action Plan Group with the Department of Education 

and Skills and has led on the development of the annual Action Plan for Jobs, the 

trade and investment strategy, Ireland Connected, enterprise strategy and Enterprise 

Policy 2025. Prior to joining the Department in 2014, Mr. Hughes was a member of 

the Executive Committee of Forfás, the Government’s enterprise, trade, science and 

innovation advisory and coordination Board. He has also served on numerous EU and OECD Committees and is a member of 

the Institute of Directors of Ireland.

Declan Hughes thanked the Chairperson and congratulated the team on organising the event, one he described as very timely 

given the marked impact of COVID-19 on Dublin over the past six to 

nine months, particularly in the hospitality, retail and domestically 

trading sectors. In other areas, he said Dublin has continued to perform 

well particularly in the context of financial services and internationally 

trading businesses. He believed it was useful to reflect on Dublin’s 

overall role in terms of economic development as well as its role post-

Brexit and post-COVID, and stated: ‘Dublin plays a hugely important role 

in national economic development as it is our one city of international 

scale, it is a lighthouse for attracting investment on the global stage’. 

He went on to emphasise the importance of having a strong and competitive Dublin that can compete with key cities in Europe 

and internationally along with the importance of effective connectivity with the rest of the country such as Cork, Limerick, 

Galway, Waterford and the surrounding hinterland. Mr. Hughes wished to frame the day’s discussions in the context of the 

importance of the connectedness that Dublin has internationally as well as at a national level. 

A second point he made in relation to Dublin is that ‘it’s a collection of villages, a collection of four counties and four local 

authorities and also the centre for a range of agencies and bodies, so it’s important that the institutional structures actually 

work and that there are strong levels of collaboration’ which he commended the local authorities and Chief Executives for their 

work in this regard. 

Dublin plays a hugely important 
role in national economic 

development as it is our one 
city of international scale, it 
is a lighthouse for attracting 

investment on the global stage

He explained that the Regional Enterprise Plans28 (REPs) are part of that infrastructure, being enterprise led and led by business 

people while involving a range of agencies, regulators and others who contribute to the development of sectors and the 

provision of key infrastructure alike. Highlighting the importance of connections through initiatives such as the REPs, he stated: 

‘now, more than ever, it’s really important that we sustain those connections between all the various actors and stakeholders, 

that’s why this Reset Summit is very timely to renew that commitment to joint planning, to open engagement on development 

and to looking at where Dublin needs to go’.  

He then highlighted some areas important in the Governments 

response to both Brexit and COVID challenges and to the future which 

include: the Governments development of the national economic 

plan due to be published shortly, the establishment of a Small-

Medium Enterprises (SME) Task Force which will include some of the 

summit panellists and will be chaired by the Tánaiste and Minister 

for Enterprise, Trade and Employment, Leo Varadkar, to consider the 

key issues for SMEs and entrepreneurship into the future. In regard 

to feedback from the regional enterprise plan committees and the 

issues they are focusing on, Mr. Hughes hoped the day’s discussions 

could see if there are further initiatives that can be taken and how 

best Government departments such as the Department of Enterprise, 

Trade and Employment could provide support. 

He outlined the key labour market impacts that must be considered 

in the context of the post-COVID recovery, clarifying that at the peak 

in May, over 170,000 people were on the Pandemic Unemployment 

Payment as they had been laid off. Although many of those people 

were subsequently re-employed upon reopening, there were still 

115,000 dependent people. Nonetheless, he expressed hope that 

many of those will return to work over the coming weeks. Mr. Hughes acknowledged that there are many sectors, particularly: 

‘events and entertainment that have hit rock bottom, so there needs to be a clear focus on how those sectors can recover and 

rebound post-COVID’. 

He stressed the importance of not losing either the businesses or the skills from those sectors, and stated: ‘that issue of skills and 

talent is one where I think we’ve innovated in terms of the engagement between regional fora, employers and skills providers, 

but there is further work to do in terms of regional skills matching between the supply and demand side and ensuring that 

employers are fully engaged with the higher and further education sector in making sure we have the skills needed for the 

sectors of the future in Dublin’. 

Now more than ever, it’s really 
important  that we sustain those 

connections between all the 
various actors and stakeholders, 

that’s why this Reset Summit 
is  very timely to renew that 

commitment to joint planning, 
to open engagement on 

development and to looking at 
where Dublin needs to go

Many sectors… have hit rock 
bottom, there needs to be a clear 

focus on how those sectors can 
recover and rebound post-COVID

28.      Regional Enterprise Plans

           enterprise.gov.ie/en/What-We-Do/The-Business-Environment/Regional-Enterprise-Plans

32 33

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 71

https://enterprise.gov.ie/en/What-We-Do/The-Business-Environment/Regional-Enterprise-Plans/


Another point he made in relation to technology and innovation is that Dublin is a leader in terms of the businesses it has in key 

and emerging areas, such as cybersecurity, virtual reality and augmented reality. On the issue of how Dublin can increase digital 

adoption among businesses he said, ‘we know that less than half of small and micro-firms are digitally enabled, a key issue for 

them during COVID. Is there more Dublin could do in that area, particularly in terms of initiatives such as ‘Smart Dublin’, could 

they be taken forward?’

Mr. Hughes said that the start-up and entrepreneurship ecosystems 

need to have a strong focus on digitalisation, and praised the ‘great 

network of hubs, entrepreneurship and enterprise centres around 

Dublin’. However, an issue he cited concerns whether those hubs are of 

a suitable scale and capability that can help businesses to scale quickly. 

He confirmed that a number of hubs have been funded through the 

Regional Enterprise Development Funds29 over recent years including in Tallaght, St. Paul’s, the Guinness Enterprise Centre and 

now with Trinity College Dublin regarding the development of the Grand Canal Docks area. 

Delving deeper, he raised the issues of whether the hubs are adequately connected and whether Dublin has a sufficiently 

compelling entrepreneurship ecosystem that connects the funding, training, development, mentoring and other elements to 

put Dublin on the map as one of the well-known start-up capitals of Europe and internationally too. Linked to this he believes, is 

ensuring that Dublin is a liveable city, not only in trying to keep people 

safe during COVID, but also in it being attractive for people to live and 

work from home. He elaborated further, stating: ‘for the development 

of the city and villages that are all part of Dublin, we need to really 

think about the design, layout and connections between amenities, 

recreation, working and working from home now in addition to the 

arts and the entertainment sector’. 

He confirmed that his department was doing a lot of work with the local 

authorities to prepare for the December reopening. Incidentally, he 

said, this significantly brought to the fore, those connections between 

society and economic elements, for safe shopping and amenities in 

the run-up to Christmas as well as for next year. In addition, he concluded: ‘I see a lot of ambition from the local authorities to 

have that longer-term framework in place’. 

Concerning sustainability, Mr. Hughes recognised the very significant 

challenge in terms of decarbonising businesses and how we live and work. 

He noted Dublin Chambers Sustainability Academy30 in helping to get the 

message and knowledge out to businesses about the transition and Diageo’s 

decarbonisation initiative, but he questioned whether there are other 

initiatives and more that could be done in setting objectives for Dublin and further decarbonisation. He concluded by saying, 

‘we continue to work with the local authorities and will have additional funding available as announced under Budget 2021 next 

year and certainly the regional enterprise plans and the committees will look forward to advancing those initiatives’. 

Reset Summit was structured around four interlinked themes with each one being the focus of a panel discussion which featured 

expert and key stakeholder representatives. Panellists were asked to contribute from their perspective regarding their current 

context, a vision for the future and actions (ideas, interventions, examples) needed to realise their respective vision. The four 

themes and panel discussions were:

We know that less  than half of 
small and micro-firms are digitally 

enabled, a key issue for them 
during COVID

For the development of the city 
and villages that are all part of 
Dublin, we need to really think 
about  the design, layout and 

connections between amenities, 
recreation, working and working 
from home now in addition to the 

arts and entertainment sector

29.      Regional Enterprise Development Funds

             www.enterprise-ireland.com/en/Process/Companies/REDF-Grant-Types.html

I see a lot of ambition from 
the local authorities to have 

that longer-term framework in 
place

30.      Dublin Chamber Sustainability Academy  www.dublinchamber.ie/sustainability-academy

4.2 Panel Discussions

34 35

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

1.    Innovation & Entrepreneurship     

3.      Employment & Skills    

2.    Sustainability & Climate Change     

4.      Culture & Community    

Summit Panel DiscussionsReset

P
age 72

http://www.enterprise-ireland.com/en/Process/Companies/REDF-Grant-Types.html
http://www.dublinchamber.ie/sustainability-academy


     

With a small amount of time to cover a broad topic, the panel moderator Brian Caulfield31 apologised in advance if certain areas 

of interest weren’t covered. He invited the panellists to introduce themselves:

• Niall Campion is the Managing Director of VRAI32, a mostly export and data-driven virtual reality training company based 

in Dublin (with offices in Temple Bar) and the Dublin City Council Local Enterprise Office’s, Enterprise of the Year 2020. He 

wished to give the SME perspective on innovation.

• Eoghan Hanrahan is the Regional Director for Dublin at Enterprise Ireland33 which supports manufacturing and 

internationally traded service companies employing more than 10 people as well as the high potential start-up community. 

• Jamie Cudden leads the Smart City Programme34 in Dublin City Council. This involves looking at new and emerging 

technologies and how they can be adopted by the city to deliver better services and also how to support local companies, 

start-ups and the tech ecosystem in that process. 

• Dr. Roisin Lyons is an Assistant Professor of Entrepreneurship and Innovation at Dublin City University35 and is also on the 

management team for Start-Up Week Dublin, Student Start-Up Day and Team OSV. 

Introduction

Niall Campion, Managing Director, VRAI

Brian Caulfield introduced Niall Campion as an entrepreneur on the frontline, while congratulating him on recently raising 

funding for VRAI and asking him how entrepreneurs were being impacted by COVID-19 and what it was like trying to raise capital 

in the current climate.

Mr. Campion admitted that his company was lucky as their solution is suited to a remote working environment. He explained 

that at the start of the lockdown, they were awarded the Enterprise of the Year Award on a Monday and by Friday of that week, 

they were all working from home and commented: ‘I think we had 

10 different projects cancelled over two days. We were supposed to 

be filming in Somalia on St. Patrick’s Day so fortunately we didn’t go 

ahead with that because we’d still be stuck there had we gone’. ‘When 

everything just stopped’, Mr. Campion said ‘we had to decide whether 

to put everyone on furlough or take the opportunity to drive on, we 

decided to try the latter’. In regard to raising capital, he explained that 

VRAI is ‘fortunate to be a High Potential Start-up (HPSU) company and 

Enterprise Ireland saw the value in what we were doing and decided to back us. Based on their backing, we felt confident to be 

able to go to the market and seek private funding’. 

When everything just stopped, 
we had to decide whether to put 
everyone on furlough or take the 

opportunity to drive on, we decided 
to try the latter

31.      Brian Caulfield - Entrepreneur / Venture Capital Investor draperesprit.com / Board Member www.techireland.org / Chairperson 

            www.scaleireland.org

32.     VRAI vraisimulation.com

33.     Enterprise Ireland www.enterprise-ireland.com/en

34.     Smart City Programme https://www.dublincity.ie/business/economic-development-and-enterprise/smart-cities/smart-dublin 

35.     Dublin City University https://www.dcu.ie

Reset Summit - Panel 1
Innovation & Entrepreneurship

Panel
Moderator: Brian Caulfield Panellist: Niall Campion Panellist: Eoghan Hanrahan Panellist: Jamie Cudden Panellist: Roisin Lyons

Brian Caulfield is a 
serial entrepreneur, 
start-up adviser 
and venture 
capital investor. 
He previously 
successfully scaled 
and sold two 
start-ups, Exceptis 
Technologies and 
Similarity Systems. He 
is a venture partner 
at Draper Esprit, a 
company he helped 
lead through its 
public offering on the 
Dublin and London 
stock exchanges in 
2017. In addition 
he sits on a number 
of boards of early 
stage companies, 
is a board member 
of TechIreland and 
is the chairperson 
of Scale Ireland, an 
independent non-
profit organisation 
which advocates for 
Ireland’s start-ups.

Niall Campion is the 
founder & Managing 
Director of VRAI. 
He has previous 
experience as an 
award winning 
editor, director 
and visual effects 
artist working in the 
film and television 
industry on projects 
for the BBC, Disney, 
Netflix and RTE. In 
VRAI, Niall leads 
product development 
and customer 
engagement where 
he has delivered 
projects for the UN, 
IAG, Royal Air Force 
and Dstl. His efforts 
and passion to ensure 
that VRAI operates 
sustainably helped 
the company recently 
achieve recognition 
as Ireland’s Most 
Sustainable Startup at 
the National Startup 
Awards. 

Eoghan Hanrahan 
is the Regional 
Director, Dublin 
Region and Regional 
Development at 
Enterprise Ireland, 
the state agency 
responsible for 
the development 
and growth of Irish 
enterprises in world 
markets. He has 
over twenty years’ 
experience working 
in Enterprise Ireland 
across a number 
of divisions and is 
currently responsible 
for the extensive 
Dublin region and 
also for Regional 
Development as 
part of the Regional 
Division. 

Jamie Cudden 
leads Dublin City 
Council’s Smart City 
programme that 
is addressing city 
challenges through 
the application of 
new and emerging 
technology 
opportunities. 
He has delivered 
collaborations 
with world leading 
companies including 
Google, Bently, 
Softbank, Accenture, 
Microsoft, IBM 
and Intel. In 2015, 
he established 
the Smart Dublin 
regional initiative, 
an umbrella brand 
for the four Dublin 
local authorities 
and recently led the 
establishment of the 
Smart Docklands 
district which 
provides a platform to 
fast track innovation 
in the city. 

Dr. Lyons is an 
Assistant Professor 
of Entrepreneurship 
and Innovation 
who lecturers 
in innovation, 
entrepreneurship 
and social 
entrepreneurship 
at Dublin City 
University, Ireland 
and at Princess Nora 
bint Abdulrahman 
University, Saudi 
Arabia. Her research 
focus includes the 
development of 
entrepreneurial 
tendencies in 
individuals and in 
teams. In addition, 
she is the faculty 
advisor for Enactus 
DCU, University 
Captain for Dublin 
StartupWeek and a 
founding member of 
TeamOSV/OSVX.

36 37

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 73

https://draperesprit.com
http://www.techireland.org
http:// www.scaleireland.org
https://vraisimulation.com
http://www.enterprise-ireland.com/en
https://www.dublincity.ie/business/economic-development-and-enterprise/smart-cities/smart-dublin
https://www.dcu.ie/


VRAI raised around €600,000 which was enough to keep the company 

going and to develop their product for what they see as an opportunity 

coming out of COVID, which is focused on the idea of working and 

training remotely. Addressing the broader business perspective, Mr. 

Campion said his company has been in an office in Temple Bar for the 

past two years and he has worked and lived in Dublin for the last 20 

years. ‘In walking around Temple Bar, it’s like a ghost town; my fear 

is more around that because as a business that’s very proudly based 

in Dublin, how do we recover from what’s going on at the moment? 

We’ve been lucky because we’ve been backed by Enterprise Ireland and Dublin City Council in the early days, so it’s about how 

those supports can extend to other businesses in the area to maintain the whole ecosystem of companies’.

Mr. Caulfield commented that Mr. Campion’s contribution highlighted a key trend as mentioned by the Lord Mayor, that for 

some companies, COVID is creating an opportunity and those companies are finding it possible to raise funds. He turned to 

Eoghan Hanrahan to get a sense of the broader perspective from Enterprise Ireland, given its hundreds of client companies and 

to see how Enterprise Ireland is able to help companies respond to the crisis. 

This grant is aimed at supporting companies involved in medicinal 

products, treatments, medical devices and hospital equipment. For the 

broader ecosystem, Mr. Hanrahan elaborated upon Mr. Hughes earlier 

mention of the Enterprise Centres Scheme through the Department of 

Enterprise, Trade and Employment. He said that there have been 17 

centres supported to the value of €1.7 million for Dublin and that the 

Regional Enterprise Development Fund has supported seven companies in 

Dublin to the value of €11.5 million. ‘The key issue is to drive that level of 

support and make sure that we continue to have those vibrant companies 

going forward’, he concluded.  

Asked by Mr. Caulfield if he has seen any significant drop-off in activity or 

if the sector is still vibrant, Mr. Hanrahan shared the key message that, ‘it’s still vibrant, our supports are still there for R&D, 

innovation partnerships, R&D agile, the business innovation initiative and IHPSU support. They’re being actively sought as a 

support mechanism, it’s still very important for companies to seek those supports in terms of that innovative landscape and for 

them to look at what products and processes to adopt to be futureproof’. 

On the topic of opportunities born out of crisis, as mentioned by the Lord 

Mayor, Mr. Caulfield asked Jamie Cudden where he sees the opportunities 

and what the vision for innovation and entrepreneurship in Dublin is.  

Mr. Cudden began by referencing some of the previous speakers’ comments 

about the big investment coming from Europe in response to climate and 

COVID-19 challenges. He then stated, ‘Dublin is an amazing tech cluster, 

we’ve got world-leading technology companies, start-ups and research 

centres, so if we can leverage this digital opportunity and make sure that 

that’s been seen by local companies, SMEs and spin-outs. The role the city 

can play in that is to be open and clear regarding the challenges that we 

are trying to face, be more proactive in procurement to make sure those opportunities are available and hopefully support local 

companies’. 

Speaking about some of the programmes over recent years, such as the Internet of Things, 5G, Virtual Reality (VR) and Augmented 

Reality (AR), Mr. Cudden said that these were seen by some as ‘nice to have’ projects before March 2020, whereas now a lot of 

these are absolutely essential.

‘While there are some companies and sectors like VRAI that have done well and continue to do well which is great, what we’re 

seeing is that SMEs have been significantly impacted by COVID and have had to diversify, pivot, and re-evaluate’, was Eoghan 

Hanrahan’s opening remark. In response to these companies, he introduced the Sustaining Enterprise Fund36 through the 

Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment which has two elements:

 

1. A smaller fund that provides support between €25,000 and €50,000 to address liquidity issues; and

2. A larger fund up to €800,000 to support companies that are looking at the broader liquidity gap that they need to address, 

which includes provision for up to €200,000 with 50% of the support being a non-repayable grant. 

Mr. Hanrahan confirmed that Enterprise Ireland has also introduced a 

COVID-19 Business Financial Planning Grant37 of €5,000 which focuses 

on supporting companies regarding finances and helping them to be 

better prepared for looking forward. He also mentioned the COVID-19 

Life Sciences Fund and supports that are ‘within the innovative space 

to address the COVID-19 challenges with three associated measures of R&D, testing infrastructure and capital infrastructure for 

production equipment’. 

We’ve been lucky because we’ve 
been backed by Enterprise Ireland 

and Dublin City Council in the 
early days, so it’s about how those 

supports can extend to other 
businesses in the area to maintain 
the whole ecosystem of companies

When everyone is working 
from home; when you’re 

looking for digital services 
from government or from your 

city, when you are looking at 
the experience from tourism – 
everything to do with digital is 
an opportunity at the moment

It’s still vibrant, our supports 
are still there… They’re being 
actively sought as a support 

mechanism, it’s still very 
important for companies to seek 
those supports in terms of that 

innovative landscape and for 
them to look at what products 
and processes to adopt to be 

futureproof

Eoghan Hanrahan, Regional Director, Dublin Region and Regional Development, Enterprise Ireland Jamie Cudden, Smart City Programme Manager, Dublin City Council 

What we’re seeing is that SMEs 
have been significantly impacted 

by COVID and have had to diversify, 
pivot and re-evaluate

36.      Sustaining Enterprise Fund 

            www.enterprise-ireland.com/en/funding-supports/Company/Esetablish-SME-Funding/Sustaining-Enterprise-Fund.html

37.      COVID-19 Business Financial Planning Grant 

            www.enterprise-ireland.com/en/funding-supports/Company/Esetablish-SME-Funding/Covid-19-Business-Financial-Planning-Grant.html 

38 39

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 74

http://www.enterprise-ireland.com/en/funding-supports/Company/Esetablish-SME-Funding/Sustaining-Enterprise-Fund.html
http://www.enterprise-ireland.com/en/funding-supports/Company/Esetablish-SME-Funding/Covid-19-Business-Financial-Planning-Grant.html


 ‘When everyone is working from home; when you are looking for digital services from government or from your city, when 

you’re looking at the experience from tourism – everything to do with digital is an opportunity at the moment’. He believes we 

need to leverage that and make sure there are no regulatory or policy barriers, but instead, make it quicker to get things done 

in Dublin and use the city as a test bed. In addition, he mentioned micro-mobility and mobility as a service as other areas in 

terms of making it easier for citizens. He suggested that if you can solve some of these challenges and adopt them in Dublin or in 

Ireland, there is a global market out there: ‘I always say to companies that it’s not about how much money you’ll make in Dublin, 

it’s about thinking of the bigger picture, thinking about what you can export. From what I see in the companies we work with, 

the future is looking very bright for Dublin’.  

Given her role as an academic, Mr. Caulfield sought the views of Dr. Lyons on the broader picture internationally regarding what 

has worked well elsewhere and where there are lessons we might draw on in order to develop Dublin.

Dr. Lyons repeated what the Lord Mayor mentioned about still being in 

the midst of the pandemic and cautioned about it being too early to make 

statements about what has worked and what we can learn. Having said that, 

she highlighted that there have been a number of cities working on this kind 

of digital transition and looking at the future of work for a number of years. 

Citing Luxembourg as a good example of a regional hub and a city of financial 

tech, she described the joint public and private sector initiative for fintech as, ‘a 

real hub where all the businesses and incubation centres are housed under one 

unit’. She also observed that they have been exploring blockchain technology and had published their AI strategy in 2014 when 

they started working on promoting digitalisation to their citizens and businesses, concluding that ‘they have been working on 

that awareness and education piece for some time’. 

In regard to Dublin, Dr. Lyons explained that ‘research is suggesting that we’re looking at these kinds of villages and nodes a bit 

more firmly, where people are creating tribes, centres or nodular communities for their specialisms’. She believes that Dublin 

might be well placed for this because, as Mr. Hughes noted, ‘we are a city of villages’ so that might work well. Reiterating Mr. 

Cudden’s point about Dublin’s opportunity to be a smart city, Dr. Lyons informed the forum about Eindhoven where the city has 

been drawing on nudge theory, which she explained ‘is where you try to change 

behaviour without necessarily changing someone’s mind about something, by 

building structures and choice architecture to help people make better and more 

positive behavioural change’. She elaborated on how Eindhoven has connected 

data to their light systems and shared the example of when they are trying to 

break up fights and things like that, the lights change colour to try and draw 

people away from crowds and change behaviour. ‘I think that connection of good 

research and knowledge of human behaviour, that kind of choice architecture 

and data-driven policy can really set ourselves up. The important thing is that as 

we try to reset, we don’t want to delete our unsaved work, we have to be thoughtful about the way that we reset our city’. 

Mr. Caulfield picked out a particularly interesting point made by Dr. Lyons, that sometimes when we talk about ‘tech’, people 

tend to think exclusively about digital technologies, whereas it is a much broader space in terms of areas like food tech and 

clean tech and others that are all very important in this scenario. Having talked about where we are and what the possible vision 

for the future is, Mr. Caulfield reverted to Mr. Campion to ask, ‘what are the things that you think need to be better and need to 

be in place for a better future from an entrepreneurship perspective in the city, what needs to change?’

While agreeing that it was a very interesting theme, how a crisis in many cases overcomes inertia and allows things to develop 

more quickly, Mr. Caulfield questioned whether it perhaps also creates the risk of enhancing the digital divide and raised 

concerns about what that might mean for citizens. In this context, he introduced Dr. Roisin Lyons as someone involved with 

social entrepreneurship and innovation, asking her if its role could help address the digital divide.     

‘Definitely, social entrepreneurship can help everything,’ was Roisin Lyons 

response. First of all, she said ‘it is interesting to look at the words digital 

divide’, believing it is more appropriate to call it the digital spectrum 

because ‘we’re all on it and the more we get rid of these divisional terms 

the better’. Dr. Lyons explained the ethos of social enterprise as solving 

problems that are related to cultural, social and economic welfare. ‘We’ve 

seen an upsurge in social enterprise support in the last couple of months 

with increased localisation, we’ve seen social enterprises featured on 

television, we’ve seen a lot of policy projects and I think we need to keep 

that momentum up, post the Christmas wave where we’re all trying to 

support local, and push that into the next year’.  

She suggested looking at social enterprises in the digital space and not just 

in training provision but something smarter, echoing Mr. Cudden and stated: ‘we have such a focus on technology in Dublin, we 

should be leveraging that in clever ways, not just looking at social enterprise in terms of sustainability or food tech, but in terms 

of other types of tech too’. Dr. Lyons proposed that in thinking about the digital spectrum and trying to help SMEs in particular 

which need support regarding digital adoption, we can also look to education. Speaking from her experience, she said that it 

is great when students get to work on real projects, ‘we have a huge number of institutions, universities, data centres and tech 

companies in Dublin, we should be putting our computing, engineering and business students to work on real cases to try to 

help our smaller businesses through that digital divide as well’. 

Dr. Roisin Lyons, Assistant Professor of Entrepreneurship and Innovation, Dublin City University 

We have a huge  number of 
institutions, universities, data 
centres and tech companies in 
Dublin, we should be putting 
our computing, engineering 
& business students to work 

on real cases to try to help our 
smaller businesses through that 

digital divide as well

Panel Discussion

The tech industry is ok and if 
anything, we are benefitting 
more from people working 
remotely, but it’s about the 

broader entrepreneurial 
ecosystem

We run our business 
on a triple bottom line 

framework, we don’t just 
measure business success 
based on profit, it’s about 

people and planet

40 41

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 75



Ireland should be the place 
that’s innovating instead 
of selling the innovation 
everywhere else and as a 

city, we want to make sure 
that we’re able to support 
that, that we’re part of the 

digital journey with the 
innovative ecosystem we 

have
We’re setting up a new 

telecomms unit in Dublin 
City Council, to reduce 

bureaucracy and red tape 
to ensure that all things 

telecomms roll out as 
fast as possible and that 
Dublin is one of the most 

attractive cities to invest in

Mr. Campion replied in two parts, from a personal perspective and a broader ecosystem viewpoint respectively. ‘For us, the 

biggest challenge is trying to justify having an office space at the moment, having this space in Temple Bar is our most expensive 

employee and because we have investment now, we have to justify every expense to our investors’. He feels that as a proudly 

Irish and Dublin company, it’s about maintaining a presence but questioned if they are going to be able to sustain that going 

forward. His preference is to always live in a city, and on the debate about why you would live in a city and not in the countryside 

on the west coast of Ireland connected to a broadband network, he believes it comes back to culture and the wider community 

and suggests that that’s where the supports need to go. ‘The tech industry is ok and if anything, we are benefitting more from 

people working remotely, but it’s about the broader entrepreneurial ecosystem’. 

Speaking of his experience of losing his job in the last recession and starting work in a 

small start-up afterwards, he suggested that it is about how you support the 300,000 

people who have lost their jobs to access micro-financing to set up by themselves 

before they end up on the Enterprise Ireland support system, recognising that this 

was great for his type of company but not for a one/two-person band with an idea. 

‘I guess that’s where the LEOs come in but even at the level before that, how do you 

become aware of a LEO or if you have an idea for a business, how do you go to set 

that up, particularly if you’re someone who has been made recently unemployed? 

For an ecosystem to grow like that, it will come from people who’ve lost their jobs 

and are looking for something to do now. I don’t have the answer but it’s important to consider how we support those people’. 

On a tangential note and something his company is passionate about, Mr. 

Campion spoke about ‘building back better’ and the opportunities around how 

to support new businesses. He explained, ‘we run our business on a triple bottom 

line framework, we don’t just measure business success based on profit, it’s 

about people and planet. When you talk about Enterprise Ireland support, they 

measure not just your profitability but also your employment, but I think planet 

could be added into that as well, as a way of supporting new businesses to grow 

in a more sustainable way’. He clarified ‘sustainable’ as businesses that focus on 

longevity as opposed to businesses that exist then disappear or are purely set up 

for profitability reasons. He advocated for the Triple Bottom Line and B Corp status 

approaches, hoping that they can be introduced and encouraged as opportunities 

for new businesses, ‘that they’re encouraged to not just focus on profit, but on jobs and the planet as well’. 

Mr. Caufield agreed that this is of great importance and noted an interesting trend of more businesses being organised as 

Companies Limited by Guarantee (CLGs) or non-profits, driven as much by mission as by profitability. Clearly, he said, jobs in 

those kinds of businesses are every bit as valuable to the economy and the future of the city as profit-based businesses are. 

He turned to Mr. Hanrahan about future supports that Enterprise Ireland might provide and how the support infrastructure for 

entrepreneurs and innovation might evolve in the future. 

Mr. Hanrahan reminded the forum about the cornerstone of key supports introduced by the government in 2020 in terms of 

the R&D and innovation landscape on the one side and the high potential start-up space, as two very important areas that 

Enterprise Ireland will continue to support companies on into the future. Looking forward, he confirmed the key areas that 

Enterprise Ireland will focus on: Brexit, competitiveness, innovation supports and diversification supports, with the supports 

being addressed and modified as needed. ‘In terms of enhancing and increasing digitisation, as an agency for a small island 

economy, we have to look at diversification and supporting companies to export’. In conclusion, he said the key areas that are 

there and will continue to be there in terms of the particular panel discussion are: R&D, innovation and supporting the start-up 

community for companies that have high potential and are going to grow into the future.  

   

With several summit attendees commenting on the importance of the ‘triple 

bottom line’, not just focusing on profit but also on the planet, Mr. Caulfield hoped 

that these questions were addressed in the discussion. He asked Mr. Cudden for 

his final thoughts on the specific things that need to be done in Dublin, what 

infrastructure is needed to be put in place, what changes are needed to create a 

great innovation and entrepreneurship city. 

Although a ‘big question’, Mr. Cudden mentioned connectivity, especially as 

everyone had to move to working from home. He elaborated further stating, 

‘we’re setting up a new telecoms unit in Dublin City Council, to reduce 

bureaucracy and red tape to ensure that all things telecom roll out as fast as 

possible and that Dublin is one of the most attractive cities to invest in’. On the 

theme of technologies like 5G, he proposed that it could be very transformative from an innovation and societal perspective, 

to be thinking of the city at the forefront of all things technology. He advised however, that ‘with these new investments we 

need to think about the digital layer and the data we capture on the back of them, so that we can monitor our environment and 

air quality, for example’. He believes the Internet of Things offers a transformative 

opportunity for society as well. ‘For the city, we need to have the mindset that we’re 

thinking about the future and move away more from a traditional engineering view 

of the world, where everything is in a silo in a big project and consider what that 

digital layer is on top’. 

He broached the opportunity of govtech, saying that we need to make sure that 

export-orientated companies based here have the opportunity to deploy solutions 

within government and cities. Mr. Cudden concluded, ‘I think that Ireland should be 

the place that’s innovating instead of selling the innovation everywhere else and as 

a city, we want to make sure that we’re able to support that, that we’re part of the digital journey with the innovative ecosystem 

we have’. 

The jobs we create, the 
disruption that we create in 

our systems, the way that 
we collect information and 
the way we put people to 

work, has to be focused on 
the climate crisis

In terms of enhancing & 
increasing digitisation, 
as an agency for a small 

island economy, we have 
to look at diversification & 
supporting companies to 

export

42 43

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 76



44 45

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

Mr. Caulfield directed a final question to Dr. Lyons, ‘how do we make sure that the economic recovery is regenerative and 

redistributive without impacting the environment?’  

Dr. Lyons acknowledged that the focus has to be on the environment, and that while we are going to reset from this terrible 

year, the climate crisis is upon us and that is the real fight. She explained that ‘the jobs we create, the disruption we create in our 

systems, the way we collect information and the way we put people to work has to be focused on the climate crisis. This is our 

priming opportunity to set things right and we need to retrain some of our workforce to really push forward into that space’. She 

gave the example of some countries that are retraining janitors in sustainable practices for running buildings and using tech to 

provide options for remote workers in different areas or disadvantaged people to be able to move on from the next crisis. She 

feels, ‘if we put our best minds to work, create some really good systematic collaboration and good system platforms, those 

things will start to work together’.  

P
age 77



Reset Summit - Panel 2
Sustainability & Climate Change

Panel

Dr. Dekker is Dublin 
City Council’s Climate 
Action Coordinator. 
She holds a PhD in 
Environmental Policy 
from University 
College Dublin, an 
MSc in Public Affairs 
from Sciences Po 
Paris and an MSc in 
Public Policy from 
the Lee Kuan Yew 
School, Singapore. 
She has worked as a 
research fellow with 
the Secretariat of 
the Climate Change 
Advisory Council. 
Recently, she 
developed the climate 
change action plans 
for the four Dublin 
Local Authorities and 
is responsible for the 
implementation of 
Dublin City Council’s 
Climate Change 
Action Plan 2019-
2024.

Brian Jordan is 
Head of Innovation 
& Industry Solutions 
at Cisco Ireland. He 
has worked for major 
multinationals such 
as Digital Equipment 
Corporation, 
Nixdorf, Dell, Sun 
Microsystems and 
Cisco. His current 
role focuses on 
helping customers 
with digitisation by 
leveraging emerging 
technologies 
including IOT, 
blockchain and AI. 
As part of the Cisco 
Ireland Management 
Team, he is currently 
driving many 
initiatives around 
sustainability with 
customers, which is 
becoming a major 
board level issue.

William Walsh is 
the Chief Executive 
Officer at SEAI, 
having previously 
held the position 
of Chief Operations 
Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer. He 
joined SEAI in 2013. 
Previously, he worked 
for IFI where he held 
a number of roles 
including Assistant 
Chief Executive 
Officer and Director. 
He has also held 
senior management 
positions in the 
private sector. 
William is a Chartered 
Accountant, holds a 
Bachelor of Business 
Studies from Dublin 
City University and a 
Graduate Diploma in 
Strategy, Innovation 
and Change from 
University College 
Dublin.

Shane Dineen is 
the Environment & 
Planning Manager 
at Fáilte Ireland, the 
National Tourism 
Development 
Authority having 
taken up the role in 
2018. He previously 
practiced as a 
Planner in Dublin City 
Council for over 12 
years. He represents 
Fáilte Ireland on the 
Sustainable Tourism 
Working Group which 
to date has reviewed 
international policy 
and best practice in 
sustainable tourism 
and proposed 
guiding principles for 
sustainable tourism 
policy development in 
Ireland. 

John O’Hara is the 
City Planning Officer 
and Head of Land 
Use Policy at Dublin 
City Council. He 
works closely with 
the Chief Executive, 
Elected Members and 
external agencies 
in the delivery of 
strategic planning 
for the City, through 
the Development 
Plan, Local Area 
Plans and Strategic 
Development Zones 
schemes. He has over 
30 years of planning 
and local government 
experience in the 
United Kingdom 
and Ireland and 
previously managed 
the planning process 
for projects such as 
the Aviva Stadium 
redevelopment and 
also the expansion of 
Liverpool Airport.

Moderator: Dr. Sabrina Dekker Panellist: Brian Jordan Panellist: William Walsh Panellist: Shane Dineen Panellist: John O’Hara

Introduction

38.     Dublin City Council www.dublincity.ie

39.     Cisco www.cisco.com

40.     Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland (SEAI) www.seai.ie

41.     Fáilte Ireland www.failteireland.ie

42.     Tourism Recovery Plan 2020-2023 www.gov.ie/en/publication/be0cb-tourism-recovery-plan-2020-2023

43.     American Society of Heating, Refrigerating & Air Conditioning Engineers ASHRAE www.ashrae.org

Brian Jordan, Head of Innovation & Industry Solutions, Cisco

Dr. Sabrina Dekker, the Climate Action Coordinator at Dublin City Council38 welcomed everyone to the panel on sustainability 

and climate change and thanked the panellists before inviting them to introduce themselves:

• Brian Jordan works for Cisco39 Ireland in the CTO office and has responsibility for driving innovation projects at a national 

level. He looked forward to sharing lots of relevant examples of technology supporting sustainability and climate change.  

• William Walsh is the CEO of the SEAI40, the country’s national energy authority which provides evidence based advice from 

experts through research and commissioned reports, to policymakers and runs programmes of action to support policy. 

As a state agency with a national remit, SEAI has approximately 100 employees and a budget of €200 million, moving to 50 

extra employees and a budget of €350 million next year which signals the government’s intent to increase the ambition and 

tackling of issues identified in the Programme for Government and Climate Action Plan 2019.

• Shane Dineen is the Environment and Planning Manager at Fáilte Ireland41, the national tourism development authority. 

He is responsible for managing the discharge of statutory roles as a prescribed body in the planning process, providing 

environmental expertise to the sustainable development of national tourism plans and projects and supporting the 

sustainable development of the experience brands: Wild Atlantic Way, Ireland’s Ancient East, Dublin and Ireland’s Hidden 

Heartlands. Recently, he was a member of the sustainability work stream of the tourism recovery task force that published 

the Tourism Recovery Plan 2020-202342 in October, a report that included a set of recommendations to government on how 

best the Irish tourism sector can adapt and recover in the changed tourism environment as a result of the pandemic. 

• John O’Hara is the City Planning Officer at Dublin City Council, whose main job over the next two years, in conjunction with 

the 63 city councillors is the preparation of the new city development plan. As well as the major challenges on foot of what 

was being discussed at the forum, he pointed out that the population of the city is expected to grow by 60,000 to 70,000 in 

the next six or seven years. ‘So there are challenges and opportunities of getting the infrastructure right to serve the new 

population, making sure it’s a mixed-use city and that in the medium to long term it’s a city of new places where people 

can work, live and enjoy it’. He made the case that cities are not dead because of the COVID pandemic but are vibrant and 

resilient, saying that we have a lot of work to do to put a plan in place to ensure that happens.  

Dr. Dekker launched the discussion by asking: what could Dublin learn from other cities or regions in relation to sustainability 

and climate change? Brian Jordan shared some examples on the theme of building back better and stated, ‘we can definitely 

build buildings back better, whether we’re retrofitting them or they are greenfield buildings’. In constructing a state-of-the-

art connected building at the headquarters of ASHRAE43 (American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning 

Engineers) in Atlanta, his company proved that ‘if we use modern technology to run all the systems in a very connected way, not 

only can we build cheaper, but we can also operate a lot better because we can get much better energy and utilisation efficiency 

within the buildings’. 

46 47

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 78

http://www.dublincity.ie
http://www.cisco.com
http://www.seai.ie
http://www.failteireland.ie
http://www.gov.ie/en/publication/be0cb-tourism-recovery-plan-2020-2023
http://www.ashrae.org


If we use modern 
technology to run all 
the systems in a very 

connected way, not only 
can we build cheaper, but 
we can also operate a lot 

better because we can 
get much better energy 

and utilisation efficiency 
within the buildings

As people are going to 
be spending more time 
in their homes, the co-
benefits of retrofit will 

mean more comfortable, 
healthier homes and 

scope for energy 
efficiency savings and 

reduced emissions

If we are going to 
develop a compact 

city… in order to 
reduce urban sprawl 

and the carbon 
footprint, the corollary 
of that is the green city

Sustainability is deeply 
embedded in their whole 
of government approach 

and in their societies,     
they have integrated 
sustainability from a 

social, environmental 
&  economic perspective 

into their destinations 
and their destination 

branding, they have set it 
as a major goal and made 
it a fundamental part of 
all decisions and actions 

William Walsh, Chief Executive Officer, SEAI

Shane Dineen, Environment & Planning Manager, Fáilte Ireland

John O’Hara, City Planning Officer, Dublin City Council

44.      Mi-IDEA https://gblogs.cisco.com/uki/our-hive-for-innovation-in-manchester-mi-idea-opens-for-business/ 

            & bruntwood.co.uk/our-locations/manchester/manchester-science-park

He noted that Microsoft has now adopted these principles for approximately 

seventeen of their buildings, including the E360 headquarters in the United States, 

emphasising that this is the way we need to think about building our buildings 

better. 

Mr. Jordan moved on to waste recovery as his second example and referenced a pilot 

project his company is working on with the city of Charlotte in the United States, 

where citizens are rewarded for their smart collection behaviour. He explained: 

‘we’re getting citizens to use smart bags to return cleaned cans and plastic bottles, 

so we’re decontaminating at the citizen level before the product comes back which 

is a huge issue for a lot of our waste recovery approaches at the moment’. The third 

idea he profiled was the Mi-IDEA44 building in Manchester that has a large Tesla 

battery outside it which charges at night using cheap energy and then powers the building during the day to consume that 

energy. While the data is yet to be assessed, he is excited to see this and different approaches which are helping with climate 

change and sustainability.

While we can learn from many cities, the most relevant according to John O’Hara were 

the ‘15-minute cities’ such as Paris (France), Melbourne (Australia) and Portland (United 

States). He explained that the council has been considering this mixed-use or proximity-

principle city as part of previous city development plans. The concept envisages that all 

the functions that residents need for living, working, caring, learning, and enjoying are 

within 15 minutes by walking, cycling or good public transport, thereby reducing the 

dependency on car-based transport and subsequently urban sprawl. He proposed, ‘In 

that way of making a more compact city where all the things residents need to have a 

good life are close by, like in other European and new world cities, those concepts are 

worth pursuing at all levels from top down and bottom up to develop communities’. 

In terms of tourism and what Dublin can learn from other cities and regions, Shane 

Dineen acknowledged that in the short-term, it is crucial to support businesses 

to survive but moving to the medium to long term, it will be important to ensure 

that the recovery and growth of the tourism sector, is based on a sustainable and 

a balanced approach. He elaborated that this involves ‘environmental protection, 

economic competitiveness, community involvement and visitor expectations 

continuing to be met and exceeded’, which he explained ‘will all play a key part in 

successfully achieving and benefitting from this approach’.  

When it comes to international best practice and the key leaders in sustainable 

tourism practices, he referenced the Scandinavian nations, such as Finland, Norway 

and Sweden along with New Zealand and Slovenia which are emerging as world 

leaders. Speaking about what we can learn from these nations, he outlined that 

‘sustainability is deeply embedded in their whole of government approach and in 

their societies, they have integrated sustainability from a social, environmental 

and economic perspective into their destinations and their destination branding, 

they have set it as a major goal and made it a fundamental part of all decisions and 

actions’. According to Mr. Dineen, what is key in those areas, cities, regions and nations is that the successful implementation has 

only been possible through a multi-stakeholder approach, getting buy-in from businesses, and regional and local governments. 

In relation to Dublin going forward from a sustainable tourism perspective, using the old adage that ‘if you can’t measure, 

you can’t manage’, he stressed the importance of measuring performance and setting performance indicators that allow the 

monitoring of sustainability performance and progress.

William Walsh firstly complemented Mr. Jordan’s innovative ideas and agreed that from an Irish context, we need to see what 

works well elsewhere. He cited the example of the congestion charges in London, recognising that transport emissions are and 

will continue to be a significant challenge for Ireland. Another major challenge he highlighted for the country between now 

and 2030 is retrofitting, with 500,000 buildings needing to be to a certain level during this period. However, he highlighted the 

opportunity that exists post-COVID, ‘as people are going to be spending more time in 

their homes, the co-benefits of retrofit will mean more comfortable, healthier homes 

and scope for energy efficiency savings and reduced emissions’. Mr. Walsh sees a 

significant opportunity regarding building back and from the Dublin perspective, 

he cited district heating as a potential model and the work underway to utilise heat 

coming from the waste-to-energy site in Ringsend. 

On the concept of greenways, he praised the fantastic work by local authorities 

and the signal by government that there is going to be continued and substantial 

investment in walkways and greenways to support citizens in their day-to-day lives. 

He stated, ‘we’ve got some bounce from COVID on greenways to reset things and it’s 

the same with the retrofit space’ and then cited another positive aspect stemming 

from the COVID-19 crisis, ‘people are clearly hungry to invest in their homes and the money to do that may exist in their savings 

accounts via extra money saved during COVID’. Mr. Walsh concluded that all of these are opportunities in terms of building back 

stronger and building a better city. 

48 49

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 79

https://gblogs.cisco.com/uki/our-hive-for-innovation-in-manchester-mi-idea-opens-for-business/
https://bruntwood.co.uk/our-locations/manchester/manchester-science-park/


Panel Discussion

When you start thinking 
about trying to get social 

green behaviour right 
across citizens… and 

you start applying this 
social reward system or 

gamification right across 
all your green activities, 

then you have a platform 
for motivation

In reference to previous comments about urban villages, with twenty to thirty in the Dublin area, Mr. O’Hara believes this 

principle will be very important, whilst at the same time keeping the other goal in mind, that ‘we are an international city, we 

have to retain our character and those aspects that make people want to invest in it’. He expanded on this point and stated ‘if 

we are going to develop a compact city with higher densities and maybe taller buildings in order to reduce urban sprawl and 

the carbon footprint, the corollary of that is the green city, making use of the greenways: Dublin Bay, the River Liffey and other 

rivers and canals so those become green areas’. Highlighting the multifaceted aspect of green areas, he explained that they are 

not just for recreation and proposed that recreation is integrated with carbon sequestration, more trees, SUDs drainage sewers 

to attenuate rain run-off via ground soakage and that a coherent whole green system is developed as a corollary to quality 

densification in the city, which he added is done in places like Vancouver where the two are interlinked.   

Sharing another example he described how in Manchester, they were considering that, ‘if you arrived at a bus stop, you could 

see on the digital signage that the next bus is ten minutes away, you would then receive a suggestion stating that the next bus 

stop is only 500 metres away so why not walk and you will receive a discount if you get on the bus. You are encouraging people to 

be even greener and walk around’. He would welcome further discussions on gamification and how to change social behaviour 

and buy-in for creating a whole low carbon city. 

From a tourism perspective and the future and potential for Dublin, Mr. Dineen spoke 

about how before the pandemic, Dublin was a major gateway into the country receiving 

85% of all international arrivals. ‘We’re always cognisant that what makes a good city for 

people to live and work in, also makes a good city to visit, so looking at how can Dublin 

pivot and create a future city to engage citizens and visitors, we would like to think that 

tourism will have the ability to make a considerable contribution again to the socio-

economic development of the city and region’. Touching on citizens being more active 

in nature and having an affinity for staying local, he reported that ‘there is a growing 

consumer segment that want to get out in nature and have outdoor experiences in walking, cycling and water-based activities’. 

COVID-19 has accelerated this by increasing the appreciation of the outdoors which he believes will probably change forever 

how people socialise and engage with their local areas. He also confirmed an increased demand for outdoor activities, eating 

and cultural events among communities and explained that improving outdoor experiences will directly enhance the quality of 

people’s visits to cities like Dublin, but also for the lives of the people that live and work there. He advocated that Dublin is in a 

good position to capitalise on this as the capital city with an abundance of natural assets, such as Dublin Bay, numerous coastal 

villages and the Dublin Mountains close by.

Mr. Dineen suggested that ‘we need to develop best-in-class outdoor experiences, be 

it in terms of activities but also the public realm’. He continued on this point stating: 

‘we would be quite heartened from a tourism perspective, particularly in Dublin city 

regarding the COVID mobility measures and public realm enhancements that are 

being proposed, that they will all support tourism and improve the visitor experience 

and ultimately, promote dwell time and spend within the city’. He stressed that ‘there 

are some good and positive aspects emerging that will hopefully stand the test of time 

and see citizens and visitors more engaged with Dublin as a city’.

Mr. O’Hara addressed Dr. Dekker’s question about how people can contribute to the city, saying that if we did a vox pop about 

the number of hotels in the city, there would probably be a consensus at the moment that there are enough hotels and enough 

tourism, but a vox pop is not the way to progress planning the future of the city. He referenced Dr. Lyons’ previous point on 

nudge behaviour as a means to encourage ‘people to buy-in to the city, active citizenship and create civic pride in all aspects of 

the city’. 

Dr. Dekker summarised that each of the panellists had focused on citizens and their important role while also proposing 

interesting ideas such as Mr. Jordon’s reference to citizens using smart bags, which she said aligns with upcoming legislation on 

the return scheme. She then presented the questions of, ‘how do we create a future city that enables all citizens to reach their 

potential and participate, how do we let people know that their voice is heard and their ideas are included in how we move 

forward after COVID-19’. 

In response, Mr. Jordan spoke of three important aspects: (i) law and policy, which 

is advancing with climate laws and eco-design laws, (ii) money, as it is an important 

aspect of this transformation and hopefully will be available via green finance and 

incentives and (iii) attitude, the enlisting of citizens to actively participate, which 

he added is a major social behaviour type question. He reverted to the example 

of Charlotte (U.S.) and ‘gamifying’ the 

experience whereby people participate 

via a smart fitness tracker and are 

rewarded for their activity. Gamification, 

he said has transformed the fitness 

segment as people can be rewarded, 

‘even if the reward is just a badge on their watch’. Elaborating further, he explained 

how in Charlotte, ‘they have been building up social reward points and the cleaner participants make their returns, the more 

badges they receive which can be built up to something they can spend, like a discount on a future purchase’. Presenting an 

overarching perspective, Mr. Jordan stated ‘when you start thinking about trying to get social green behaviour right across 

citizens - imagine if I can return all my plastic bottles and receive some social reward points that I can then spend on a free bus 

ride, which helps influence me onto public transport - and you start applying this social reward system or gamification right 

across all your green activities, then you have a platform for motivation’. He described how people can then see the good they 

are doing and by reporting through apps about the carbon footprint, they can see how they are saving carbon.

We’re always cognisant 
that what makes a good 

city for people to live 
and work in also makes a 

good city to visit

There are some good and 
positive aspects emerging 
that will hopefully stand 
the test of time and see 

citizens and visitors more 
engaged with Dublin as a 

city

There is a growing 
consumer segment 
that want to get out 
in nature and have 

outdoor experiences 
in walking, cycling and 
water-based activities

50 51

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 80



There is massive 
potential in 

leveraging the power 
of community

There is a lot of 
work to do but 
it will only be 
done through 
a partnership 

approach

He acknowledged it as an extensive ask, saying that the way Dublin City Council is trying to enable contribution in the 

development plan, on account of COVID-19 is to develop new ways of reaching out to people as part of the review and drafting 

processes, using opportunities like this webinar as well as reaching out to different age groups. As the 15-35 year old age group 

made fewer responses to the development plan, he said that ‘we need to reach out to those people through engagement via 

Comhairle na nÓg45 and the PPN46  network in order to reach the younger cohorts, to form more civic pride in what we are doing 

in the city. We’re doing those things to reach the full potential and get participation, to hopefully produce a richer and better 

development plan that people can buy into for the future’. 

According to Mr. O’Hara, the other aspects that we need to address as part of the city 

development plan are the new growth areas inside the M50, such as Cherry Orchard, 

Ballymun and the north fringe. Referring back to reducing the carbon footprint, he 

believed that ‘we need to reach out to these and the more disadvantaged areas, asking 

how can we recreate the successful village concept and place-making there, obtain 

buy-in from the community and a mixture of employment, culture and decent living in 

those areas to reduce the traditional divide’. He reminded the forum about the socio-

economic divide in the city, stressing that, ‘we’ve got to break that down to make the 

city more tolerant and safe, and reduce those areas of relative deprivation’.  

Dr. Dekker turned to Mr. Walsh on the topic of encouraging citizen involvement, who 

proposed that there needs to be meaningful engagement to understand the needs of 

citizens, believing that we are much better at that now than in the past. He mentioned 

the concept of pilots and looking at what works best elsewhere, such as the innovations 

mentioned by Mr. Jordan earlier, as being important. He emphasised that, ‘there is 

massive potential in leveraging the power of community’. From the SEAI perspective, he clarified that there are 350 sustainable 

energy communities, some in an incubation phase while others are involved in large-scale projects across their towns, villages 

and further afield. ‘The communities develop masterplans and they buy into it, similar to the tidy towns, where you get a sense 

of pride in a community along with a sense of mission, leading to real momentum and driving on from that to aggregation so 

you can do things a lot cheaper and quicker’. 

As well as citizen engagement, he agreed that participation and rewards are hugely 

important. Mr. Walsh gave the example of the recent renewable electricity support scheme, 

prefacing it by saying that as a nation in the past, unless energy infrastructure is well 

understood there will be societal resistance to what people do not understand. Therefore, 

he said, ‘we need to ensure that people understand what is happening, involve them in the decisions and also that they can 

participate in the reward as a community, so they can own part of a wind farm that is coming into their locality or whatever the 

case might be’. He firmly feels that to be extremely important to obtaining ‘buy-in and keeping citizens engaged and happy’. 

The gamification point struck a chord with Mr. Walsh, in the context of SEAIs’ solar initiatives that involve installing solar panels 

on roofs, particularly in community buildings. He used the example of a café in Ringsend, where there is a board inside the café 

that displays how much energy was generated over the past 24 hours and how much of it was being used. This became a talking 

point among the local regulars in the café, as something that they monitored and formed an interest in. ‘Leveraging technology 

to gamify and involve people is massive and will be a big part in our societal transition 

to address climate change’. 

Dr. Dekker posed a final question to the panel to tie in citizen engagement and the 

target of eventually reaching carbon neutrality by 2050 and asked how do we all work 

together to achieve this?

Mr. Dineen addressed the forum first, introducing Fáilte Ireland’s ultimate ambition 

concerning 2050, in alignment with the government’s ambition to be carbon neutral, 

that Ireland would be among the world leaders in sustainable tourism practices. Questioning what that would look like in terms 

of how it contributes to society, he hoped that tourism would be viewed in the context of its contribution to quality of life and 

wellbeing and not solely on the economic benefits it brings. ‘As an industry, we’re very cognisant that we have an obligation 

to reduce our carbon footprint and make an active contribution to our commitments, by mid-2050 we would envisage in line 

with government targets, that tourism businesses are fully bought into low carbon practices’. He clarified that Fáilte Ireland 

would be supporting and investing in carbon neutral schemes and that funding provided to businesses or other agencies would 

come with many conditions ‘that everything has to be done in a fully sustainable way’. He also described tourism activity in 

2050 as contributing not only to protecting the environment but also giving back in terms of habitat restoration and enhancing 

the natural environment. He foresees that there would be stronger partnerships in place, given the fundamental link between 

tourism and all the other sectors and that to achieve the ambition of where we want to be as a society in 2050, we need to 

increase the level of cross-policy compliance and consider the potential impacts and benefits of tourism, both positive and 

negative across society. In conclusion, Mr. Dineen highlighted that tourism does not directly own or manage any assets that 

underpin the sector, therefore it is reliant on an alignment in terms of sustainability with all the other sectors of Irish society and 

stated: ‘there is a lot of work to do but it will only be done through a partnership approach’. 

Mr. Jordan advocated that businesses need to make low carbon pledges, akin to New Year’s pledges, 

‘not only do businesses need to make their own pledge but they need to expect their supply chain to 

make low carbon pledges. We need to create the idea within businesses that this is really important 

and start evaluating how we’re procuring things, whether private or public procurement but 

promote the idea of green procurement, that’s how we start to instil this right across our economy’.

His second point was that ‘as we move forward, we are going to have to think carefully about the 

legislation around the green deal and the move to a circular economy, as it has huge implications for product-based retailers’. 

He elaborated, ‘we’re going to expect products to be in our economy a lot longer, we will have to start thinking about all the time 

spent shifting products, to making a service economy on top of those products. 

We need to reach out 
to these and the more 
disadvantaged areas, 

asking how can we 
recreate the successful 

village concept and 
place-making there, 

obtain buy-in from the 
community and a mixture 

of employment, culture 
and decent living in 

those areas to reduce the 
traditional divide?

Leveraging technology 
to gamify and involve 
people is massive and 

will be a big part in our 
societal transition to 

address climate change

45.      Comhairle na nÓg www.comhairlenanog.ie 46.      PPN - Public Participation Network dublincityppn.ie

52 53

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 81

http://www.comhairlenanog.ie
https://dublincityppn.ie/


‘Whether you’re a butcher, toymaker or whatever your business is, the education is still quite limited within our business 

community on what circular actually is, yet this transition is coming’. Mr. Jordan highlighted that his company has been assisting 

different businesses, helping them not only economically but also looking at their business model and using design-thinking 

approaches to help them decide how they shape themselves for this future transition. To conclude, he stated ‘if we want a 

sustainable and carbon neutral economy, we have to make that transition’.

Mr. Walsh said he believes that ‘the public sector should and will act as an exemplar 

in how to do things right, while the private sector will show us how to do things and 

get things done’. He thinks there is going to be significant pressure in relation to 

carbon tax and budgeting so it is going to be less about what we would like to do and 

more about what we have to do up to 2030. ‘That symbiotic relationship between the 

public and private sector is hugely important and from a public sector perspective, 

we support business to reduce their energy usage’. Although dependent on the scale 

of businesses, he clarified that the clear motivating factor is reducing emissions and increasing savings and that ‘there are 

significant opportunities if you do things right and design processes correctly, to save on energy costs’. From an SME perspective 

he emphasised the hassle factor, as SMEs are incredibly busy trying to survive, particularly at the moment and then highlighted 

the importance of ‘understanding the behaviour of businesses and providing support by making it easy for them to make the 

needed decisions and providing appropriate leadership in that space’.      

In responding to Dr. Dekker’s question about how the development plan is going to 

contribute to 2050, Mr. O’Hara complemented the material shared at the forum and 

confirmed that the development plan needs to look beyond the next six years, to 2050. He 

highlighted the need to re-establish the value of urban living and for citizens to develop 

pride in urban living and the city. He suggested that ‘we have to stop this argument 

about everything by private developers being bad and there has to be integration of the 

private and public sectors and a moving away from developer led planning of our city’. 

He recounted, ‘The city has always been a place for exchanging goods, retail, ideas and culture and we’ve got to do things to 

re-establish that again’. In relation to other initiatives and ‘how we get the city towards 2050?’ he cited the numerous terraced 

areas in the city, the need to develop electric vehicle charging hubs in these areas, the idea of wind energy in Dublin Bay and 

receiving buy-in to such energy farms via citizens having a share, ‘so that they can have a real part of clean energy’. In addition, 

he referenced workplace-making and how developers can make office environments softer at the edges through more vitality at 

ground floor rather than mono-office parks or developments. To conclude, Mr. O’Hara said ‘there are lots of small areas where 

we can work together across sectors to make the city a quality city with good connectivity, not only digital, but connectivity of 

public transport, cycling and walking, because at the end of the day people are tactile and like to talk. All of that is important 

and I think the future city should be creating places where people want to walk and talk and even touch each other’. 

Not only do businesses 
need to make their own 

pledge but they need 
to expect their supply 

chain to make low carbon 
pledges

There are significant 
opportunities that if 
you do things right 

and design processes 
correctly, to save on 

energy costs

There are lots of small areas 
where we can work together 
across sectors  to make the 
city a quality city with good 

connectivity, not only digital, 
but connectivity of public 

transport, cycling and walking

Dr. Dekker said she appreciated Mr. O’Hara’s reference to ‘walk and talk and 

tactile’, in that we have a small city with access to nature and can hopefully 

be close together soon. She thanked the speakers for giving the forum plenty 

to think about. 

54 55

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 82



Reset Summit - Panel 3
Employment & Skills

Panel

Since 2016, Natasha 
Kinsella has held 
the role of Regional 
Skills Manager, 
Dublin in which she 
focuses on training, 
education and 
fostering engagement 
between industry 
and educational 
providers in order to 
support company and 
regional skills / talent 
needs. Previously 
she has held various 
positions in the 
tourism / hospitality 
sector and has sat 
on many industry 
boards and governing 
bodies including the 
National Hospitality 
Advisory Group 
and was appointed 
to the National 
Apprenticeship 
Council in 2016.

Danny McCoy is 
the Chief Executive 
Officer of Ibec since 
2009. Prior to joining 
Ibec, Danny was a 
senior economist 
at the Economic 
and Social Research 
Institute (ESRI) 
and at the Central 
Bank of Ireland. He 
has held lecturing 
posts at various 
universities and has 
been a consultant 
for the European 
Commission and the 
OECD. In addition he 
has been a member 
of the Irish National 
Competitiveness 
Council, the National 
Economic and 
Social Council, the 
Commission on 
Taxation and the 
National Training 
Agency. 

Pat McCann has nearly 
50 years of experience 
in the hotel industry. 
Starting his career 
with Ryan Hotels 
PLC he then moved 
to Jurys Doyle Hotel 
Group where he held 
various roles including 
General Manager 
and Operations 
Director and Chief 
Executive Officer. 
He then worked as 
a consultant and in 
2007, he founded 
and became Chief 
Executive Officer of 
Dalata Hotel Group. 
He is also a non-
executive director 
of various private 
companies and has 
held non-executive 
positions on state 
and public company 
entities.

Siobhan O’Shea 
is Client Services 
Director for Cpl and 
a member of the Cpl 
leadership team. 
She is a frequent 
speaker on labour 
market trends 
and diversity and 
inclusion. Siobhan 
is a member of the 
Board of Directors of 
Dublin Chamber and 
leads the Chamber’s 
Labour Taskforce.  She 
is a member of the 
Board of Directors of 
Chambers Ireland and 
Chairperson of the 
Dublin Regional Skills 
Forum. Her previous 
experience includes 
roles at Morgan 
McKinley, Investment 
Advisor on Wall Street 
and Producer for 
financial television 
network CNBC.     

Richard Guiney is 
the Chief Executive 
Officer of DublinTown, 
Dublin city’s Business 
Improvement District. 
He is a Fellow of the 
Institute of Place 
Management and has 
served as Irish Chair 
of the Association 
of Town & City 
Management (ATCM) 
and Purple Flag. 
Previously, he served 
as Chambers Ireland, 
Director of Corporate 
Services and as board 
member of national 
arts organisations 
and the Ana Liffey 
Drug Project. He is an 
Accountant and Tax 
Advisor by profession.

Moderator: Natasha Kinsella Panellist: Danny McCoy Panellist: Pat McCann Panellist: Siobhan O’Shea Panellist: Richard Guiney

Introduction

The panel moderator, Natasha Kinsella expressed her delight to moderate the esteemed panel of experts given her role with the 

Dublin Regional Skills Forum47, supporting businesses regarding skills and talent development and now also supporting these 

businesses regarding the impact of the pandemic. She explained that each panellist is representing sectors which have been 

significantly impacted and will be sharing insights on the labour market and skills both now and in relation to the recovery. 

Ms. Kinsella introduced each panellist and then invited them to share a context overview, specific to their sector or perspective 

based on the labour market and also to share a future vision and actions that could be taken as outcomes to support the reset 

and recovery of Dublin.

• Danny McCoy is the Chief Executive Officer of Ibec48, having started there in 2009. As the largest business representation 

organisation and the country’s largest lobbying group, it has 240 staff members in seven locations, 38 sectoral brands and a 

substantial presence in the European Union through Ibec’s Brussels office. Mr. McCoy previously held positions as a senior 

economist with the ESRI and has lectured at a number of universities in Ireland and the UK. Currently, he is President of the 

Statistical and Social Inquiry Society of Ireland, honorary fellow of the Academy of Engineers, board member and member 

expert of the Trade Council, Executive Bureau Business, SME Forum and the Government’s Balance for Better Business 

Group. 

• Pat McCann is Chief Executive Officer of Dalata Hotel Group49 . With over 50 years of experience in the hotel industry, he 

started in 1969 with Ryan Hotels PLC. Previous positions include General Manager of Jurys Hotel Group, Ballsbridge Hotel 

in Dublin, Operations Officer and Board Member. He was responsible for the integration of the Doyle Hotel Group following 

its acquisition by Jurys. In February 2007, Mr. McCann founded Dalata Hotel Group which is listed on the Dublin and London 

stock exchanges, and became Chief Executive Officer in August 2007. In addition, he was Deputy President of Ibec in 

September 2008, President in September 2019 and has held various executive positions in hospitality and other industries, 

including state public company entities. He has also served as the National President of the Irish Hotels Federation and is a 

member of the Tourism Council of Ireland (ITIC). 

• Siobhan O’Shea is Client Services Director for Cpl50, one of the largest talent solutions organisations and is Chairperson of 

the Dublin Regional Skills Forum. As a member of the Cpl leadership team, she leads diversity and inclusion for Cpl’s Future 

of Work Institute and is a frequent speaker and brand ambassador on the workplace, labour market trends and the future of 

work. Her experience spans 18 years in recruitment and talent leadership, with experience in Ireland combined with seven 

years of experience in New York and San Francisco. She is a member of the Boards of Directors of Dublin Chamber, leading 

its Task Force Group and of Chambers Ireland and is Chairperson of the Regional Skills Fora under the Department of Further 

and Higher Education. 

• Richard Guiney is the Chief Executive Officer of Dublin Town51, Dublin city’s business improvement district which represents 

2,500 businesses. The organisation aims to make Dublin a vibrant and successful destination with thriving retail and hospitality 

services provision. He is a fellow of the Institute of Place Management and has served as Irish Chair of the Association of 

Town and Management. Prior to Dublin Town, Mr. Guiney was a Director of Corporate Services with Chambers Ireland, where 

he represented the Irish Chamber movement and international Chambers of Commerce in Europe, Eurochambers. 

47.     Dublin Regional Skills Forum www.regionalskills.ie/regions/dublin

48.     Ibec www.ibec.ie

49.     Dalata Hotel Group dalatahotelgroup.com

50.     CPL www.cpl.com

51.     Dublin Town www.dublintown.ie

56 57

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 83

http://www.regionalskills.ie/regions/dublin
http://www.ibec.ie
https://dalatahotelgroup.com
http://www.cpl.com
http://www.dublintown.ie


Ms. Kinsella invited Danny McCoy to first comment. He introduced Ibec as a ratepayer, an organisation with €30 million turnover, 

over 200 staff in Dublin and which has an interest for their own business in how the 

city functions within the sustainability agenda, but also in terms of the vibrancy 

and attractiveness, to bring talent to the organisation and base them in Dublin. He 

explained, ‘we also have options in other jurisdictions to place our people as well, so 

this conversation about the capital city is crucial for the national agenda but certainly, 

in terms of the dynamic for regional competitiveness. The changing environment to 

remote working has opened up a huge amount of opportunities for relocation, of where 

work may take place versus where people might want to congregate and socialise for 

things that are more than just a vector of work’. 

Mr. McCoy described Ibec as a membership 

organisation, the largest business 

representative and lobbying organisation 

according to the register of lobbyists and the 

third biggest in Europe, which ‘reflects the 

scale of the globalised footprint in Ireland’. He concluded his point stating, ‘that prism 

in terms of the attractiveness of the capital city to international movement as well, is 

a real defining factor’. He raised the issue of the funding model that comes from this 

business model both at the state level and at the level of the local authorities that need 

to be brought into play, describing the level of resources that have been generated by 

this business model over the last six years as ‘truly gargantuan’ in contrast to other 

jurisdictions. ‘We have seen this playing out during COVID and the capacity of the state 

to be able to finance both business supports and crucially, household supports’. In 

relation to households and the citizens of Dublin, he proposed that ‘we should be looking for mechanisms to fund the necessary 

employment and skills agenda going forward’. He highlighted that, ‘it’s an option that is very unexplored in Ireland as to how to 

directly use funding mechanisms for households that are now rich and that’s a crucial part. A lot of the narrative still gets trapped 

in a kind of austerity narrative that couldn’t be further from the truth when you look at the actual statistics. We continuously 

have a situation where we don’t fund the state and the city by the citizens directly, and those options have been abdicated very 

significantly in recent years when the mechanisms have been there’. 

Therefore, he proposed that ‘if there is a seriousness about the agenda being talked about on the panel around employment 

and skills, I would like to see the innovations coming within the city as to how we actually fund the employment and skill sets’. 

He believes that funding is the important part to start with and that ‘what you actually fund is probably the richness of the 

conversation that may come out’ after which he concluded: ‘fundamentally, we are living in a city that is now one of the richest 

parts of Europe and yet we are seeing the public infrastructure not keeping pace with the scale of the population, but also with 

the qualitative expectations of the citizens’. 

Ms. Kinsella invited Pat McCann to comment, whose large organisation has been significantly impacted in terms of occupations 

within the hospitality sector and on account of the restrictions. She sought his insights on how Dalata has addressed labour 

market issues, maintained the connection with employees and also on the skill sets required of those employees on returning 

back to the business.

Pat McCann divided his contribution in two, respectively focusing on Dalata’s perspective and secondly on the needs and future 

of Dublin city and how it relates to the hospitality and tourism sector. As a large employer 

of over 4,000 people, Dalata currently has 2,600 people back to work in Ireland and the UK, 

however 1,500 people are unfortunately still laid off. He admitted that the organisation 

is fortunate due to a number of aspects, ‘we have great technology that allowed us to 

communicate very clearly with all our people, as they were working from home, especially 

in the first lockdown when we had 3,500 laid off at that particular time. We have our own 

training portal, Dalata Online, as part of our Dalata Academy and through that we were 

able to deliver a lot of programmes for our people as they were at home with less to do, so 

we devised a whole series of programmes that they could make use of during that time’. 

Mr. McCann outlined that 54,000 courses were taken by Dalata employees between the 1st of April and the end of October 2020. 

‘The courses’, he explained ‘were geared to further enhance employees’ lives and career opportunities, so when they return to 

work, they will come back far more valuable than when they left’. In concluding his point, he said ‘as part of our Dalata Academy 

programme, we essentially grow our own people, which is a critical part of what we do and as we expand the business, it allows 

us to keep our culture intact because culture is a critical part of everything we do and how we behave in Dalata’.

He described how his company operates a decentralised model, where the general 

managers are given full autonomy to ‘run their businesses as if they owned them but 

in order to do that, everyone within the teams has to be suitably trained and qualified’. 

Currently, Dalata are in the process of constructing 13 new hotels with 3,300 rooms (10 

in the UK and three in Dublin) and are preparing the teams to manage those properties. 

He explained: ‘we do all of that internally so as part of our programme of developing 

people, they grow with us and then they go on to take on running these new hotels 

and that is pretty critical for us. We’re in really good shape around what will happen 

because some of these hotels will start to open in the summer of 2021 and right up to 

the summer of 2022, so we have quite a training programme to do to get our people 

ready for this’.

He also stressed the company’s good communications via other means, explaining that every staff member has an app on their 

phone to allow instant, two-way communications and daily contact with all by video or voice.

Danny McCoy, Chief Executive Officer, Ibec Pat McCann, Chief Executive Officer, Dalata Hotel Group

The changing 
environment to remote 

working has opened 
up a huge amount  

of opportunities for 
relocation, of where work 

may take place versus 
where people might  

want to congregate and 
socialise for things that 

are more than just a 
vector of work

Fundamentally, we are 
living in a city that is 

now one of the richest 
parts of Europe and 

yet we are seeing the 
public infrastructure not 

keeping pace with the 
scale of the population, 

but also with the 
qualitative expectations 

of the citizens

We have great 
technology that allowed 

us to communicate 
very clearly with all our 

people, as they were 
working from home

The courses were geared 
to further enhance 

employees’ lives and 
career opportunities, 

so when they return to 
work, they will come 

back far more valuable 
than when they left

58 59

Reset Summit - Outcomes ReportReset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 84



He highlighted this as an extremely effective way of maintaining contact and detailed how Dalata have introduced various 

initiatives for employees including well-being, health, fitness and cooking at home.

As restrictions are eased, he felt the company would see the rewards as all of their hotels’ senior teams and central office have 

been retained during the lockdowns, ‘so they will be ready to take on the business as it 

starts to come through again’. 

Moving to the second part of his contribution which was on Dublin, he first reflected on 

his time as President of Ibec, complimenting Mr. McCoy and the Ibec team for their work 

and also their support of the hospitality sector. Highlighting the importance of the sector, 

he said ‘one of the things that has become abundantly clear is that the hospitality sector 

is much broader than anyone ever imagined’. Referring to ‘how quiet Dublin city is at the 

moment’, he proposed that part of the reason is that there are not many people back in 

their offices but equally the reason is that there are not the millions of tourists that preserve the vibrancy. He commented, ‘When 

you look at all of the small businesses that the hospitality sector supports, not just the obvious ones, they are a big part of the 

retail and transport experience, all the small cafés, bars and restaurants that depend 

on tourism, so there is a lot of employment within the broader hospitality sector’. He 

noted that Ibec coined the phrase, ‘experience economy, to try to encapsulate what 

the broader hospitality business is about’. 

He remarked that ‘if we do not have the throughput of tourism into Dublin, our citizens 

will be worse off because a lot of the things that they are used to having would not be 

available, those businesses simply would not exist’. Thus, there are real advantages for 

the citizens of Dublin to have a strong, vibrant hospitality sector and it is obviously one 

of the areas that has been most affected, along with the airline industry. Mr. McCann 

concluded, ‘We need to get back to having international visitors back on our shores 

again, we’re all really looking forward to that, not just for Dublin but for the entire country’.

One of the things 
that has become 

abundantly clear is that 
the hospitality sector 
is much broader than 
anyone ever imagined

We have a strong 
personal investment in 

terms of making sure 
that Dublin remains a 

strong place to live and 
work into the future

‘If we do not have the 
through-put of tourism 
into Dublin, our citizens 

will be worse off because 
a lot of the things that 

they are used to having 
would not be available, 
those businesses simply 

would not exist

It’s great to see the 
innovation that was 

driven around some of 
those mechanisms, a real 
commitment to initiatives 

like apprenticeships or 
investing in Skillsnet and 
looking at industry from a 
multipronged approach, 
not just focusing on any 

particular cohort but 
trying to make sure that 
there is inclusivity in the 

approach
Siobhan O’Shea, Director Cpl / Chairperson Dublin Regional Skills Forum 

Ms. Kinsella praised the exemplary activities by Dalata in terms of maintaining the important connection but also realising the 

need to upskill the entire team as they return. She pointed to the difficulty concerning SMEs in Dublin and what supports are 

available for them, as large organisations have the capacity in-house, saying ‘what we want to try and highlight, given the work 

we do in regional skills, is the connection even more importantly with the SMEs to support them directly as they don’t have that 

capacity’. 

Ms. Kinsella moved on to Siobhan O’Shea to speak about some of the areas the Regional Skills Forum has been working on, and 

given her role in Cpl, the focus on resourcing talent, the implications of youth unemployment, career changes and making sure 

that the return supports that recovery.

She asked her to outline insights and supports, in particular for SMEs that the fora are 

trying to provide to support the recovery.  

Siobhan O’Shea wished to cover three key areas in her context piece. As a Director at Cpl, 

she introduced it as Ireland’s largest talent organisation and recruitment company, in 

operation for over 30 years and a large employer of people in Dublin city with over 1,100 

people working nationally and over half of these based in the capital. She explained that 

Cpl had the overnight experience of having to move all of their people to a remote working situation and are still in a situation 

where most are working from home. In regard to Dublin, she stated: ‘we have a strong personal investment in terms of making 

sure that Dublin remains a strong place to live and work into the future and equally, in supporting over 3,000 customers that we 

work with every year in talent attraction programmes and strategies and an additional 

13,000 people that work for us through outsourced models’. She believes that it is very 

important that ‘we are looking to the future to reimagine a new Dublin post-pandemic 

and making sure that both Ireland and Dublin remain strong, attractive propositions 

for FDI, inward investment and for the SMEs and wider businesses that are already in 

the city’. 

Regarding regional skills, Ms. O’Shea highlighted the importance of ensuring that 

we continue to have a labour force that is highly skilled and talented because that 

is cited as one of the top reasons why international business comes to Ireland. She 

remarked, ‘I think if you look at the decisiveness with which the government acted, 

it was incredibly positive when it came to investing in mechanisms to support people 

who had maybe been made unemployed or were looking to reskill or upskill as a result 

of the pandemic this year. We’ve seen over €100 million invested in both higher and 

further education very much supported through the regional skills forum in Dublin 

and across the nine fora’. 

She explained that this highlights the importance from a country perspective what 

was put in place to ensure ‘that we have a population that is ready to be able to adapt to this new world that we are now 

facing when it comes to the future of work’. She commented, ‘it’s great to see the innovation that was driven around some 

of those mechanisms, a real commitment to initiatives like apprenticeships or investing in Skillnet47 and looking at industry 

from a multipronged approach, not just focusing on any particular cohort but trying to make sure that there is inclusivity in 

the approach’. She observed that there was a fairly even spread in terms of the July stimulus with a nearly 50-50 split, going 

to higher education and further education respectively. ‘It is about getting that knowledge out to industry’ she said, to inform 

organisations that ‘there is huge support being invested in and great networks that they can leverage to sustain their people 

that are maybe still furloughed or are potentially considering career changing as a result of the crisis’.

47.     Skillnet Ireland https://www.skillnetireland.ie/

60 61

Reset Summit - Outcomes ReportReset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 85

https://www.skillnetireland.ie/


From the Cpl perspective and the tale of two worlds in the Irish economy at the moment when it comes to the labour market, Ms. 

O’Shea has seen the acute pain being felt in the likes of hospitality, retail, tourism, aviation sectors while certain sectors such as 

life sciences, financial services, healthcare, and technology have held up remarkably well, citing some positive announcements 

in recent weeks such as the 200 engineering jobs in Microsoft. She emphasised, ‘it is 

important that this is reflected across society and we look through a 360 degree view to 

make sure that nobody is left behind now because unfortunately, as a result of the crisis 

and the employment impact, we have seen that those who have been most impacted are 

youth and people with disabilities, those who are already marginalised from the world 

of work in the first place. Certain occupations that seem to have been most impacted are 

those that are quite heavily orientated towards female-based roles, such as leisure, travel 

services, sales assistants, and restaurant workers’.

She suggested that ‘there is going to be an impact that we need to look at over the next 

few years, to make sure that we continue to create a Dublin economy that does not 

end up in a situation where people are left behind, as that marginalisation has a huge 

knock-on impact on unemployment’. She summarised, ‘ultimately, we’ve gone from a situation where we were at our lowest 

unemployment rate ever in January to nearly our worst rate in May, so really the aspiration is to try and get us back to that 

journey where we can be back at full employment again, very inclusive, a reimagined city for working and living and making 

sure that we’re still very attractive when it comes to talent attraction and retention’.  

Ms. Kinsella thanked Ms. O’Shea for outlining the supports that are there, particularly for SMEs given their concentration in 

Dublin and stressed that it is important that the connection is maintained so they are aware of those supports. Given the Dublin 

Town membership with 2,500 businesses across most of those sectors that have been impacted by the pandemic, the moderator 

asked Richard Guiney to share his insights.

Richard Guiney commented on the interesting discussion so far and referenced Dublin city 

centre ‘as a microcosm of all of those interacting factors’. In relation to Dublin Town, he 

confirmed, ‘of the 2,500 members, 85% are consumer facing so we are really in the eye of 

the storm as the retail and hospitality side’. He confirmed that the experience in Dublin city 

centre is mirroring what is happening across Europe, where the larger the city, the harder 

the impacts of COVID-19 restrictions are being felt. This, he explained, ‘is highlighting a 

number of things that we did know: the importance of the integration of the economy 

and how important office workers, for example, are to the hospitality and retail side as the people who buy their coffee in 

the morning, go for lunch, do some shopping and meet their friends and colleagues after work’. He continued that having an 

absence of office workers has hit the city centre economy very hard which was visible in the footfall statistics, as ‘while the 

numbers were down across the week, they were particularly down from Monday to Friday’. 

According to Mr. Guiney, another aspect that was evident, is that the south side of the city was hit far harder than the north side 

of the city. He explained that this is partly because tourists are five times more likely to spend time on the south side of the city 

than the north side and that tourists make up about 7% of annual footfall, but they spend about three times as much in the 

city, which represents ‘quite a significant impact overall’. The other factor he highlighted is that the north side of the city has 

an adjacent residential community and ‘even at the lowest ebbs of the pandemic in late March / early April, the footfall on the 

north side of the city was down about 75% compared to 85% / 90% on the south side’. He suggested that, ‘COVID-19 is one of 

those catalyst factors that happens throughout history, when a negative thing like a war, famine or pestilence like we have had, 

this actually consolidates and accelerates trends’. So a lot of what we are experiencing 

are things we had anticipated, however these are changes expected over seven to ten 

years which are now being seen over seven to ten months’. 

For example, his organisation knew that retail was in decline and being challenged 

by online commerce. As well they were aware of a change of spending patterns, ‘as 

people were purchasing experiences, so more people pre-COVID were dining than 

shopping in Dublin and that was something that we anticipated was going to grow’. 

They also anticipated that there was going to be more leisure spend in the city and in 

doing a piece of work with the Abbey Theatre, ‘we were really surprised at how much 

having the theatre meant to local retailers because of people going to a play and then 

visiting the shops’. Mr. Guiney remarked, ‘when it comes to that integration of the 

entire economy, when one aspect of the city centre economy is suffering, the impacts are felt more widely’.

Dublin Town conducted work in January 2020 concerning online spending, where people said their online spend was going to 

be slightly less this year than last, although these predictions were subject to the realities of the world. He outlined that through 

their consumer research, it is clear that ‘people are missing and value, human interaction’ 

which he explained was important regarding planning for the future of the city, stating 

‘we need to take into account the opportunities for people to reengage with each other’. 

He continued ‘we’ve had a virus, it has changed our behaviour but fundamentally, when 

we come out of this, we’re still going to be human and we’re going to crave that human 

interaction, so we need to be very cognisant of this in terms of planning going forward’. 

Referring to Ms. O’Shea’s point, he spoke about the impact of unemployment being felt 

by younger people and outlined that Dublin Town members are generally busiest ‘when 

other people are off and they have time to spend their money’. He noted that the EU had 

recognised the significance of the potential decline in retail and had been researching this 

since approximately 2017/2018. This revealed that across Europe, 8.5% of the workforce are engaged in retail, 70% being female 

and due to the nature and time of the work, there are a lot of students as it is the first opportunity for employment and for many 

people, their first jobs are in retail or hospitality. He recognised it as a major part ‘of the growing up and maturing process and 

therefore of fundamental importance’. 

We have seen that 
those who have been 

most impacted are 
youth and people 
with disabilities, 

those who are already 
marginalised from the 

world of work in the 
first place

Richard Guiney, Chief Executive Officer, Dublin Town

Of the 2,500 members, 
85% are consumer 

facing so we are really 
in the eye of the storm 

as the retail and 
hospitality side

COVID-19 is one of those 
catalyst factors that 
happens throughout 

history, when a negative 
thing like a war, famine 

or pestilence like we 
have had, this actually 

consolidates and 
accelerates trends

When it comes to that 
integration of the entire 

economy, when one 
aspect of the city centre 

economy is suffering, 
the impacts are felt 

more widely

62 63

Reset Summit - Outcomes ReportReset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 86



Mr. Guiney’s view is that there are social consequences to the hospitality and retail 

sectors being under pressure. He suggested that ‘we can focus too much on what is 

happening at the moment, but I think we need to project forward and look at some of 

the trends we were seeing previously’. In regard to projecting forward, he stated ‘I think 

people will value the engagement again and will probably want to return to offices, 

perhaps not on a full-time basis, but will want to work in offices in terms of learning, 

training new employees, looking at new assignments and team building. A lot of that 

will come back to the city centre and I think the opportunities will be there. The same 

with online, I think people may associate home working and shopping online with the 

current pandemic when they haven’t been having a great time, so there are certainly 

opportunities for us looking forward’.

He suggested that we need to plan the city in a 

way that accounts for the loss of a significant 

amount of retail, giving the example of Grafton Street and Henry Street approaching 

10% vacancy ‘without a long queue of new entrants’. He continued ‘I think we’re going to 

have to look at how we plan the city, so things like a category one retail street is probably 

somewhat obsolescent and we need to be thinking about how do we integrate hospitality, 

retail, leisure and residential, which I think is also going to be an important part of the city 

economy in the future. We need to look at how we balance what I anticipate will be a lot 

more evening and night-time activity with those residential uses’. 

He noted that there are opportunities for the city, stating ‘when you look at the preferences 

of Gen Z, the generation coming up into adulthood, Dublin could be well placed to be a 

very relevant city for our own people and indeed the people who want to visit’. To conclude, he suggested that we need to plan 

and that will involve bringing the best of the public and private sectors together to do that. 

Given all of the insights that had been provided by each of the panel members, Ms. Kinsella commented that a number of 

questions she was going to pose had been answered. She finished the session with a question to Mr. McCoy: ‘given the multiple 

challenges that we’re now facing going forward, is there one particular recommendation that you would advise businesses to 

adjust, right now to face that ‘new normal?’

Agreeing with Mr. Guiney about the fact that this period has enhanced the trends that were there, Mr. McCoy emphasised, ‘the 

real thing for all of us as leaders in the region, including the city council, is to try to identify the signals that are pretty clear. The 

noise can be quite extreme at the moment with COVID, Brexit and different shifting patterns but fundamentally, Dublin is going 

to be a service-driven economy and the experience economy is where the value added is going to be’. 

He elaborated ‘by getting those factors right for the citizens of Dublin, it will then also 

continue to be that basin of attraction for the globalised workforces’. Referring to the 

conversation about retail and hospitality, he said this is immediate and the concerns 

of the people involved need to be addressed. He concluded by warning that if offices 

don’t reopen and if ‘we don’t plan for offices to come back in the next six months, 

we will genuinely have put ourselves at risk’ as the office situation and its multiplier 

effect will become critical. On another day, he said ‘we could talk about the skills and 

educational needs of a service-based, globalised office market as probably where the 

new strands of educational channels are going to be’. 

Ms. Kinsella picked up on Mr. McCoy’s final point of recognising that the enablers are 

employment and skills and that there could be a separate session on that, before 

thanking the panel members for their input and insights. 

Cllr. O’Connor thanked the moderator and panellists while remarking on the few 

alarming statistics mentioned, saying that ‘it was interesting to reframe the COVID 

crisis in terms of the acceleration of change in Dublin rather than the initiation of it’. 

I think people will value 
the engagement again 
and will probably want 

to return to offices, 
perhaps not on a full-

time basis, but will 
want to work in offices 

in terms of learning, 
training new employees, 

looking at new 
assignments and team 

buildingWe need to be 
thinking about how 

do we integrate 
hospitality, 

retail, leisure and 
residential, which I 

think is also going to 
be an important part 
of the city economy 

in the future

Conclusion

The real thing for all 
of us as leaders in the 
region, including the 

city council, is to try to 
identify the signals that 

are pretty clear. The noise 
can be quite extreme at 

the moment with COVID, 
Brexit and different 
shifting patterns but 

fundamentally, Dublin 
is going to be a service-

driven economy and the 
experience economy is 

where the value added is 
going to be

64 65

Reset Summit - Outcomes ReportReset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 87



Reset Summit - Panel 4
Culture & Community

Panel

Ray Yeates is the City 
Arts Officer for Dublin 
City Council where 
he leads the Arts 
Office. He has worked 
in the arts for many 
years, having started 
directing and acting 
at UCD in the 1970s. 
He began directing 
at the Abbey Theatre 
in 1980s. In 1992, he 
emigrated to New 
York where he was a 
teacher at The Irish 
Arts Centre and The 
American Academy 
of Dramatic Art. Upon 
returning, he was the 
Director of the Axis. 
His theatre work has 
been seen in many 
countries and in 2008, 
he was awarded ‘Best 
Arts Champion’ at the 
Allianz Business to 
Arts Awards.

Justin Green 
is a leading 
communication 
consultant and 
recipient of numerous 
awards with over 25 
years’ experience in 
the live entertainment 
events industry. He 
has contributed to 
many high level visits 
to Ireland by various 
dignitaries. He also 
developed numerous 
campaign strategies, 
advised national & 
international public 
agencies on event 
management media 
relations & advocated 
for the sector through 
many initiatives. In 
addition, he is also the 
President of Global 
Alliance, the Global 
Public Relations, 
Communication 
Management 
organisation.

Dr. Dáithí Downey 
works as Chief 
Officer for Dublin City 
Council’s LCDC or 
Local and Community 
Development 
Committee and as 
Head of Housing 
Policy, Research 
and Strategy with 
the Housing and 
Community Services 
Department. He 
was previously the 
Director of the Dublin 
Region Homeless 
Executive (DRHE), 
having also been its 
Deputy Director and 
Head of Policy and 
Service Delivery.  He is 
a Fellow of the Royal 
Geographical Society, 
and a member of the 
Royal Irish Academy’s 
Social Science 
Committee and the 
Chartered Institute of 
Housing.

Kevin McCarthy is the 
Secretary General of 
the Department of 
Rural and Community 
Development since 
December 2017.   The 
Department’s mission 
is to promote rural 
and community 
development 
and to support 
vibrant, inclusive 
and sustainable 
communities 
throughout Ireland.  
Prior to his current 
appointment, Kevin 
was an Assistant 
Secretary General in 
the Department of 
Education and Skills 
where he served in a 
number of leadership 
roles.

Maureen Kennelly 
is the Director of 
the Arts Council of 
Ireland. Prior to her 
appointment, she 
was the Director 
of Poetry Ireland. 
Other previous roles 
include Kilkenny Arts 
Festival Director, 
Mermaid Arts Centre 
Artistic Director, and 
Fishamble Theatre 
Company General 
Manager. She also 
previously worked 
with Druid Theatre 
Company, Cat Laughs 
Comedy Festival and 
the Design and Crafts 
Council of Ireland and 
was Primary Curator 
of the Mountains to 
Sea Book Festival and 
Programme Director 
of Cúirt International 
Literature Festival.

Moderator: Ray Yeates Panellist: Justin Green Panellist: Dáithí Downey Panellist: Kevin McCarthy Panellist: Maureen Kennelly

Introduction
Ray Yeates, the Dublin City Arts Officer48 expressed his delight to be moderating the panel, comprised of:

• Justin Green, Managing Director, Wide Awake Communications49 

• Dr. Dáithí Downey, Head of Housing Policy, Research and Strategy, Dublin City Council50

• Kevin McCarthy, Secretary General, Department of Rural and Community Development51  

• Maureen Kennelly, Director, Arts Council of Ireland52

He announced that he would be moderating ‘while being a little disruptive, like most 

arts people are’ and commented that ‘you rarely see arts people seated beside the CEOs 

of major companies’. He reflected that culture and community are usually discussed at 

the end of summits and that ‘it would be very interesting to see the previous CEOs and 

leaders of Dublin businesses sitting alongside us in this panel, to discuss the connections 

between culture, community, the arts, business and the economy’, although he was 

confident that would be addressed through the panel discussions. Using the analogy of 

his iPhone regularly downloading software to fix a bug or update, he described how in the 

same way, ‘software has been downloaded during the lockdown where we’re not aware 

of the effects it’s going to have when we reset our society and economy and come out of lockdown’. He introduced this as the 

subject that the panel would talk about, ‘where are we now, what it’s been like, how the context has changed, how we’ll try to 

come out of lockdown and what the future could hold’.

He pointed to one of the great difficulties for people who work in the area of the arts, community and culture: ‘we engage in 

the area of truth that has no proof’, so for example, ‘although we know that Seamus Heaney was a really valuable person to us 

all, we cannot prove how valuable he was, but can only feel and intuit this’. He suspected this was probably why people in this 

area are not put beside the aforementioned CEOs, ‘because it could disrupt the idea that we could measure every single thing 

that we do’. In regard to the restrictions, Mr. Yeates stated that ‘arts and culture have been tremendously important during the 

lockdown and have been revalued, reset and reframed’. 

Software has been 
downloaded during the 
lockdown where we’re 
not aware of the effects 
it’s going to have when 

we reset our society and 
economy and come out 

of lockdown

48.     Dublin City Arts Office  www.dublincityartsoffice.ie

49.     Wide Awake Communications wideawake.ie

50.     Dublin City Council www.dublincity.ie

51.     Department of Rural and Community Development  www.gov.ie/en/organisation/department-of-rural-and-community-development

52.     Arts Council of Ireland  www.artscouncil.ie

Mr. Yeates mentioned that some of the leaders of arts, culture and community ‘are here with us today’ as he introduced the first 

speaker, Justin Green the founder and CEO of Wide Awake Communications, the services of which are used by ‘luminaries like U2 

and Ariana Grande’. Mr. Yeates clarified that ‘while he is coming from, perhaps the more commercial area of live entertainment 

and events, he also has a huge appreciation of how community, community service and community identity are a support 

mechanism’.

Justin Green, Managing Director, Wide Awake Communications

66 67

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 88

http://www.dublincityartsoffice.ie
https://wideawake.ie
http://www.dublincity.ie
http://www.gov.ie/en/organisation/department-of-rural-and-community-development
http://www.artscouncil.ie


Justin Green thanked Mr. Yeates and Dublin City Council for the kind invitation and stated that he would present an overview of 

the ‘commercial, live entertainment sector within a COVID context in terms of where we are and where we are going to’, while 

clarifying that this sector is not publicly funded. Over the years, his company has been involved in and promoted events ranging 

from 100 to 125,000 people from music, theatre and comedy to the Special Olympic World Games and visits to Ireland by the 

Pope, Royals and US Presidents. 

He shared some figures related to the industry. In 2019, the live entertainment and events 

sector was worth €3 billion and employed over 35,000 people, ‘putting this into context’ 

he said, ‘it is more than tech giants Google, Apple, Yahoo, Facebook and Twitter combined 

employ in Ireland’. Last year, live entertainment alone attracted 4.8 million people to 

events, including 550,000 overseas visitors and directly delivered over 3.5 million bed-

nights to the Irish tourism sector. He stressed, ‘the sector plays a huge role in generating 

tourism, particularly to the city of Dublin, driving the night-time economy’. However, he 

reflected that ‘since the 12th of March, the industry has been totally devastated as the sector was forced to close down under 

the government mandate and nearly nine months on, it remains 100% shut down with very little hope of reopening any time 

soon’. He continued: ‘we were the first to close and we will be the last to reopen’. He confirmed that the majority of workers have 

been forced to live and bring up their families on welfare benefits or else leave the sector. In this regard, the sector is unique. 

But despite this, he said that ‘it is extremely important to highlight that the sector is built on safety first and that this is of 

paramount importance’. Despite the huge impact the sector has suffered, it fully supports the government and health measures 

implemented.

Referring to the question ‘where things are going’, he said ‘our sector is very creative, resilient 

and determined so we’re all looking forward to the day when live events can return but only 

when the time is right and only when it is safe to do so. With that determination, our highly 

competitive sector united and pulled together to secure over €56 million in government 

support packages, for which we are truly grateful’. He outlined that his sector wants to be part 

of the solution, working with relevant stakeholders including government, the HSE and local councils. In June, they produced 

and submitted to government, a strategic roadmap and protocol for the safe return of organised and ticketed live entertainment 

events. This report embodies a full recovery plan for the sector with enhanced protocol measures that include social distancing 

for how events could return safely at the right time. Five months on, it is still being reviewed by the relevant ministers and their 

departments but he emphasised that the sector stands ready to support with meaningful engagement, when called upon to do 

so. In looking at how the sector in partnership with Dublin City Council can play a key role in resetting and reshaping the future 

of the economic development of Dublin, Mr. Green proposed his top ten interventions, supports and recommendations for the 

recovery that will help boost and drive economic growth:

• The community will be a key driver in the return of city development, however, people require a ‘must see’ experience to 

travel back into the capital and the uniqueness of sought-after live events provides this very reason. 

• It has been proven that live events drive the night-time economy while filling millions of bed nights across hotels, so let us 

exploit this factor.

• Cities like Dublin need to be more competitive, supportive and organised in competing for major events across European 

capitals. The establishment of a Dublin City Council economic focused  and based development unit for events would not 

only enhance the city but also create thousands of new jobs and drive billions of euro back into the businesses across the 

city. For every €1 spent on a live entertainment ticket, an additional €6 is generated into the economy. 

• The ticketing systems provided are an ideal opportunity for Dublin businesses and Dublin City Council to target additional 

visitor enhancements, for example hotels, family attractions, outdoor activities, and things to do while in Dublin. Last year, 

Dubliners attended twice the number of live music events compared to London pro-rata of population. Thus he said, ‘most 

Irish people purchased their ticket for shows, on average three months in advance so use this data to build back better 

post-COVID’. 

• A huge support to venues coming out of COVID would be a rates waiver or credit along with a reduction in VAT, whereby 

encouraging increased activity seven nights a week.    

• The urgent need for insurance cancellation protection support for venues and promoters who could face immediate closure 

due to a second or third wave of COVID-19. Currently, there is no support or way to recoup pre-production costs.

• An operational method statement agreed by the relevant authorities, including Dublin City Council, or a clearinghouse 

structure to be put in place to ensure the safe reopening and operation of venues and events. 

• A consumer law protection regarding refunds to allow promoters and venues to reschedule event dates within a reasonable 

time period, similar to other European countries like Portugal, Germany and Belgium.

• The establishment of a permanent interdepartmental task force, led by Dublin City Council, with key stakeholders including 

the HSE, Dublin Fire Brigade, An Garda Síochana, Fáilte Ireland, the Department of Culture and Tourism together with 

representatives from the commercial live entertainment sector. 

The sector plays a 
huge role in generating 

tourism, particularly 
to the city of Dublin, 

driving the night-time 
economy

We were the first to 
close and we will be 

the last to reopen Dr. Dáithí Downey, Head of Housing Policy, Research and Strategy, Dublin City Council

In response, Mr. Yeates described how he suspected that the software that is coming in ‘is collaboration not competition, which 

is the centre of the commercial world in terms of individual choices’, saying, ‘it is a really interesting innovation that the sector 

seeks a joined-up approach to support commercial activity’ going forward. Mr. Yeates then introduced Dr. Dáithí Downey to 

contribute on the area of community resilience and how to build it further to support culture in the city. 

Dr. Downey expressed his pleasure to be at the summit, immediately reflecting on Mr. Green’s ‘extraordinarily ambitious’ agenda 

to build back. He referred to a couple of previous points, namely: community as a driver and bringing that sought-after, must-

see novelty back to our place. He continued ‘apart from the loss of lives and livelihoods, which is something that will be very 

significant for us to understand as we move forward in the reset and recovery, one of the things that is very obvious that we have 

lost is the opportunity to spontaneously move about and go and see and introduce ourselves to the novel, new or reembrace 

the traditional in terms of the arts, activities, engagement and place’. 

• There is huge potential to grow live audiences, to attract over six million people to Dublin annually, generating billions of 

additional revenue for the city.

68 69

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 89



On the other hand, he revealed that ‘one of the things we have perhaps found, is the 

connectivity at the local level that has somehow emerged as strengths and resilience 

within which we are living, working and operating today’, saying ‘it may yet yield some 

very profound and long-lasting changes, that we do need to bring our debate and 

discussion back to’. He observed that is, ‘one of the major roles that community-based 

activation and development can have and the great expression of that will be instantly 

cultural, I expect it will come from all forms of cultural artefacts and production, first and 

foremost, as we try to express how we feel, how we understand and how we aspire to 

change’. 

He was struck by some of the contributions from previous speakers, in terms of ‘how we 

might envisage connectivity in the city, the 15 minute city, the idea of having better public 

infrastructure and gamification within the city that changes our behaviour or allows for 

behaviour change’. He also referenced Mr. Campion’s rhetorical question that he then 

answered about: why you would continue to maintain a presence in Dublin in the current 

circumstances, reminding the forum that it came back to culture and the wider community, 

‘so we’re in need of a way to re-express our sense of identity and place and to allow that to 

be participatory and inclusive and all of these key terms like sustainable are very important 

to that too’. 

Dr. Downey proposed that if there was one major 

arena of collaborative work required at the moment, 

‘it is to ensure that the levelling up of opportunities as 

we build back better are taken on’, and that ‘we have 

activation and engagement measures that bring back the skills and training opportunities 

for people to participate in all aspects of arts in terms of performance and production 

and the skills involved in doing everything around that, but also allows the participation 

just for the fun and enjoyment of it and to enable that to happen, not necessarily at a 

fully commercialised level, but to support the broadening of engagement in cultural and 

artistic activity in the city’. 

On that basis, he explained that there have been a number of discussions in an area of work that he leads on the local and 

community development committee, about how community and culture will connect again and lead to greater integration and 

opportunities for the city. With responsibility for working with Lord Mayor Chu on the integration strategy for the city, amongst 

a few others, he highlighted that as one of the arenas for a more joined-up approach to what is being done, ‘allowing the local 

areas to connect with each other and the centre and ensuring that there is a foundation there to grow commercial and public 

cultural activity, I think that’s the aspiration for the future that we should embrace’. 

Mr. Yeates reflected on one of the great enforced innovations of lockdown as ‘the way we started to treat time, as people had an 

hour or two to cook dinner and re-engage with their families’. He suggested, ‘the anxiety of time that consumer society brings 

has been detrimental to the building of community and, therefore, to the arts, which requires 

a lot more time, appreciation and deeper thinking. If that was brought forward as part of the 

download and one of the learnings, we could have a great renaissance of attention. I think 

if all we’re saying to people is that they are consumers dependent on their economic worth, 

we’re going to find it very difficult to have culture, arts and community that is meaningful’. 

Mr. Yeates then introduced Kevin McCarthy as Secretary General of the Department of Rural 

and Community Development and former Assistant Secretary General of the Department of 

Education and Skills, with a unique insight into how the government supports community 

identity and resilience, noting how enormously impressed he was in earlier discussions 

about how Mr. McCarthy understood the relationship between the economy and a strong 

community.

Kevin McCarthy opened his remarks by thanking the moderator and organisers, praising the 

event and the contributions thus far and wishing to reflect on some of these. He explained 

that the Department of Rural and Community Development was established in 2017 and that 

part of its mission is to seek to promote inclusive, vibrant and sustainable communities and 

as such, his focus as part of the panel was on the community dimension. In looking at the 

current challenge and the much mentioned ‘building back better’ initiative, he advocated, 

‘placing community at the heart of our recovery now is what I would see as a really key 

dimension of how Dublin approaches this reset challenge. We want a recovery that is going to put people first and prioritise the 

revival of an economy that works for everybody. There are a lot of elements in terms of social inclusion, social solidarity, the role 

of community and support for community that need to be part of that conversation’. 

Reflecting on Dr. Downey’s mention of the solidarity that has been seen and thinking back on what the experience of 2020 has 

been on everybody, he observed that one of the very positive aspects has been the solidarity, local leadership, innovation and 

volunteerism at local and community levels as part of the community response to the crisis. The challenge now, he believed, ‘is 

to draw on this, learn from it, capture it and build on it as we try to identify the elements of the recovery and reset agenda for 

Dublin’. Mr. McCarthy said that he would take that sense of renewal of community and appreciation of our interdependence as 

being really strong positives. He outlined part of the job of his department is creating the policy foundations to support that and 

community and voluntary organisations as well as social enterprise, the social economy and volunteering. ‘I suppose it’s really 

connecting the conversation around the role of arts and culture and if we think about what the opportunities and challenges 

are for Dublin in recovery, remembering that it is: an international city, the Irish capital and connected and it’s really important 

to see the Dublin and national economy as interdependent, it’s crucial for national economic recovery’, he explained.  

One of the things 
that is very obvious 
that we have lost is 
the opportunity to 

spontaneously move 
about and go and 
see and introduce 

ourselves to the novel, 
new or reembrace the 

traditional in terms 
of the arts, activities, 

engagement and place

Allowing the local areas 
to connect with each 
other and the centre 

and ensuring that there 
is a foundation there to 
grow commercial and 

public cultural activity, 
I think that’s the 

aspiration for the future 
that we should embrace

One of the major 
roles that community 
based activation and 

development can 
have and the great 

expression of that will 
be instantly cultural

We want a recovery 
that is going to put 

people first and 
prioritise the revival 
of an economy that 

works for everybody. 
There are a lot of 

elements in terms 
of social inclusion, 

social solidarity, the 
role of community 

and support for 
community that need 

to be part of that 
conversation

Kevin McCarthy, Secretary General, Department of Rural and Community Development

70 71

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 90



Mr. McCarthy highlighted cities as important too, with a lot of reflection at the summit 

on the challenges Dublin has and is facing from the fall-off in office and retail activity. 

While considering the overseas perspective, he underlined international visibility and 

attractiveness for visitors and internationally mobile people as part of what it can offer 

as a cultural setting, as a lived in network of people and communities and part of what 

makes a community. Reflecting on the point, he commented that ‘the arts sector and the 

role of culture in creating and sustaining vibrant communities cannot be overstated and 

is a really important piece of that connection’. Mr. McCarthy acknowledged that there are lots of other elements in terms of what 

makes cities attractive and there are challenges in encouraging families to come in, live, visit and spend their money in the city 

as well as challenges around public infrastructure, public realm and what makes places attractive. He noted that some of the 

changes we are seeing in office accommodation and possible trends into the future may offer potential for reimagining parts of 

the city and thinking differently about how we plan and create those spaces that people will want to be part of and come into.

In relation to the social economy, Mr. McCarthy described how from a community perspective, ‘social enterprise is a hugely 

important part of what a recovery for Dublin should involve’. He emphasised that ‘the social enterprise sector in Ireland is 

still underdeveloped, but there is a huge potential to grow and support it, to see it as a vehicle for creating sustainable job 

opportunities into the future as there is an ethos in social enterprise around putting the person before the bottom line, that I 

think supports sustainable quality employment opportunity and also creates a really strong sense of community in terms of the 

impact of social enterprise and the social economy. We do need to think about that and its role as part of any vision for Dublin’s 

future’.

He recognised that community development and supporting communities must be a huge 

aspect of this, stating: ‘if we are real about ensuring that everybody is part of the recovery, 

that everybody has a say in their own future, the vision of and for their community and how 

to realise that, we need to think about how we include all of those voices and in particular 

the most marginalised voices, newcomers and others on the margin’. He observed that 

younger people had been mentioned numerous times in the discussions and that it is very 

important to think about ‘how we involve them in the conversations around the future as 

they have the greatest stake in the shape of the recovery’. He revealed that all the evidence 

tells us that they are often the most distant from those conversations, even in terms of 

community leadership and community development, so we need to think about how we 

bring them into it. Mr. McCarthy concluded, ‘the values that need to inform the recovery are such an important part of that 

conversation. We faced choices in this crisis that we never had to face before, we now have choices to make in reflecting on that 

experience around how we want to grow and develop into the future, what we measure, what we want to capture, the need for 

well-being indicators. We need to think differently about what we value and how we measure what we value into the future, 

there’s a big agenda there that needs to be an important part of the conversation in terms of thinking about what that is’. 

Mr. Yeates highlighted in particular, Mr. McCarthy’s point about what we value and posed questions about, ‘what do we value, 

what is important to me now that my choices are reduced, what choices will I make when they are presented again, what will I 

spend on, and who will I spend time with’, all representing very big questions brought about by the lockdown. Mr. Yeates then 

introduced Maureen Kennelly, who he said had a unique introduction to the lockdown in that she went from Director of Poetry 

Ireland to being appointed Director of the Arts Council the week before it began. He observed that her role was transformed 

by definition because she had almost a year in a completely different context than any of her 

predecessors. He congratulated Ms. Kennelly because he said, ‘like Mr. Green, you have been 

very central to the extra investment into live events’. He described her as being pivotal to an 

unprecedented increase of 75% for a new 2021 Arts Council budget, with probably the greatest 

challenge being how to distribute this great support by government. 

Maureen Kennelly said it was great to be part of the summit and confirmed that she had 

been appointed the week before the lockdown was announced and took up her role mid-

April, characterising it as a ‘baptism of fire’. She continued, ‘it has been an extraordinarily 

empowering time as well and we’ve obviously had this great news from government, which will 

be transformative for the arts’. The points made by her fellow panellists that particularly struck 

her were community, collaboration and values, saying that all those have been very clear in the 

last eight or nine months and commenting ‘how can we build back better is certainly a shared 

goal for all of us, so there are many good things to be wrought from this for sure’. She wished to 

speak about what the Arts Council has done since the onset of COVID and what it plans to do and as Mr. Yeates mentioned, ‘this 

increased investment is terrific but there are obviously many things to consider in terms of how best to plan to disperse that and 

to really transform the arts landscape for the future’.   

She explained, ‘we are working in a very changed world and as we all know, the crisis has 

impacted hugely on jobs and livelihoods and it has undermined the financial viability of 

many arts organisations. With the first lockdown last March, all that planning ended overnight 

and we all recognised too that arts and entertainment is one of the sectors most affected 

by restrictions’. Speaking about two reports commissioned from EY, she revealed that the 

decline in economic activity in the arts sectors will be decreased by approximately 55% 

compared with 11% in the wider Irish economy and that the latest CSO data shows a 67% decline in economic activity in the 

sector. On the plus side, she outlined that the public response to and engagement with the work of artists online and in other 

smaller, bespoke, intimate ways has been enormously positive. She believed everybody would agree with that and quoted Joni 

Mitchell’s line of ‘you don’t know what you’ve got, til it’s gone’ as a mantra regarding COVID, for many people in highlighting 

‘how much arts and culture has to help us as citizens and human beings’.  

It’s really important 
to see the Dublin and 
national economy as 
interdependent, it’s 
crucial for national 
economic recovery

For many years 
artist’s fees have 
been well below 

where they should 
be

The arts sector and 
the role of culture 

in creating and 
sustaining vibrant 

communities cannot 
be overstated and is a 
really important piece 

of that connection

Maureen Kennelly, Director, Arts Council of Ireland

We are working 
in a very changed 
world and as we 

all know, the crisis 
has impacted 

hugely on jobs and 
livelihoods and it 

has undermined the 
financial viability 

of many arts 
organisations

72 73

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 91



Regarding the supports at the outset of the pandemic, she explained that the Arts Council fast-tracked payments to hundreds 

of organisations and asked them to prioritise payments to artists with whom they had hoped to work, ‘so even for people who 

had not been fully contracted, the council recognised that the individual artist was going to 

really experience hardship in an unprecedented way’. The Council, therefore, wanted these 

payments to be prioritised and to ‘make this 90% of funding available to people up-front’. 

She also introduced the new ‘pay the artist’ policy, which the council launched just before 

COVID-19 in February. This was instigated ‘in recognition of the fact that, for many years 

artist’s fees have been well below where they should be’. She stated that ‘it is an area of huge 

focus along with the equality, human rights and diversity policy, to ensure that there is as 

wide a range of artists involved in the arts in Ireland as possible and that they are appropriately paid for their work’, indicating 

that ‘the day of the artist as hobbyist or artist doing any of us a favour is over’. In relation to freelance artists, she stressed that 

the Council prioritises making bursary decisions quickly and distributing those funds across art forms, which she added have 

been expanded in many areas.  

She remarked that before the initial additional investment from the government, €80 million 

was the Arts Council budget for the year, which did not offer a medium-term response to the 

crisis and much of that funding was committed by the time lockdown happened. Like many 

other organisations, including the national campaign for the arts, the council worked to ensure 

the arts was elevated in public policy considerations with the intention of getting an increased 

allocation of public expenditure, ‘so there was extensive engagement with the political and 

government system to make that case’. 

Elaborating on funding, she explained that following discussions with the last government, the 

Arts Council received an additional €20 million of funding in late June and with the support of 

the current government under the new Arts and Culture Minister, Catherine Martin, received 

a further additional €5 million in the July stimulus package, bringing the council’s budget to 

€105 million. ‘More recently, the budget decision in October to increase the allocation to €130 

million was a very welcome and historic decision and shows that the government has listened 

very carefully to the many voices that have been raised in such an articulate way to say, arts 

and culture matter and they are going to help us build back better’, she highlighted. While she 

recognised that money does not solve every problem, she believes that it is a very important 

endorsement of the role that artists play in Irish society. She also acknowledged that ‘the 

restrictions are going to continue to impact severely on artistic practice and how the public engage with the arts’ and that the 

artists and the public are the two important focuses of the council’s strategy in making great art work, ‘every day, that is who we’re 

considering, how is the artist and what do the public need’. She commented that they have been impressed by the exemplary 

behaviour of the artistic community and how it has reached towards the public via online and various communications as well 

as through very particular, bespoke things like Children’s Books Ireland sending books to disadvantaged children across many 

family hubs and direct provision centres and Poetry Ireland engaging a fleet of poets to ring older people who were alone and 

vulnerable and to read them reassuring poems. 

She shared examples of the massively increased demand due to the crisis that organisations faced, saying that up to the end 

of August they had received requests for €152 million in financial support which has further increased since. Last year, they 

received 3,500 applications for funding while this year it is about 6,500. The Arts Council provided an emergency stabilisation 

fund for sixteen key organisations in the national and regional arts infrastructure, many of them venues, which allowed them to 

avert closure in 2020, but ‘there is no doubt they will still face a challenging 2021’. Expanding on bursaries, she described how 

the increased investment allowed the Council to provide direct funding to 1,200 individual artists who otherwise would have 

been without work. The Council also introduced a new COVID award, that was ‘a very light-touch scheme which asked people 

to submit in a simple format, there were 67,000 new applicants, showing that the pandemic has reached widely into the artistic 

community. We have artists coming to us that would never before have seen us as relevant to their livelihoods, illustrating the 

effect of the pandemic’, she observed.

In terms of plans for next year, Ms. Kennelly noted that the core infrastructure is there and the strategic organisations have 

applied for their annual funding. She also spoke about the new capacity-building support scheme introduced this year and 

the new professional development award that ‘has had huge reach into the community’, and confirmed that the council will 

be continuing with these two schemes. She indicated that going forward, they will be considering individual artists and will 

explore how to further expand the bursaries and after evaluating, will make the necessary adjustments. She emphasised, ‘we’re 

very concerned that the restrictions continue to restrict artistic activity so we were delighted to be part of the Minister’s Culture 

Recovery Task Force. There are ten strong recommendations from that, one of them was about the restrictions that arts venues 

and arts producers are experiencing and looking to see how could these merit further consideration by government in terms of 

opening up’. 

She concluded by highlighting the professionalism of the arts sector, as ‘almost unique in being able to present events to an 

extremely high quality’, something she saw at the Dublin Theatre Festival, the Abbey and the Kilkenny and Galway Arts Festivals, 

where the latter had registered 162,000 attendances at its slimmed-down version with no cases of COVID-19 registered. She 

pointed to the many examples from abroad that demonstrate that it is a sector that is exemplified by very high levels of 

professional safety and care for its audience.   

Arts and culture 
matter and they are 

going to help us build 
back better

We have artists 
coming to us 

that would never 
before have seen 
us as relevant to 
their livelihoods, 

illustrating the effect 
of the pandemic

The restrictions are 
going to continue 
to impact severely 
on artistic practice 
and how the public 

engage with the arts

Panel Discussion
Mr. Yeates proposed moving off the safe space momentarily to ask a series of questions, including ‘what do you think is going 

to happen, has the pandemic been traumatic and what will be the effect’. He referred to the ‘great online legacy’, wondering 

how that is going to impact live entertainment and if it is going to enhance it or compete with it. He asked ‘where is the for and 

against going to fall in the future, is there bad news coming that we’ve got to prepare for, is the recovery going to be staggered 

or fast, what is really going to be genuinely new in all of the panellists’ fields’. 

74 75

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 92



Ms. Kennelly responded first, stating, ‘I do think that never again will the arts be taken for 

granted, I think that’s new, I believe it’s a discussion that needs to be constantly there, we 

can’t think that everyone now knows how valuable they are and so let’s just roll out the 

funding and let it happen. Paradoxically, it took them to be obliterated for everybody to see 

and be aware of the value of them. That’s the good point to take from it’. She emphasised 

her worry about the effect of the crisis on the arts community because it has suffered a trauma and while the support of the 

public, agencies like the Arts Council and the department has been good, she singled out young people in particular. She gave 

the example of a teenager considering a career in dance, who now might question, if having viewed what happened in this 

pandemic, it really is a viable career for them. She is therefore concerned that people would be lost out of the profession. 

She also expressed worry for people who have been marginalised from the arts sector who might feel even further marginalised 

because the pandemic has been particularly severe on them. Using the example of ‘someone who is not fully abled’ she explained 

that it would take them longer to come back and be involved in the arts. Thus she said ‘it’s very important that we keep an eye 

on that and that we work even harder to make sure that people who have been marginalised from us in the past and from 

arts organisations are brought more centrally into the fold’. She broached the area of digital as being ‘very interesting’, while 

believing that there is learning, she highlighted the critical part as how the artist gets paid. ‘I 

mentioned about paying the artist and the artist not being forgotten, but I believe the rush 

to digital meant that the artist was maybe even further side-lined, so I think the government 

needs to sign up to the copyright directive that is called for in the cultural recovery task force 

report as a matter of urgency. If it’s going to continue to be a mixture of digital and in-person, 

we absolutely need to find a way for artists to benefit financially from the digital space’.    

Mr. Yeates complemented Ms. Kennelly’s ‘very specific points’ before asking Dr. Downey, ‘as 

we can’t form community, will community form in a different way permanently’. 

Dr. Downey replied that he believes it will and that we are always shaping and reshaping. He 

reflected on the question about optimism and pessimism, and how it came to mind that the 

optimist is supposed to believe that we live in the best possible world and the pessimist worries that that just might be true, 

proposing that we are somewhere between the two. ‘We need to be very realistic about what’s in front of us, about the trauma 

and recognising and understanding the loss both of life and of livelihood and, in some way, trying to allow that space to be part 

of our build back, our return, our reset, and culture will be an arena in which that story is told,’ he concluded. 

Mr. Yeates reminded Mr. Green of their previous conversation about, how a child, in accessing an instrument in a marginalised 

community in their local arts centre, is directly connected to the Gaiety Theatre, saying he knew some children who accessed 

instruments and ended up playing in the Olympia in a commercial concert. He asked him how he would make that connection 

real now, as equality and diversity are such important parts of this reset. 

Mr. Green stated that there is a connection and suggested that COVID brought to the 

fore, the disconnect between the commercial and funded sectors and the objectives, 

links and community buy-in which he felt has been noted by government, departments 

and the Arts Council. He commented that ‘a lot of people, even in government, would 

have said that they weren’t aware of the commercial sector and assumed that the Arts 

Council looked after it too, which wasn’t the case’. Going forward, he stressed that 

there will be a lot more joined-up thinking and highlighted that, ‘the big concern for the 

commercial sector is the loss of the skillset’. He continued: ‘we have a unique skillset 

that we used to import from Europe for events to run here and that’s a big concern, 

that this could be lost as well as the SMEs’. In relation to digital, he explained that it 

is not commercially viable unless you are funded and 

receive funding to sustain digital events. However, on 

the positive side, he confirmed that they are ‘seeing a 

lot of ticket sales for future events and there is a big 

built-up demand there’, asserting ‘we are fully confident that our sector will fully come back 

next year when it is safe to do so, bigger and better than ever before, and I know that people 

will want to see entertainment’. 

Mr. Yeates asked Mr. McCarthy for his final thoughts, commenting how we should mark that 

Diego Maradona was a poor child playing football on the street before he became a world 

superstar and that this had been the theme of the panel discussion, the relationship between 

community and success.  

In terms of what will be new and different, Mr. McCarthy believes ‘people are thinking 

locally much more than they were before and part of the challenge from the central 

perspective is how we connect investment priorities nationally with locally identified 

and locally generated ideas for a local, community-led vision of its future. It’s creating 

the supports and structures that can make that happen in a sensible way, place-based 

programmatic investment so that the investment priorities of different government 

departments and agencies can be brought together in a way that makes sense for 

communities, that they can translate into their vision of their future and that they have 

a say in it. That’s a big challenge for us, how we make that more effective’.  

I do think that never 
again will the arts be 

taken for granted, 
I think that’s new

If it’s going to 
continue to be a 

mixture of digital 
and in-person, we 

absolutely need 
to find a way for 
artists to benefit 

financially from the 
digital space

We are confident 
that our sector will 

fully come back 
next year when 

it is safe to do so, 
bigger and better 
than ever before, 
and I know that 

people will want to 
see entertainment

‘We need to be very 
realistic about what’s 

in front of us, about the 
trauma and recognising 
and understanding the 

loss of life and livelihood 
and, in some way, trying 
to allow that space to be 

part of our build back, 
our return, our reset, and 
culture will be an arena 

in which that story is told

People are thinking 
locally much more than 

they were before and 
part of the challenge 

from the central 
perspective is how we 

connect investment 
priorities nationally with 

locally identified and 
locally generated ideas 
for a local, community 
led vision of its future

76 77

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 93



79

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

78

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 94



Councillor Claire O’Connor closed the summit by thanking the speakers, panellists and moderators for their collaboration and  

insightful discussions, which she explained are relevant to the current COVID-19 impact, the upcoming BREXIT impact and 

to future uncertainty. She commented, ‘even with these uncertain times, with today’s discussions and collaborations, we are 

building stronger connections to tackle the many issues facing our city and region together. These issues were facing us anyway 

but they have been accelerated by the COVID crisis’. 

She also conveyed her gratitude to all the participants for joining the 

summit in such large numbers, noting the benefit of virtual events as the 

ability to eradicate room capacity limits and, interestingly, that it was 

by far the highest attended summit to date. She was delighted to see 

and hear the great discussions and interactive comments throughout 

the summit. Cllr. O’Connor confirmed that the Economic Development 

Office and the Economic Development and Enterprise SPC would work 

on the post-event collation and report on the summit discussions. 

Whilst the current circumstances prevented participants from being 

together in person, she took the opportunity to congratulate the team 

for delivering such an interactive summit with an ambitious agenda. 

She emphasised that ‘the summit series has a strong record for providing a valuable 

platform to exchange ideas on the future of Dublin’ and Dublin currently. These 

conversations, she explained, ‘allow us to not only reflect on the priorities of the 

day but to critically analyse the challenges that lie ahead. This has never been more 

important than in today’s environment’. She acknowledged the participation of the Lord 

Mayor of Dublin, Commissioner McGuinness, the many contributors from Dublin City 

Council, the Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment, Draper Espirit, Tech Ireland, Scale Ireland, Enterprise Ireland, 

DCU, VRAI, Cisco, SEAI, Fáilte Ireland, Dublin Regional Skills Forum, Ibec, Dalata Hotel Group, Cpl, Dublin Town, Wide Awake 

Communications, the Department of Rural and Community Development and the Arts Council.

Cllr. O’Connor remarked that the contributions will inform all the stakeholders who are actively working to support the city and 

economy. A summit outcomes report will be produced in order to record the contributions, insights and examples shared. This 

report will be disseminated to national government, policymakers, stakeholders and interested parties. ‘Whilst we come to the 

end of the 2020 Reset Summit, the reality is that the conversation is only just beginning’, concluded the chair. 

5. Closing Address

Even with these uncertain times, 
with today’s discussions and 

collaborations, we  are building 
stronger connections to tackle the 

many issues facing our city and 
region together. These issues were 

facing us anyway but they have 
been accelerated by the COVID crisis

Whilst we come to the 
end of the 2020 Reset 
Summit, the reality is 

that the conversation is 
only just beginning

80 81

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 95



Section Role Contributor Title Organisation Website

MC

Speaker

Speaker

Speaker

Speaker

Dublin City 
Council

Dublin City 
Council

Dublin City 
Council

Department 
of Enterprise, 
Trade and 
Employment

European 
Commission

ec.europa.eu/info/
index_en

www.dublincity.ie/
council/your-city-council/
lord-mayor-dublin

www.dublincity.ie

www.dublincity.ie

Cllr. Claire O’Connor

Hazel Chu

Mairéad McGuinness 

Richard Shakespeare 

Declan Hughes 

Chairperson, Economic 
Development & Enterprise 
Strategic Policy Committee

Commissioner for 
Financial Stability, 
Financial Services and the 
Capital Markets Union

Lord Mayor of Dublin

Assistant Chief Executive

Assistant Secretary General enterprise.gov.ie/en

Introduction & 
Closing Remarks

Lord Mayor’s 
Welcome

Keynote Address/
European Context

Dublin City 
Context

Dublin Region 
Context

6. Appendices
6.1 Reset Summit Contributors

Moderator

Panellist

Panellist

Panellist

Panellist

Brian Caulfield

Niall Campion

Eoghan 
Hanrahan

Jamie Cudden

Dr. Roisin Lyons

Entrepreneur, Investor, Board 
Member, Chairperson

Managing Director

Regional Director, Dublin 
Region and Regional 
Development

Smart City Programme Manager

Assistant Professor of 
Entrepreneurship and Innovation

Draper Esprit/ Tech 
Ireland / Scale Ireland

VRAI

Enterprise Ireland

Dublin City Council

Dublin City University

draperesprit.com / www.
techireland.org / www.
scaleireland.org  

vraisimulation.com

www.enterprise-ireland.com/en

https://www.dublincity.
ie/business/economic-
development-and-enterprise/
smart-cities/smart-dublin

www.dcu.ie

Panel 1 Innovation & Entrepreneurship

Role Contributor Title Organisation Website

Moderator

Panellist

Panellist

Panellist

Panellist

Dr. Sabrina 
Dekker

Brian Jordan

William Walsh

Shane Dineen

John O’Hara

Climate Action Coordinator

Head of Innovation & Industry 
Solutions

Chief Executive Officer

Environment & Planning Manager

City Planning Officer

Dublin City Council

Cisco

SEAI

Fáilte Ireland

Dublin City Council

www.dublincity.ie

www.cisco.com

www.seai.ie

www.failteireland.ie

www.dublincity.ie

Panel 2 Sustainability & Climate Change

Role Contributor Title Organisation Website

Moderator

Panellist

Panellist

Panellist

Panellist

Natasha Kinsella

Danny McCoy

Pat McCann

Siobhan O’Shea

Richard Guiney

Regional Skills Manager, Dublin

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Executive Officer

Director Cpl / Chairperson 
Dublin Regional Skills Forum

Chief Executive Officer

Dublin Regional Skills 
Forum

Ibec

Dalata Hotel Group

Cpl

Dublin Town

www.regionalskills.ie/regions/
dublin

www.ibec.ie

dalatahotelgroup.com

www.cpl.com

www.dublintown.ie

Panel 3 Employment & Skills

Role Contributor Title Organisation Website

Moderator

Panellist

Panellist

Panellist

Panellist

Ray Yeates

Justin Green

Dr. Dáithí 
Downey

Kevin McCarthy

Maureen 
Kennelly

City Arts Officer

Managing Director

Head of Housing Policy, Research 
and Strategy

Secretary General

Director

Dublin City Council

Wide Awake 
Communications

Dublin City Council

Department of Rural 
and Community 
Development 

Arts Council of Ireland

www.dublincityartsoffice.ie

wideawake.ie

www.dublincity.ie

www.gov.ie/en/organisation/
department-of-rural-and-
community-development

www.artscouncil.ie

Panel 4 Culture & Community

Role Contributor Title Organisation Website

82 83

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 96

https://ec.europa.eu/info/index_en
https://ec.europa.eu/info/index_en
http://www.dublincity.ie/council/your-city-council/lord-mayor-dublin
http://www.dublincity.ie/council/your-city-council/lord-mayor-dublin
http://www.dublincity.ie/council/your-city-council/lord-mayor-dublin
http://www.dublincity.ie
http://www.dublincity.ie
https://enterprise.gov.ie/en
https://draperesprit.com
http://www.techireland.org
http://www.techireland.org
http://www.scaleireland.org  
http://www.scaleireland.org  
https://vraisimulation.com
http://www.enterprise-ireland.com/en
https://www.dublincity.ie/business/economic-development-and-enterprise/smart-cities/smart-dublin
https://www.dublincity.ie/business/economic-development-and-enterprise/smart-cities/smart-dublin
https://www.dublincity.ie/business/economic-development-and-enterprise/smart-cities/smart-dublin
https://www.dublincity.ie/business/economic-development-and-enterprise/smart-cities/smart-dublin
http://www.dcu.ie
http://www.dublincity.ie
http://www.cisco.com
http://www.seai.ie
http://www.failteireland.ie
http://www.dublincity.ie
http://www.regionalskills.ie/regions/dublin
http://www.regionalskills.ie/regions/dublin
http://www.ibec.ie
https://dalatahotelgroup.com
http://www.cpl.com
http://www.dublintown.ie
http://www.dublincityartsoffice.ie
https://wideawake.ie
http://www.dublincity.ie
http://www.gov.ie/en/organisation/department-of-rural-and-community-development
http://www.gov.ie/en/organisation/department-of-rural-and-community-development
http://www.gov.ie/en/organisation/department-of-rural-and-community-development
http://www.artscouncil.ie


6.2 Reset Summit Photograph Gallery

84 85

Reset Summit - Outcomes Report Reset Summit - Outcomes Report

P
age 97



Page 98



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 1 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 
The European Programme Support Office ..................................................................................................................... 2 

Dublin City Council – 2021 European Project Involvement & Success ............................................................................... 2 

Dublin City Council – European Networks ...................................................................................................................... 2 

Lord Mayor European Network .................................................................................................................................. 2 

EuroCities ...................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Conference on the Future of Europe .......................................................................................................................... 3 

European Funding Programme Focus ............................................................................................................................ 3 

Open calls for European Programme Funding applications ...................................................................................... 3 

EU Programmes events, seminars and workshops ....................................................................................................... 3 

European Expert Framework ...................................................................................................................................... 3 

European Programme Support Office (EPSO) Development ....................................................................................... 4 

Strategic Objectives: EPSO Alignment ........................................................................................................................ 4 

Progress Overview on the EPSO: 7 Core Deliverables ................................................................................................... 4 

1. Operational Developments ................................................................................................................................. 5 

2. Corporate Governance ........................................................................................................................................ 5 

3. EPSO Project Participation Appraisal Process .................................................................................................... 6 

4. Communications .................................................................................................................................................. 7 

5. Training & Development Programme ................................................................................................................. 7 

6. European Expert Framework .............................................................................................................................. 8 

7. Events ................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

EPSO 2022 Work Programme .......................................................................................................................................... 8 

Appendix 1: European Funding Programmes Schedule of Development & Open Calls: Q1 – Q4 2022 ............... 9 

Appendix 2: EPSO Development 2022 Timeframe: .................................................................................................. 12 

Appendix 3: EPSO Work Programme 2022: ............................................................................................................. 13 

 

 

Economic Development & Enterprise  
Strategic Policy Committee 

 

European Programme Support Office 
(EPSO): 

Progress Report: 
 

24th January 2021 
 

Page 99



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 2 | P a g e  

The European Programme Support Office 

Dublin City Council’s European Programme Support Office (EPSO) for the organisation continues to 
develop and implement the EU Programme Participation Strategy 2021 – 2027 for the organisation.  

EPSO Work Programme and Developments for last quarter and for 2022 are outlined in the sections 
below and overleaf, but are not limited to:   

 Analysing & Showcasing Dublin City Council involvement in European projects and Programmes  

 Developing European Network Connections  

 Focusing on European Funding Programme Opportunities 

 Further developing the EPSO 

Dublin City Council – 2021 European Project Involvement & Success 
Dublin has had a successful year in Europe to date with the below achievements: 

 Smart Cities – On 26th November 2021; Dublin was awarded joint second place in an EU awards ceremony 
marking the most innovative cities in Europe; securing a prize fund of €100,000. 
Supported by the European Innovation Council (EIC) under Horizon Europe, the seventh edition of the 
European Capital of Innovation Awards (iCapital) closed on Thursday 15 July 2021. The call received 39 
applications from across the European Union and Horizon Europe Associated Countries.  
Every year, the European Union recognises cities with inclusive innovation ecosystems by awarding the 
iCapital Prize. The latter identifies urban ecosystems that connect citizens with the public sector, academia, 
and businesses, to successfully translate results into improved wellbeing of the society, while at the same 
time boosting game-changing innovation. 

 Smart Cities – Dublin currently ranked 26th Smart City in the world, up 15 places on the previous year.  

 Economic Development – Dublin chosen as 1 of 8 global cities to partake in OECD Social Economy peer to 
peer learning project 

 Codema –securing €1.2 million EU funding to lead project to test & develop a project implementation unit for 
energy efficient & renewable projects in Dublin including €20million worth of upgrades to council buildings & 
sites within the region 

 Dublin’s 14 Henrietta Street, recently awarded the European Museum of the Year Silletto prize 2020 for local 
community engagement.  

Dublin City Council – European Networks 

Lord Mayor European Network 
Embassy of Columbia 
A meeting was held between Lord Mayor Alison Gilliland and the Embassy of Columbia of Ireland on 13th 
January 2022 and exchange of mutual interests and priorities. 

Embassy of Romania 
A meeting was held between Lord Mayor Alison Gilliland and the Romanian Ambassador on 11th January 
to discuss the Romanian language and promoting inclusion of Romanian Communities across the city.  

Embassy of Georgia 
A meeting was held between Lord Mayor Alison Gilliland and the Georgian Ambassador on 10th 
November to exchange of mutual interests and priorities and discuss Georgia’s accession application 
for EU membership in 2024.  

 

 

Page 100

https://scanner.topsec.com/?u=https%3A%2F%2Furldefense.com%2Fv3%2F__https%3A%2Fscanner.topsec.com%2F%3Fu%3Dhttps%2A3A%2A2F%2A2Furldefense.com%2A2Fv3%2A2F__https%2A3A%2A2Fwww.irishtimes.com%2A2Ftopics%2A2Ftopics-7.1213540%2A3Farticle%2A3Dtrue%2A26tag_location%2A3DEurope__%2A3B%2A21%2A21DOxrgLBm%2A21RRMT9H5A2WXKLV7Dy5U1VAxOPcTd9UCXcIziRkw8VSlcqtw_fbsjKPY28TW7Hsf5lVbVZIgnUQ%2A24%26t%3D7479f02a79c3685e66f45e8d7e7922514a1d0fcf%26d%3D1962%26r%3Dshow__%3BJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUlJSUl%21%21DOxrgLBm%21QABCJoJC-8qBGw9xw8iTdda_yqzgHjwBAPek2ErOQCnM-1mF_n7ihpGbCbkL2Yo_hPoFDgmUGg%24&r=show&t=f262d4d168923663cc9277a8fcda14c41ab1f0f6&d=1962
https://scanner.topsec.com/?u=https%3A%2F%2Furldefense.com%2Fv3%2F__https%3A%2Fscanner.topsec.com%2F%3Fu%3Dhttps%2A3A%2A2F%2A2Fec.europa.eu%2A2Finfo%2A2Fresearch-and-innovation%2A2Ffunding%2A2Ffunding-opportunities%2A2Ffunding-programmes-and-open-calls%2A2Fhorizon-europe_en%26t%3D069119ee05d01289109cdc5beb831381371f1dbc%26d%3D1962%26r%3Dshow__%3BJSUlJSUlJSUl%21%21DOxrgLBm%21QABCJoJC-8qBGw9xw8iTdda_yqzgHjwBAPek2ErOQCnM-1mF_n7ihpGbCbkL2Yo_hPq5WTATLQ%24&r=show&t=bb7e2645b01a872691406f7e800182beb49ea2c2&d=1962


EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 3 | P a g e  

EuroCities 

Mayors Alliance: 
The Eurocities Mayor Alliance took a collaborative approach to participation at COP26 focusing on the 
European Green Deal. Lord Mayor Alison Gilliland contributed to the Eurocities Mayor Alliance 
programme on 12th November 2021.  

Conference on the Future of Europe 

Lord Mayor Alison Gilliland participated in the Future of Housing conference which took place on 9th 
December 2021 as part of the Conference on Future of Europe. 

European Funding Programme Focus 

The European Programme Support Office (EPSO) is examining opportunities for the organisation in 

relation to various EU Funding programme Opportunities including, but not limited to:  

 Cohesion Policy 2021 - 2027 

 Urban Innovative Actions (UIA);  

 URBACT;  
 ETC - Northwest Europe;  
 ESPON;  

 CIVITAS;  
 Horizon Europe; 
  LIFE;  
 Erasmus;  
 Creative Europe;  
 CERV 
 

To support the 2022 development of EU Programme applications; the EPSO have collated details on: 

Open calls for European Programme Funding applications 

A schedule of open calls for European Funding applications has been collated with reference to the 
specific programmes above for 2022, as outlined in Appendix 1. The EPSO will continue to monitor these 
open calls & communicate to our colleagues across the organization.  

EU Programmes events, seminars and workshops 

A schedule of events, seminars and workshops relating to the various EU Programmes above has also 
been collated for 2022; which will support the organization in training & upskilling for open calls for EU 
funding programmes, as outlined in Appendix 1. 

European Expert Framework 
The tender brief has been developed to progress through a procurement process via the eTender 
platform for the establishment of a European expert framework, which can be utilized by the 
organisation via the EPSO. Core Priority 6 will continue to be progressed in the weeks ahead. It is 
anticipated that this tender will be published on e-tenders by end January 2022 and the framework in 
place by Q2 2022. 

Page 101



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 4 | P a g e  

European Programme Support Office (EPSO) Development 

The EU Programme Participation Strategy implementation Steering Committee continue to meet on 

implementing the strategy with the further development of the European Programme Support Office 

(EPSO) for the organisation. 

Priorities to date include resource recruitment; tender brief development to establishment a 

framework of European expertise; establishment of appropriate corporate governance, procedures 

and protocols for the operations of the office; developing a communications strategy and event 

programme schedule for 2022 and beyond. 

Strategic Objectives: EPSO Alignment  

The establishment and development of the EPSO aligns to the 7 Strategic Objectives of the Dublin City 

Council EU Programme Participation Strategy 2021 – 2027. 

1. To ensure that any participation in an EU partnership project by DCC staff contributes to the goals 

and policy objectives of the European Union and Dublin City Council. 

2. To promote participation in EU partnership projects which will measurably contribute to the 

capacity of DCC to meet its mission and public obligations. 

3. To cooperate with relevant bodies such as national contact points of EU Programmes, the Eastern 

and Midlands Regional Assembly (EMRA) and the Irish Regions European Office (IREO) that will 

assist with the participation of Dublin City Council staff in EU partnership projects. 

4. To engage with local communities and targeted beneficiaries matching where possible intended 

impacts with local needs. 

5. To build the international reputation of DCC and the city of Dublin through participation in EU 

partnership projects. 

6. To use participation in EU partnership projects to promote innovation in the operations of DCC that 

is green and smart and that enables openness, diversity and social inclusion. 

7. To ensure that participation in EU partnership projects brings additionality to the services of DCC.    

Progress Overview on the EPSO: 7 Core Deliverables 

The establishment of the EPSO and development of the 7 core deliverables of the office has continued 

throughout 2021 and Q1 2022. The EPSO work programme is completed for 2022 and available for 

information to members of economic & enterprise SPC. 

EPSO Core Deliverables:  

1. Operational Developments 
2. Corporate Governance  
3. EPSO Project Participation Appraisal Process 
4. Communications 
5. Training & Development Programme 
6. European Expert Framework 
7. Events 
 

Page 102



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 5 | P a g e  

1. Operational Developments 

Recruitment:  

Strategic Objective Alignment: 2; 6; 7 

Following summer recruitment; the remaining roles within the EPSO are new roles within the 

organisation, a business case was developed and submitted to the Department of Housing, Local 

Government and Heritage for sanctioning of these new roles. This follows the normal procedure within 

Local Government for new roles as they are established. Sanction from the Department, to fill two 

posts has been received, a recruitment drive will be undertaken to fill these remaining roles. In the 

interim the management and development of the EPSO falls within the direct remit of Executive 

Manager, CRES Department.  

CRM System: 

Strategic Objective Alignment: 2; 6; 7 
 

Meetings were held to development the best practice options for the EPSO for various CRM systems 

examining: 

i. Internal – Sharepoint 

ii. Internal – Councillor Portal  

iii. External – Website & Social Media Platforms  

 

In the interim, while these platforms are being developed; details on the Dublin City Council EU 

Programme Participation Strategy 2021 - 2027 & EPSO are being hosted under the Economic 

Development Office section on the Dublin City Council website and being disseminated via the EDO 

Twitter account and Dublin City Council twitter account. Engagement with Transformation Department 

on EPSO digital requirements and roll out of Citizens Hub portal are on- going, also Executive Manager 

CRES is a member of DCC Digital strategy development group and will provide information on digital 

requirements of ESPO strategy for inclusion in DRAFT DCC Digital Strategy. 

2. Corporate Governance 

Strategic Objective Alignment: 5; 6; 7 

Throughout Q4 2021 development of Procedure & Protocol practices has continued to ensure 
implementation of best practice approaches within the EPSO. Core Priority 2 will continue to be 
progressed and completed by Q1 2022. 
 
Q4 2021 Developments: 
Strategic Partnerships have been developed in Q4 2021 and 2022 to date with multiple engagements as 
outlined in figure 1 overleaf. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 103



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 6 | P a g e  

 
Figure 1: EPSO Strategic Partnerships 

 
 
 
The EPSO strategic partnerships will continue to be developed throughout 2022 in line with our 
strategic objectives for the successful developed of the ESPO.  

3. EPSO Project Participation Appraisal Process 

Strategic Objective Alignment: 1; 6; 7 

The evaluation process developed, to examine participation in various EU Programme opportunities, is 

in line with the Dublin City Council Objectives 2020 – 2024; the Dublin City Council EU Programme 

Participation Strategy 2021 – 2027 and the EU Goals 2021 – 2027.  

 

A review of the Local Economic Community Plan is required to be completed in 2022 and the 

development of a new Local Economic Community Plan for 2023 will commence in Q1 2022.  it is 

important that ESPO appraisal process takes account of LECP review & development of new LECP. 

Elements of the evaluation process are outlined in Table 4 and 5 below. Core Priority 3 will continue to 

be progressed in the weeks and months ahead.  

 

Table 4: Alignment to Dublin City Council EU Programme Participation Strategy 2021 - 2027 

Dublin City Council – Benefits of Participating  

1 Policy Alignment 

2 Capacity Building 

3 Regional Cooperation 

4 Network Building 

5 Reputation Enhancement 

6 Innovative Approaches 

7 Financial contributions 

Page 104



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 7 | P a g e  

 
Table 5: Evaluation of IURC Involvement: EPSO Matrix Review:  

 
 
 
 
 
 

EU 
Goals 
2021 - 
2027 

Dublin City Council Objectives 2020 – 2024 

 A Green, 
Low 
Carbon 
City 

Safe, Thriving 
Neighbourhoods 

A 
Strong, 
Diverse 
Economy 

Compact 
Growth with 
Connected 
Infrastructure 

Active, 
Inclusive 
Communities 

A 
Vibrant 
Cultural 
Life  

Smarter 
Europe 

      

Greener, 
Carbon-Free 
Europe 

      

Connected 
Europe 

      

Social 
Europe 

      

Europe 
Closer to 
Citizens 

      

4. Communications 

Strategic Objective Alignment: 2; 3; 5; 6 

Research, analysis and a number of communication development meetings have taken place to  

examine best practice approaches for EPSO communications.   

A Communication Strategy & Action Plan is currently being developed for both: 

i. Internal Communications 
ii. External Communications 

 
Q4 2021 Developments: 
An EPSO Communication Plan was developed in Q4 2021 for implementation throughout 2022 to build 
awareness on the EPSO opportunities internally with staff members and showcase the successes of 
Dublin City Council on EU projects to date and throughout 2022. Implementation of the plan 
commenced in January 2022. 
 
Core Priority 4 will continue to be progressed in the weeks and months ahead as per Appendix 2.  

5. Training & Development Programme 

Strategic Objective Alignment: 2; 3; 6; 7 

A framework is being examined with potential opportunities for training & development programmes 
for all stakeholders who will be supported by the EPSO: 

i. Internal – EU Programme Support Office Team  

ii. Internal – DCC Staff  

iii. Internal – Councillors and Elected Members 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 8 | P a g e  

Q4 2021: Capacity Building: Training & Development Programme 

Horizon Europe Focus: 2022 Preparatory Work   
To support Dublin City Council colleagues and departments on upcoming Horizon Europe programme 
opportunities, the EPSO assisted capacity building with supporting and funding a number of Horizon 
Europe capacity building in Q4 2021; including: 
November 2021: 
Through an application & evaluation process; the EPSO supported a selection of staff members to 
attend & complete Horizon Europe upskilling Training opportunities 
December 2021: 
EPSO supported a selection of staff members to attend & complete Horizon Europe EU Programme 
Events, Seminars & Plenary sessions with HE National Contact Points 
January 2022: 
EPSO Monitoring Open Calls for upcoming calls across various pillars of Horizon Europe for all 2022 
Open Calls  
 

Core Priority 5 will continue to be progressed in 2022 in line with the Strategic Objective for capacity 
building across the organisation.  

6. European Expert Framework 

Strategic Objective Alignment: 5; 6; 7 

A tender brief has been completed to progress through a procurement process via the eTender 
platform for the establishment of a European expert framework, which can be utilized by the 
organisation via the EPSO. The tender is currently being examined by DCC procurement section and 
when approved will be advertised on eTenders by end of January 2022.  

7. Events 

Strategic Objective Alignment: 4; 5; 6; 7 
A schedule of upcoming EU Programme events & EU Funding Programme workshops & seminars taking 

place has been collated by ESPO, Development will continue of the EPSO suite & schedule of events in 

line with Strategic Objective 4, 5, 6 and 7 of the EU strategy implementation. Core Priority 7 will 

continue to be progressed in 2022. 

EPSO 2022 Work Programme  

The ESPO work programme for 2022 is completed and available to the members of Economic 
Development & Enterprise SPC for information on planned strategic objectives for ESPO in the coming 
year.  
 

It is anticipated that a recruitment drive to fill the post of Head of ESPO will commence in Q1 2022. It 
has been possible for me to re-structure business units in CRES to allow staff move to ESPO in the 
coming weeks to implement the programme of work planned for 2022. 
 

To keep momentum of ESPO in Q1 & Q2 2022, I have amalgamated ESPO & International Relations with 
responsibility of both offices under the direction of Grainne Kelly Head of International Relations & 
ESPO from January 2022. 
 

Anthony Flynn 
Executive Manager 
Culture Recreation & Economic Services Department 

Page 106



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 9 | P a g e  

Appendix 1: European Funding Programmes Schedule of Development & Open Calls: Q1 – Q4 2022 

EU Funding Programmes Developments & Open Calls 2022 

Programme Name Types of action 
Programme Update / Open Call 

Deadline date 

CIVITAS CIVINET Activity Fund 2021  Not specified Not specified 

Creative 
Europe 

Creative Europe's Support for Cooperation Projects Call 
 

31st March 

LIFE  

All LIFE Calls for proposals 2022 expected to be published on 
the Funding & tender opportunities portal  

Range from 8 Sept 
22 – 7Mar2023 

17 May 2022 

LIFE EU Sustainable Energy Week  October 

LIFE Bauhaus Festival  8-12 June  

EU Funding Programmes Developments & Open Calls 2022 

Programme     Programme     
Types of action 

Programme Update / Open Call 

Deadline date 

Horizon Europe 

Horizon Europe: Upcoming Open Calls: 2022: Q1 – Q4: 
Horizon Europe Pillar 2: Global Challenges & European Industrial Competitiveness 

Cluster 4: Digital, Industry and Space 
2022: Q1 Deadlines:  
Destination 5 - Open strategic autonomy in developing, deploying and using global space-based infrastructures, services and data 
HORIZON-CL4-2021-SPACE-01  11 topics, budget €136.22M, deadline 16 February 2022  
HORIZON-CL4-2022-SPACE-01 11 topics, budget €85.7M, deadline 16 February 2022 
Destination 1 - Climate neutral, circular and digitised production 
HORIZON-CL4-2022-TWIN-TRANSITION-01 13 topics, budget €334.5M, deadline 30 March 2022 
Destination 2 - Increased autonomy in key strategic value chains for resilient industry 
HORIZON-CL4-2022-RESILIENCE-01  21 topics, budget €402.2M, deadline 30 March 2022  
HORIZON-CL4-2022-RESILIENCE-02-PCP 1 topic, budget €9M, deadline 30 March 2022 
2022: Q2 Deadlines:  

P
age 107

https://civitas.eu/
https://civitas.eu/news/call-for-civinet-activity-fund-2021-now-open
https://www.creativeeuropeireland.eu/
https://www.creativeeuropeireland.eu/
https://cinea.ec.europa.eu/life_en
https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/programmes/life2027
https://horizoneurope.ie/
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fenterprise-ireland66683.lt.acemlnc.com%2FProd%2Flink-tracker%3Fnotrack%3D1%26redirectUrl%%3D%26a%3D611158866%26account%3Denterprise-ireland66683.activehosted.com%26email%3DrK1NR4lFlZ%252F%252BmqnXezGZresxcA%252BLYTlYmvhRh0kpCIdXC1THFXUZb8Ipy1BIpz%252F0%26s%3D0ac9ce2e3151fbec5eade64c209e9bda%26i%3D61A111A15A390&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574589659%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=ZJfeViNJY4XWq7goOLtxquCQtHFdg66ajNm51WGq1bY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fenterprise-ireland66683.lt.acemlnc.com%2FProd%2Flink-tracker%3Fnotrack%3D1%26redirectUrl%%3D%26a%3D611158866%26account%3Denterprise-ireland66683.activehosted.com%26email%3DrK1NR4lFlZ%252F%252BmqnXezGZresxcA%252BLYTlYmvhRh0kpCIdXC1THFXUZb8Ipy1BIpz%252F0%26s%3D0ac9ce2e3151fbec5eade64c209e9bda%26i%3D61A111A15A391&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574599655%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=YI0o5AEQTuOVhdVQMUctt7ve1i2jkfZyS9ppjUZioQE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fenterprise-ireland66683.lt.acemlnc.com%2FProd%2Flink-tracker%3Fnotrack%3D1%26redirectUrl%%26a%3D611158866%26account%3Denterprise-ireland66683.activehosted.com%26email%3DrK1NR4lFlZ%252F%252BmqnXezGZresxcA%252BLYTlYmvhRh0kpCIdXC1THFXUZb8Ipy1BIpz%252F0%26s%3D0ac9ce2e3151fbec5eade64c209e9bda%26i%3D61A111A15A379&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574519691%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=LWJQt5tP13rwjSTwW5kiL43o%2Bp8A0IiRQC9%2BfGe5eUQ%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fenterprise-ireland66683.lt.acemlnc.com%2FProd%2Flink-tracker%3Fnotrack%3D1%26redirectUrl%%26a%3D611158866%26account%3Denterprise-ireland66683.activehosted.com%26email%3DrK1NR4lFlZ%252F%252BmqnXezGZresxcA%252BLYTlYmvhRh0kpCIdXC1THFXUZb8Ipy1BIpz%252F0%26s%3D0ac9ce2e3151fbec5eade64c209e9bda%26i%3D61A111A15A382&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574539688%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=ioieowuKZVKWQUod7uiQcZeVDbh4BOW%2FwXsXz3DnJiU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fenterprise-ireland66683.lt.acemlnc.com%2FProd%2Flink-tracker%3Fnotrack%3D1%26redirectUrl%%3D%3D%26a%3D611158866%26account%3Denterprise-ireland66683.activehosted.com%26email%3DrK1NR4lFlZ%252F%252BmqnXezGZresxcA%252BLYTlYmvhRh0kpCIdXC1THFXUZb8Ipy1BIpz%252F0%26s%3D0ac9ce2e3151fbec5eade64c209e9bda%26i%3D61A111A15A383&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574539688%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=NCKK6fiBUqFNfOpT8dVsqbi50%2FS%2BUVufZ5HP%2Bd2G0%2BU%3D&reserved=0


EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 10 | P a g e  

Destination 3 - World leading data and computing technologies 
HORIZON-CL4-2022-DATA-01 5 topics, budget €205M, deadline 5 April 2022 
Destination 4 - Digital and emerging technologies for competitiveness and fit for the green deal 
HORIZON-CL4-2022-DIGITAL-EMERGING-01  9 topics, budget €200M, deadline 5 April 2022 
Destination 6 - A human-centred and ethical development of digital and industrial technologies 
HORIZON-CL4-2022-HUMAN-01  7 topics, budget €121M, deadline 5 April 2022 
2022: Q4 Deadlines:  
Destination 4 - Digital and emerging technologies for competitiveness and fit for the green deal 
HORIZON-CL4-2022-DIGITAL-EMERGING-02  5 topics, budget €43.5M, deadline 16 November 2022 
 

Horizon Europe: Upcoming Open Calls: 2022: Q1 – Q4: 
Horizon Europe Pillar 2: Global Challenges & European Industrial Competitiveness 

Cluster 5: Climate, Energy and Mobility 
2022: Q1 Deadlines:  
Destination 3 - Sustainable, secure and competitive energy supply 
HORIZON-CL5-2021-D3-02   15 Topics, Budget €238.80m. Deadline 05 Jan 2022, 
HORIZON-CL5-2022-D3-03 16 Topics, Budget €280m. Deadline 23 Feb 2022, 
Destination 6:  Safe, resilient transport and smart mobility services for passengers and goods  
HORIZON-CL5-2022-D6-01 8 Topics budget €122 Deadline 12 Jan 2022 
Destination 4 - Efficient, sustainable and inclusive energy use 
HORIZON-CL5-2021-D4-02   3 Topics, Budget €38m. Deadline 25 Jan 2022, 
Destination 1 - Climate sciences and responses for the transformation towards climate neutrality 
HORIZON-CL5-2022-D1-01-two-stage   3 Topics, Budget €51m. Deadline 10 Feb 2022 (First Stage), 
HORIZON-CL5-2022-D1-02   5 Topics, Budget €87m. Deadline 10 Feb 2022, 
 
2022: Q2 Deadlines:  
Destination 3 - Sustainable, secure and competitive energy supply 
HORIZON-CL5-2022-D3-01 15 Topics, Budget €381m. Deadline 26 April 2022, 
Destination 5: Clean and competitive solutions for all transport modes  
HORIZON-CL5-2022-D5-01 14 Topics budget €253 Deadline 26 Apr 2022 
Destination 5: Clean and competitive solutions for all transport modes  
HORIZON-CL5-2022-D5-01 14 Topics budget €253 Deadline 26 Apr 2022 
 
2022: Q3 Deadlines:  
Destination 2 - Cross-sectoral solutions for the climate transition 
HORIZON-CL5-2022-D2-01   11 Topics, Budget €138m. Deadline 06 Sept 2022, 

P
age 108

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fenterprise-ireland66683.lt.acemlnc.com%2FProd%2Flink-tracker%3Fnotrack%3D1%26redirectUrl%%3D%3D%26a%3D611158866%26account%3Denterprise-ireland66683.activehosted.com%26email%3DrK1NR4lFlZ%252F%252BmqnXezGZresxcA%252BLYTlYmvhRh0kpCIdXC1THFXUZb8Ipy1BIpz%252F0%26s%3D0ac9ce2e3151fbec5eade64c209e9bda%26i%3D61A111A15A385&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574559833%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=vN6h%2BoJvfY8BS25Os%2Fs8vskd85mmbrdhsou9%2FfyrTZE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fenterprise-ireland66683.lt.acemlnc.com%2FProd%2Flink-tracker%3Fnotrack%3D1%26redirectUrl%%3D%3D%26a%3D611158866%26account%3Denterprise-ireland66683.activehosted.com%26email%3DrK1NR4lFlZ%252F%252BmqnXezGZresxcA%252BLYTlYmvhRh0kpCIdXC1THFXUZb8Ipy1BIpz%252F0%26s%3D0ac9ce2e3151fbec5eade64c209e9bda%26i%3D61A111A15A388&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574569671%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=t0WbOcH3gEmoUGg0QIXzwFz%2FlPb20iTqovMcsTLp%2FDo%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fenterprise-ireland66683.lt.acemlnc.com%2FProd%2Flink-tracker%3Fnotrack%3D1%26redirectUrl%%3D%26a%3D611158866%26account%3Denterprise-ireland66683.activehosted.com%26email%3DrK1NR4lFlZ%252F%252BmqnXezGZresxcA%252BLYTlYmvhRh0kpCIdXC1THFXUZb8Ipy1BIpz%252F0%26s%3D0ac9ce2e3151fbec5eade64c209e9bda%26i%3D61A111A15A393&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574609643%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=XZv7orqEL%2BbbSjmWJAYaTTaeXwTUtAcLT%2BF3eqwdIqI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fenterprise-ireland66683.lt.acemlnc.com%2FProd%2Flink-tracker%3Fnotrack%3D1%26redirectUrl%%3D%3D%26a%3D611158866%26account%3Denterprise-ireland66683.activehosted.com%26email%3DrK1NR4lFlZ%252F%252BmqnXezGZresxcA%252BLYTlYmvhRh0kpCIdXC1THFXUZb8Ipy1BIpz%252F0%26s%3D0ac9ce2e3151fbec5eade64c209e9bda%26i%3D61A111A15A389&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574579663%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=NkaQsYCwuNsJ4PCnHJ0SJHfUnwgRr5u74h0WDxLmEoY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fec.europa.eu%2Finfo%2Ffunding-tenders%2Fopportunities%2Fportal%2Fscreen%2Fopportunities%2Ftopic-search%3BcallCode%3DHORIZON-CL5-2021-D3-02%3BfreeTextSearchKeyword%3D%3BmatchWholeText%3Dtrue%3BtypeCodes%3D1%3BstatusCodes%3D31094501%2C31094502%2C31094503%3BprogrammePeriod%3Dnull%3BprogramCcm2Id%3D43108390%3BprogramDivisionCode%3Dnull%3BfocusAreaCode%3Dnull%3Bdestination%3Dnull%3Bmission%3Dnull%3BgeographicalZonesCode%3Dnull%3BprogrammeDivisionProspect%3Dnull%3BstartDateLte%3Dnull%3BstartDateGte%3Dnull%3BcrossCuttingPriorityCode%3Dnull%3BcpvCode%3Dnull%3BperformanceOfDelivery%3Dnull%3BsortQuery%3DsortStatus%3BorderBy%3Dasc%3BonlyTenders%3Dfalse%3BtopicListKey%3DcallTopicSearchTableState&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574649619%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=P%2B86%2BoQSZr5iX59JOpARfk1n6YdP%2FEXNUgtqal95gCU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fec.europa.eu%2Finfo%2Ffunding-tenders%2Fopportunities%2Fportal%2Fscreen%2Fopportunities%2Ftopic-search%3BcallCode%3DHORIZON-CL5-2021-D3-03%3BfreeTextSearchKeyword%3D%3BmatchWholeText%3Dtrue%3BtypeCodes%3D1%3BstatusCodes%3D31094501%2C31094502%2C31094503%3BprogrammePeriod%3Dnull%3BprogramCcm2Id%3D43108390%3BprogramDivisionCode%3Dnull%3BfocusAreaCode%3Dnull%3Bdestination%3Dnull%3Bmission%3Dnull%3BgeographicalZonesCode%3Dnull%3BprogrammeDivisionProspect%3Dnull%3BstartDateLte%3Dnull%3BstartDateGte%3Dnull%3BcrossCuttingPriorityCode%3Dnull%3BcpvCode%3Dnull%3BperformanceOfDelivery%3Dnull%3BsortQuery%3DsortStatus%3BorderBy%3Dasc%3BonlyTenders%3Dfalse%3BtopicListKey%3DcallTopicSearchTableState&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574659617%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=12oJrxdzBibci9WA2773EVFhrcPig7N5ZPxnb5AsszU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fec.europa.eu%2Finfo%2Ffunding-tenders%2Fopportunities%2Fportal%2Fscreen%2Fopportunities%2Ftopic-search%3BcallCode%3DHORIZON-CL5-2022-D6-01%3BfreeTextSearchKeyword%3Dhorizon%3BmatchWholeText%3Dtrue%3BtypeCodes%3D1%2C0%3BstatusCodes%3D31094501%2C31094502%2C31094503%3BprogrammePeriod%3Dnull%3BprogramCcm2Id%3D43108390%3BprogramDivisionCode%3D43120821%3BfocusAreaCode%3Dnull%3Bdestination%3D43650741%3Bmission%3Dnull%3BgeographicalZonesCode%3Dnull%3BprogrammeDivisionProspect%3Dnull%3BstartDateLte%3Dnull%3BstartDateGte%3Dnull%3BcrossCuttingPriorityCode%3Dnull%3BcpvCode%3Dnull%3BperformanceOfDelivery%3Dnull%3BsortQuery%3DsortStatus%3BorderBy%3Dasc%3BonlyTenders%3Dfalse%3BtopicListKey%3DtopicSearchTablePageState&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574699595%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=jf1EuBitmd50S4HrUwebfg5ac6ebmTbBi7k5TEMO1Ik%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fec.europa.eu%2Finfo%2Ffunding-tenders%2Fopportunities%2Fportal%2Fscreen%2Fopportunities%2Ftopic-search%3BcallCode%3DHORIZON-CL5-2021-D4-02%3BfreeTextSearchKeyword%3D%3BmatchWholeText%3Dtrue%3BtypeCodes%3D1%3BstatusCodes%3D31094501%2C31094502%2C31094503%3BprogrammePeriod%3Dnull%3BprogramCcm2Id%3D43108390%3BprogramDivisionCode%3Dnull%3BfocusAreaCode%3Dnull%3Bdestination%3Dnull%3Bmission%3Dnull%3BgeographicalZonesCode%3Dnull%3BprogrammeDivisionProspect%3Dnull%3BstartDateLte%3Dnull%3BstartDateGte%3Dnull%3BcrossCuttingPriorityCode%3Dnull%3BcpvCode%3Dnull%3BperformanceOfDelivery%3Dnull%3BsortQuery%3DsortStatus%3BorderBy%3Dasc%3BonlyTenders%3Dfalse%3BtopicListKey%3DcallTopicSearchTableState&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574669611%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=%2F0TKID%2BYcP2pGsfQ9g8jL7OnafZfDO1meN6t8lLzAOI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fec.europa.eu%2Finfo%2Ffunding-tenders%2Fopportunities%2Fportal%2Fscreen%2Fopportunities%2Ftopic-search%3BcallCode%3DHORIZON-CL5-2022-D1-01-two-stage%3BfreeTextSearchKeyword%3D%3BmatchWholeText%3Dtrue%3BtypeCodes%3D1%3BstatusCodes%3D31094501%2C31094502%2C31094503%3BprogrammePeriod%3Dnull%3BprogramCcm2Id%3Dnull%3BprogramDivisionCode%3Dnull%3BfocusAreaCode%3Dnull%3Bdestination%3Dnull%3Bmission%3Dnull%3BgeographicalZonesCode%3Dnull%3BprogrammeDivisionProspect%3Dnull%3BstartDateLte%3Dnull%3BstartDateGte%3Dnull%3BcrossCuttingPriorityCode%3Dnull%3BcpvCode%3Dnull%3BperformanceOfDelivery%3Dnull%3BsortQuery%3DsortStatus%3BorderBy%3Dasc%3BonlyTenders%3Dfalse%3BtopicListKey%3DcallTopicSearchTableState&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574619635%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=%2FK9q2j3JhPeHUl%2F%2BWqR73BjdQFDQh8ymrnCInX1J44Y%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fec.europa.eu%2Finfo%2Ffunding-tenders%2Fopportunities%2Fportal%2Fscreen%2Fopportunities%2Ftopic-search%3BcallCode%3DHORIZON-CL5-2022-D1-02%3BfreeTextSearchKeyword%3D%3BmatchWholeText%3Dtrue%3BtypeCodes%3D1%3BstatusCodes%3D31094501%2C31094502%2C31094503%3BprogrammePeriod%3Dnull%3BprogramCcm2Id%3D43108390%3BprogramDivisionCode%3Dnull%3BfocusAreaCode%3Dnull%3Bdestination%3Dnull%3Bmission%3Dnull%3BgeographicalZonesCode%3Dnull%3BprogrammeDivisionProspect%3Dnull%3BstartDateLte%3Dnull%3BstartDateGte%3Dnull%3BcrossCuttingPriorityCode%3Dnull%3BcpvCode%3Dnull%3BperformanceOfDelivery%3Dnull%3BsortQuery%3DsortStatus%3BorderBy%3Dasc%3BonlyTenders%3Dfalse%3BtopicListKey%3DcallTopicSearchTableState&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574629634%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=6rryOdGAHCQj3wQL8EJRiwZuL%2BskjqJ5dbxqnPgwCpo%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fec.europa.eu%2Finfo%2Ffunding-tenders%2Fopportunities%2Fportal%2Fscreen%2Fopportunities%2Ftopic-search%3BcallCode%3DHORIZON-CL5-2022-D3-01%3BfreeTextSearchKeyword%3D%3BmatchWholeText%3Dtrue%3BtypeCodes%3D1%3BstatusCodes%3D31094501%2C31094502%2C31094503%3BprogrammePeriod%3Dnull%3BprogramCcm2Id%3D43108390%3BprogramDivisionCode%3Dnull%3BfocusAreaCode%3Dnull%3Bdestination%3Dnull%3Bmission%3Dnull%3BgeographicalZonesCode%3Dnull%3BprogrammeDivisionProspect%3Dnull%3BstartDateLte%3Dnull%3BstartDateGte%3Dnull%3BcrossCuttingPriorityCode%3Dnull%3BcpvCode%3Dnull%3BperformanceOfDelivery%3Dnull%3BsortQuery%3DsortStatus%3BorderBy%3Dasc%3BonlyTenders%3Dfalse%3BtopicListKey%3DcallTopicSearchTableState&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574659617%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=OnOjdJQYm2N4Ge8muZfAp1xwhm5R%2B7oIVdCWhnheMPc%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fec.europa.eu%2Finfo%2Ffunding-tenders%2Fopportunities%2Fportal%2Fscreen%2Fopportunities%2Ftopic-search%3BcallCode%3DHORIZON-CL5-2022-D5-01%3BfreeTextSearchKeyword%3D%3BmatchWholeText%3Dtrue%3BtypeCodes%3D1%3BstatusCodes%3D31094501%2C31094502%2C31094503%3BprogrammePeriod%3Dnull%3BprogramCcm2Id%3D43108390%3BprogramDivisionCode%3D43120821%3BfocusAreaCode%3Dnull%3Bdestination%3Dnull%3Bmission%3Dnull%3BgeographicalZonesCode%3Dnull%3BprogrammeDivisionProspect%3Dnull%3BstartDateLte%3Dnull%3BstartDateGte%3Dnull%3BcrossCuttingPriorityCode%3Dnull%3BcpvCode%3Dnull%3BperformanceOfDelivery%3Dnull%3BsortQuery%3DsortStatus%3BorderBy%3Dasc%3BonlyTenders%3Dfalse%3BtopicListKey%3DcallTopicSearchTableState&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574689600%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=SmubFIjLo%2BkNFteCiXXoPv6RVggB0OIBuC5RwNbrFQU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fec.europa.eu%2Finfo%2Ffunding-tenders%2Fopportunities%2Fportal%2Fscreen%2Fopportunities%2Ftopic-search%3BcallCode%3DHORIZON-CL5-2022-D5-01%3BfreeTextSearchKeyword%3D%3BmatchWholeText%3Dtrue%3BtypeCodes%3D1%3BstatusCodes%3D31094501%2C31094502%2C31094503%3BprogrammePeriod%3Dnull%3BprogramCcm2Id%3D43108390%3BprogramDivisionCode%3D43120821%3BfocusAreaCode%3Dnull%3Bdestination%3Dnull%3Bmission%3Dnull%3BgeographicalZonesCode%3Dnull%3BprogrammeDivisionProspect%3Dnull%3BstartDateLte%3Dnull%3BstartDateGte%3Dnull%3BcrossCuttingPriorityCode%3Dnull%3BcpvCode%3Dnull%3BperformanceOfDelivery%3Dnull%3BsortQuery%3DsortStatus%3BorderBy%3Dasc%3BonlyTenders%3Dfalse%3BtopicListKey%3DcallTopicSearchTableState&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574689600%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=SmubFIjLo%2BkNFteCiXXoPv6RVggB0OIBuC5RwNbrFQU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fec.europa.eu%2Finfo%2Ffunding-tenders%2Fopportunities%2Fportal%2Fscreen%2Fopportunities%2Ftopic-search%3BcallCode%3DHORIZON-CL5-2022-D2-01%3BfreeTextSearchKeyword%3D%3BmatchWholeText%3Dtrue%3BtypeCodes%3D1%3BstatusCodes%3D31094501%2C31094502%2C31094503%3BprogrammePeriod%3Dnull%3BprogramCcm2Id%3D43108390%3BprogramDivisionCode%3Dnull%3BfocusAreaCode%3Dnull%3Bdestination%3Dnull%3Bmission%3Dnull%3BgeographicalZonesCode%3Dnull%3BprogrammeDivisionProspect%3Dnull%3BstartDateLte%3Dnull%3BstartDateGte%3Dnull%3BcrossCuttingPriorityCode%3Dnull%3BcpvCode%3Dnull%3BperformanceOfDelivery%3Dnull%3BsortQuery%3DsortStatus%3BorderBy%3Dasc%3BonlyTenders%3Dfalse%3BtopicListKey%3DcallTopicSearchTableState&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574639628%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=A6bT%2B%2B4uEoYirUSwaqGKbwaIETa6V3%2BMBCpQZzJYorY%3D&reserved=0


EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 11 | P a g e  

Destination 4 - Efficient, sustainable and inclusive energy use 
HORIZON-CL5-2022-D4-01  5 Topics, Budget €54m. Deadline 06 Sept 2022, 
Destination 5: Clean and competitive solutions for all transport modes  
HORIZON-CL5-2022-D6-02 7 Topics budget €91 Deadline 06 Sep 2022 

CERV 

Promote capacity building and awareness on the EU Charter of 
Fundamental Rights and activities on strategic litigation relating 
to democracy, the rule of law and fundamental rights breaches 

CERV-PJG CERV 
Project Grants 

24 February 2022  
17:00 Brussels time 

CERV Citizens’ engagement and participation 
CERV-LS CERV 
Lump Sum Grants 

10 February 2022 
17:00 Brussels time 

CERV Online Info Session: Call for proposals for Town-Twinning and 

Networks of Towns (CERV-2022-TOWN) 
Not specified 8 February 2022 

Erasmus+ 5 Open Calls  Not specified Sept 2022 

ESPON  
The ESPON 2030 programme are planned to start  Not specified  1st July 2022 

European 
Territorial 
Cooperation -  
Interreg NWE 
 

Transnational project proposals 
 

  
Not specified 
 

 23-Feb-22 

The Urban 
Agenda for the 
EU 

No open calls     

URBACT  

Launch Practical Tools on Financing & Implementing sustainable 
urban projects 

TBC February 2022 

 URBACT IV Programme Launch: Climate, Gender, Digital  TBC June 2022 

 Urbact City Festival – Carbon Neutral EU event  14 – 16 June 2022 

Urban 
Innovative 
Actions  

European Mission ”100 Climate-Neutral and Smart Cities by 
2030” 

   31st January 2022 

 

P
age 109

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fec.europa.eu%2Finfo%2Ffunding-tenders%2Fopportunities%2Fportal%2Fscreen%2Fopportunities%2Ftopic-search%3BcallCode%3DHORIZON-CL5-2022-D4-01%3BfreeTextSearchKeyword%3D%3BmatchWholeText%3Dtrue%3BtypeCodes%3D1%3BstatusCodes%3D31094501%2C31094502%2C31094503%3BprogrammePeriod%3Dnull%3BprogramCcm2Id%3D43108390%3BprogramDivisionCode%3Dnull%3BfocusAreaCode%3Dnull%3Bdestination%3Dnull%3Bmission%3Dnull%3BgeographicalZonesCode%3Dnull%3BprogrammeDivisionProspect%3Dnull%3BstartDateLte%3Dnull%3BstartDateGte%3Dnull%3BcrossCuttingPriorityCode%3Dnull%3BcpvCode%3Dnull%3BperformanceOfDelivery%3Dnull%3BsortQuery%3DsortStatus%3BorderBy%3Dasc%3BonlyTenders%3Dfalse%3BtopicListKey%3DcallTopicSearchTableState&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574679603%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=E1M73YAGeAbmL9veaSKKXzoKnPzHF%2FxsOaTjV5otZB0%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fec.europa.eu%2Finfo%2Ffunding-tenders%2Fopportunities%2Fportal%2Fscreen%2Fopportunities%2Ftopic-search%3BcallCode%3DHORIZON-CL5-2022-D6-02%3BfreeTextSearchKeyword%3D%3BmatchWholeText%3Dtrue%3BtypeCodes%3D1%3BstatusCodes%3D31094501%2C31094502%2C31094503%3BprogrammePeriod%3Dnull%3BprogramCcm2Id%3D43108390%3BprogramDivisionCode%3D43120821%3BfocusAreaCode%3Dnull%3Bdestination%3D43650741%3Bmission%3Dnull%3BgeographicalZonesCode%3Dnull%3BprogrammeDivisionProspect%3Dnull%3BstartDateLte%3Dnull%3BstartDateGte%3Dnull%3BcrossCuttingPriorityCode%3Dnull%3BcpvCode%3Dnull%3BperformanceOfDelivery%3Dnull%3BsortQuery%3DsortStatus%3BorderBy%3Dasc%3BonlyTenders%3Dfalse%3BtopicListKey%3DcallTopicSearchTableState&data=04%7C01%7CHorizonEuropeTraining%40enterprise-ireland.com%7C62122140f99a49bca0fe08d9af65aeb0%7Cbdd3e620ccf34ac6a8070501d2cb25c4%7C0%7C0%7C637733673574699595%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=mNQ82CUJUPBKFVW1hdyTZCtAFFSuJb8r4vH04Iw9b0E%3D&reserved=0
https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/programmes/cerv
https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/programmes/cerv
https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/programmes/cerv
https://erasmus-plus.ec.europa.eu/
https://erasmus-plus.ec.europa.eu/opportunities/opportunities-for-organisations
https://www.espon.eu/
https://www.nweurope.eu/
https://www.nweurope.eu/
https://www.nweurope.eu/
https://www.nweurope.eu/
https://www.interreg-central.eu/Content.Node/apply/newfunding.html
https://futurium.ec.europa.eu/en/urban-agenda
https://futurium.ec.europa.eu/en/urban-agenda
https://futurium.ec.europa.eu/en/urban-agenda
https://urbact.eu/
https://uia-initiative.eu/en
https://uia-initiative.eu/en
https://uia-initiative.eu/en


EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 12 | P a g e  

Appendix 2: EPSO Development 2022 Timeframe: 

 
 

P
age 110



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) Progress Report January 2022 13 | P a g e  

Appendix 3: EPSO Work Programme 2022: 

 

P
age 111



 1 
 

 

 
Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Economic Development & Enterprise  

Monday 24th January 2022  
 

Agenda Item 8: Management Reports 
 

Contents 
 

1. Economic Development Office .................................................................................................  

2. Local Enterprise Office: Training, Mentoring & Financial Grants .................................................  

3. Dublin Place Brand - Dublin.ie ..................................................................................................  

4. Smart Dublin & Smart Districts .................................................................................................  

5. International Relations: ...........................................................................................................  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 112



 2 
 

1. Economic Development Office  

 

SPC Progress Report 
Economic Development Office  

24th January 2022 

 

Q1 EDO Events 

Event Economic Pillar Date 
Economic Development & Enterprise SPC  Strategic  24th January 2022  

MODOS Circular Economy Training Programme Launch Climate & Innovation 3rd February 

Local Enterprise Week 2022 Promotion & Investment 7th- 11th March 

   
 

 
Economic Development Action Plan 2021 – Strategic Approach 

The Economic Debelopment Office (EDO) Action Plan & Work Programme continues to 
adapt for 2022 in response to the COVID 19 Global Pandemic, the EDO will continue to 

follow government and senior management guidelines regarding remote working and 
service delivery.  
 

Dublin Region Enterprise Action Plan (DREAP) 2024 – Climate & Innovation 

The Dublin Region Enterprise Action Plan 2022 – 2024 has been developed by a 

Steering Group and Project Delivery Team led by the Department of Enterprise Trade & 

Emplayment and Chaired by Susan Spence of Softco.  Both groups have had 

representatives from the four Dublin Local Authorities (Dublin City, Fingal, South 

Dublin and Dún Laoghaire Rathdown), IDA, Enterprise Ireland, Fáilte Ireland, SEAI, 

Regional Skills Forum, IBEC, TU Dublin, Dublin Chambers of Commerce (Dublin, Finga l, 

South Dublin and Dún Laoghaire), with contributions from the private sector.  

Project Delivery Teams were established in June 2021 to progress the work and shape 

the high level objectives and actions designed to progress these objectives over the life 

of the plan. Five Strategic Objectives have been identified for the next DREAP, with 

Climate & 

Innovation 

Climate & 

Innovation 

Page 113



 3 
 

Dublin City Council Economic Development Office leading on Strategic Objective 4 on 

Transition to Low Carbon Economy; whilst contributing to all other 4 objectives.  

Strategic Objective 1 (SMEs & Startups):  Lead: Oisín Geoghan, LEO Fingal  

Strategic Objective 2 (Placemaking):   Lead: Aidan Sweeney, IBEC 

Strategic Objective 3 (Employment/Enterprise Inclusion): Lead: Tom Cooney, TUD 

Strategic Objective 4 (Low Carbon Transition): Lead: Mary MacSweeney, DCC 

Strategic objective 5 (Skills & talent):    Lead: Eoghan Hanrahan, EI 

 

Project Delivery Team meetings continued to take place during Q4 2021. The 

Department of Enterprise Trade and Employment are arranging the launch of the 

Dublin Region Enterprise Action Plan 2022 – 2024 and will invite the Tánaiste Leo 

Varadkar to formally launch the plan. Once launched, the EDO team will begin to action 

the strategic objectives along with the action partners.  

Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor - Placemaking & Clustering  

Context: 

The concept of a Dublin Belfast or Eastern Economic Corridor is one that has been in 

circulation since the early 1990’s with the idea of building on high growth zones, and 

regions along the corridors to drive competitiveness and collaboration.  A local 

government network was formed in 2018 by the eight Councils located in the Dublin 

Belfast Economic Corridor along with Dublin City University and the University of 

Ulster.  The work of the network was progressed by a Chief Executive Group and a 

Director of Economic Services group supported by a secretariat rotated among the 

member councils with a formal launch held in March 2021 which included the launch 

of the website www.dbec.info 

 

Update:  

The Political Advisory Group made up of the 24 elected representatives met in person 

on November 23rd 2021 and elected a Chair and a Vice Chair, who will arrange regular 

meetings of this group.  KPMG presented work completed to date on the Development 

Plan and held a workshop with the members to get their feedback on elements of the 

Development Plan.    

 

Further meetings have been held to progress the work on the Dublin Belfast Economic 

Corridor Development Plan that is being written with external support from KPMG.  

When completed the Development Plan will form stage one of a three stage process.  

Once the Development Plan is completed, work will commence on Stage two which 

involves the development of a detailed strategy (consultation, SWOT, Vision 

Development and Strategy Development). Finally, Stage three will see the 

development of an Action Plan. 

 

 

Page 114

http://www.dbec.info/


 4 
 

 

 

Local Economic & Community Plan (LECP) – Climate & Innovation 

Dublin City Council developed the first Local Economic and Community Plan 2016 to 

2021, where a series of actions were identified and implemented to further the 

objectives of the 12 High Level Goals, established through a consultation process with a 

wide range of stakeholders.  This plan has been reviewed using the 2016 census data 

and the outcome of this process will inform the development of a new LECP.  The 

second iteration of the LECP should be completed by 2023, and in line with the 

requirements of the legislation, cover a period of six years.  New Guidelines have been 

issued by the Department of Rural and Community Development and the Department 

of Housing, Local Government and Heritage. An update report is being provided to 

members of the SPC at today’s meeting on the next steps to be taken in the 

development of the 2023 – 2028 Dublin City Local Economic & Community Plan.  

 

Economic Development & Enterprise Strategic Policy Committee: SPC - Strategic  

The November sitting of the Economic Development & Enterprise Strategic Policy 

Committee meeting took place on 9th November remotely via Zoom.  Presentations 

included Wifi4EU Project Partnership (Jamie Cudden, DCC / Alan Saunders, Virgin 

Media Business), Dublin Region Enterprise Plan to 2024 (Mary MacSweeney, DCC), 

Your Dublin Your Voice: Economic Development Strategy Survey Results (Juliet 

Passmore, DCC), Social Enterprise Report (Evanne Kilmurray, ICE), Progress Report 

European Support Office (Anthony Flynn, DCC). Economic Development & Enterprise 

Management Reports were provided and noted.  

 

Dublin Night Time Economy Strategy – Promotion & Investment 

Following the work completed as part of the work of the SPC Working Group on 

Tourism, City Markets including Night Time Economy; the preparatory work has been 

carried out on the commencement of the development of A Night Time Economy 

Strategy. A presentation was provided to the Planning & Urban Form SPC in September 

2021. In light of government restrictions imposed during Q4 2021 on the hospitality 

sector it was deemed prudent to delay the development of this strategy. Work will 

now re-commence on progressing the strategy development during Q1 2022.  It is 

planned to host a Summit Series on the Night Time Economy in Q 2 2022 as part of the 

Summit Series initiated by this SPC. 

 

Dublin City – A Vision for Dublin – Promotion & Investment 

Dublin City Council commenced a process designed to define a new vision for Dublin in 

response to the challenges facing Dublin city in the post Covid world in 2021.  In 

recognition that many of the issues faced are complex and inter-related, the process 

captured the perspectives of a range of stakeholders including elected representatives.  

This opportunity for bold thinking and the creation of a new framework to position 

Page 115



 5 
 

Dublin as a dynamic and leading City of the Future – and to enhance its resilience and 

competitiveness has created the foundations for further work to be carried out in 

2022.   

 

 

MODOS- LAPN Grant Funding through EPA- Climate & Innovation 

The DCC & DLRD collaborative MODOS programme has been developed for delivery in 

Spring 2022. MODOS is designed to assist businesses to learn about the green and 

circular economy and how this impacts their businesses and they are encouraged to 

make changes to implement this learning in their business development.  This project 

has secured funding via the 2021 LAPN funding call arranged by the Environmental 

Protection Agency (EPA). The programme is now planned with trainers in place to 

deliver two courses in Q1 & Q2, 2022.  Further details on the programme are available 

on www.modos.ie 

 

Dublin Economic Monitor – Promotion & Investment  

The Dublin Economic Monitor is a publication for the 4 Dublin Local Authorities, led by 
Dublin City Council Economic Development Office. Q4 DEM published on December 3rd 
with accompanying talking heads video and disseminated through the website, the 
mailing list and social media and by post. Q4 Dublin PMI was received on January 17th 
2022 and is presently being analysed for dissemination. The editorial meeting for the 
Q1 DEM is being arranged.  Further details: www.dublineconomy.ie 
 
European Social Economy Regions 2021 - Placemaking & Clusters 

Dublin City Council has been participating in the European Commissions’ European 

Social Economy Regions (ESER) - 2021 Project. The objective of the project is to build 

networks of Social Economy and Social Enterprise stakeholders and to raise awareness 

about social economies at regional and local levels. The Dublin City Social Enterprise 

Awards were held on 22nd September as the third event of the ESER calendar.  Plans to 

host a Social Enterprise & Circular Economy event in December were postponed due to 

the Covid 19 pandemic restrictions. 

 

OECD/EC Project – Respond, Rebuild, Reinvent on Social Economy  - Placemaking & 

Clusters  

The OECD Eurocities project in now complete.  Dublin city was selected for this project 

which was designed to facilitate shared learning with the peer city project partners.  

The South City Area Office and Economic Development office worked together in 

representing Dublin City and participated in the concluding event held in December 

2021. Work is now underway to examine how projects of interest operating in other 

cities could be piloted in Dublin. Direct meetings continuing between Dublin and 

relevant city partners regarding replicating interventions.  A report on project learnings 

and case studies on city interventions will be completed in February 2022.   

 

Page 116

http://www.modos.ie/
http://www.dublineconomy.ie/


 6 
 

 

EIT Climate KIC – Circular Cities Accelerator - Climate & Innovation 

Dublin City participated as a city partner in the first year of the EIT Climate KIC Circular 

City accelerator programme running from Sept – December 2021. This work was done 

in collaboration between the Economic Development staff and the Eastern Region 

Waste Management Plan Office.  Dublin joined Berlin, Athens, and Copenhagen as city 

partners in the first year of this innovative project led by Trinity College Dublin 

(Tangent); Technical University of Denmark (DTU) and Luvent Consulting. The 

Corporate Partner is UPS. The Circular Cities Accelerator proposal is a three year pan-

European project that sets out to identify circular economy challenges in cities and to 

utilise innovations emerging from early stage micro-enterprises and SMEs to solve 

these challenges. The proposal has been approved for part-funding by the European 

Institute of Innovation and Technology (EIT) – an independent EU body set up to 

deliver innovation in the EU, under its EIT Climate KIC programme. EIT Climate CIK is a 

Knowledge and Innovation Community (KIC), working to accelerate the transition to a 

zero-carbon, climate-resilient society. The initial pilot programme ran from Sept – 

December 2021 with an impressive group of start up businesses and we are now in 

discussion with Tangent regarding year two of the programme deliverable in 2022. 

 
Event Sponsorship: Promotion & Investment 

The Economic Development Office provide support to various events across the city 

throughout the year. During 2021, this event sponsorship had been developed to assist 

in supporting identified economic sectors – Tech, Social Enterprise, Green Business / 

Circular Economy and Design. As a result of COVID19, events were postponed during 

the emergency period and any events held have been provided as a remote virtual 

offering in line with government guidelines. The Economic Development Office have 

amended the Event Sponsorship procedures and policies and will continue to review 

these throughout 2022 in line with government guidelines. 

 

 

Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards 2022: Placemaking & Clusters 

Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards 2022, will continue to be managed by Inner City 

Enterprise and supported and funded by Dublin City Council and the Department of 

Rural and Community Development (DRCD).  

Funding of €50,000 has been secured for 2022 from DRCD and this will be matched by 

Dublin City Council.  A digital brochure of all previous Social Enterprise Award 

recipients has been developed in line with the requests of the SPC members  and 

included in the documents for today’s meeting of the SPC .  

 

Dublin Tech Summit – Promotion & Investment 

The Economic Development staff and Dublin Place Branding staff will support the 

Dublin Tech Summit Awards again in 2022.  Discussions are on going with the DTS 

organisers who are planning to host and in person event in June 2022.  

Page 117

https://www.tcd.ie/tangent/about/
https://www.dtu.dk/english
https://www.luvent-consulting.com/
https://www.ups.com/ie/en/Home.page
https://eit.europa.eu/
https://eit.europa.eu/


 7 
 

 

 

Responsible Innovation Summit – Climate & Innovation 

The Responsible Innovation Summit 2021 was held across four dates 19th - 22nd 

October.  Each day addressed a different theme: Day 1: Layers of Change Day 2: 

Redefining Business as Usual Day 3: Life Changing Innovation and Day 4: Leaders of 

Change.  The format has also changed and allowed for events to be hosted by others 

through an application process and be part of the format. Economic Development 

hosted 3 events as part of the Summit on 21st & 22nd October showcasing the Climate 

KIC circular city starts ups participating in the accelerator programme and promoted 

Dublin’s ambitions to become a Circular City. The Winter edition of Profit with Purpose 

magazine was published and disseminated following the Summit. 

 

Your Dublin Your Voice: Placemaking & Clusters  

Results of the 4th YDYV survey focused on the Dublin City Economic Development 
Strategy were presented to EDE SPC on 9th November. Planning for YDYV 2022 Q1 

survey has commenced with meeting held with the Irish language office. 
 

Smart Tourism Data: Placemaking & Clusters  

Development with the Smart Tourism Data working group continues with 

developments with Mastercard to explore smart tourism data and Three to explore 

available data. Economic Development supported the Smart Cities application 

submission for the European Smart Tourism Award. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 118



 8 
 

2. Local Enterprise Office: Training, Mentoring & Financial Grants  

 
COVID-19 / Coronavirus 
A page of support information was developed in early March 2020. We continue to update 
this as further information and supports emerged. This page is then promoted on our social 
media channels to direct followers/businesses to the information 
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Publications-Resources/COVID-19-
Coronavirus/COVID-19-Coronavirus.html  
 
The LEO Unit for the LEO network, created a central hub of information. Content continues 
to expand in the ‘Lunch & Learn’ series, ‘Expert Views’ and case studies section.  
https://www.localenterprise.ie/Response 

 
We are actively promoting in our monthly newsletter, the department of enterprise 

supports to SME’s. New grant schemes are advertised on this page. In this way, we ensure 
that entrepreneurs have the latest information on any scheme that maybe suitable to assist 

their business. 
https://enterprise.gov.ie/en/What-We-Do/Supports-for-SMEs/COVID-19-supports/ 

 
Communications 
A monthly newsletter is disseminated to all subscribers, with reminder mailings also taking 

place.  

 December newsletter was issued 6th December with reminder on 8th December 

 January newsletter was issued 4th January with reminder on 5th January  
 

In addition bespoke newsletters took place during December: (from 04/12/2021)  

 Look for Local Christmas campaign: bespoke newsletter to entrepreneurs on 9th 
December to encourage them to use the campaign hashtag to leverage off the 
national media campaign to enhance custom. Reminder issues 10th December.  

 Enfuse Inspiring & Fusing enterprises with masters students: mailing 11th Jan ‘22 

 
Case Studies 
Case studies bring the companies and the supports and services provide by LEO to life: 

All case studies https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/ 

 
Case studies completed and promoted in December ’21: 

 The Disruptor Agency, winner of the ‘Rising Star’ category women in business awards 

‘21 

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/The-Disruptors-Agency.html  

 VP Merchants, winner of the ‘Entrepreneur of the Year’ women in business awards 

‘21 

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/VP-Merchants.html  

Cross promotion in newsletter and social media.  

 

Campaigns 

Page 119

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Publications-Resources/COVID-19-Coronavirus/COVID-19-Coronavirus.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Publications-Resources/COVID-19-Coronavirus/COVID-19-Coronavirus.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/Response
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/The-Disruptors-Agency.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/VP-Merchants.html


 9 
 

Look for Local Campaign – It works for everyone. Above the line national advertising 

Christmas campaign completed Dec ‘21 
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Enterprise-Development/Look-for-Local/ 

Research released by the Local Enterprise Offices has shown that 66% of Irish consumers 
bought goods or services locally, to support their local economy, as a result of seeing or 
hearing the Look for Local campaign or similar shop local themed campaigns this summer. 
Additionally, 66% of people said they intended to continue to spend more on local goods 
and services in the coming months. 75% of adults are now more inclined to shop for local 
businesses online. 91% believe there are more local Irish businesses than ever before. 
 

Mentoring – Online Delivery 

Annual Target 2021: 1,000 hours 

1st Jan – 24th Dec ‘21: 1733 hours delivered  out of a target of 1000. 3 hours @ 133% of 

target 6 hours @ 59% of target 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 120

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Enterprise-Development/Look-for-Local/


 10 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Brexit Mentoring: 35 Brexit specific mentor sessions were sought in 2021, up from 23 in 

2020. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business Advice Clinics  
Annual target 2020: 500 participants, 48 Clinics  

807 participants / 161% of annual target and 52 clinics delivered. 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 121



 11 
 

Training – Online delivery 

Training 

Our training programme has been adapted to reflect business requirements as a result of 

COVID-19 https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Online-Bookings/   

Annual target 2021: 1,900 participants 

DATE: 3,396 participants (Excluding Trading Online Voucher) & 141 courses  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Training courses completed Dec 2021: 

 

December Training 
Date  Course Title 

01/12/2021 

Future Proofing your small business using 

smart tech tools 

01/12/2021 Growing Lean: How to build a better business 

01/12/2021 Business Advice Clinic 

03/12/2021 Trading online inforamation session 

09/12/2021 Business Advice Clinic 
14/12/2021 Business Advice Clinic 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 122

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Online-Bookings/


 12 
 

 

Booking for January 2022:  

Date Course Title 
06/01/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

12/01/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

18/01/2022 SYOB 1 (Mid Week) 
19/01/2022 Trading Online Information Session 

19/01/2022 GROWING LEAN 

20/01/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

20/01/2022 
Planning and manage your working week more 
effectively 

25/01/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

29/01/2022 SYOB 2 (Sat and Wed) 

26/01/2022 Create a wordpress website 
 

The training schedule has been devised until June 2022. We will monitor on an ongoing 

basis to ensure relevance to business requirements and relevance and responsiveness to 

working with COVID-19. 

 
Start Your Own Business Course 
 
This programme provides individuals who are seeking to start their own business with the 
skills, management tools and expertise in making the right decisions, planning and 

organising effectively. It helps individuals gauge what will be required in order to keep their 
new venture running effectively and efficiently.  

 
Annual Target: 13 courses & 221 participants 
As at 24th December: 14 courses delivered, 1 bootcamp & 448 participants  

 

Page 123



 13 
 

Management Development Programmes 

 
Lean For Micro https://leanformicro.ie/  
To enhance companies competitiveness and profitability. LEO’s in the Dublin region are 

working together to host information sessions about the programme. Latest one took place 
19th January.  

 
Green for Micro www.localenterprise.ie/Green 

The objective of the Green for Micro programme - a new initiative from the Local Enterprise 

Offices - is to help prepare small businesses for the low carbon, more resource efficient 

economy of the future. Explanatory video https://www.localenterprise.ie/Green/What-is-

Green-for-Micro/What-is-Green-For-Micro.html  

Business Benefits: 

 Increased cost savings 

 Improved resource efficiency (for example: using less energy, water and materials) 
 Reduced environmental footprint and greenhouse gas emissions  

 Opportunities for higher and additional value on products and services  
 Increased access to customers, improved corporate image 

 Increased resilience to climate change impacts  

Application: Open. The business is encouraged to watch the lunch & learn series that took 

place on 12th March http://%20www.facebook.com/LocalEnterpriseOffices   

And then submit their application for 2 days mentoring/green consultation, with a value of 

€1,800. This delivers an audit of their green credentials with next steps. This product is 

suitable for businesses in construction and the built environment, retail, manufacturing, 

textiles and fashion, food, electronics, plastics, and packaging. 

Applications received in 2021 = 25. Applications fully processed: 13. Applications received in 

2022 as of 12/01/22 = 2 

 

Events 

 Ministerial Visit, 2nd November, Wood Quay Venue & GEC, Damien English Minister 

of State for Business, Employment and Retail. Successful event – informed minister, 
provided feedback on products, services & infrastructure & staff acknowledgement 

 LEO employment figures ’21, LEO marketing team coordination figures launched on 

morning of 17th January ’22 from RDS 

 Showcase Ireland’s Creative Expo 27th Feb – 2nd March  

 Local Enterprise Week 7th – 12th March 2022 

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Events%20/Local-
Enterprise-Week-2022.html  

Page 124

https://leanformicro.ie/
http://www.localenterprise.ie/Green
https://www.localenterprise.ie/Green/What-is-Green-for-Micro/What-is-Green-For-Micro.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/Green/What-is-Green-for-Micro/What-is-Green-For-Micro.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Events%20/Local-Enterprise-Week-2022.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Events%20/Local-Enterprise-Week-2022.html


 14 
 

 

Measure 1 (Grants) Approvals Metrics: End of Year 2021 (January – December Approvals) 

1. M1 Grants Approvals Metrics: 2021 

 #No of M1 Grant Applications Jobs  Value of M1 Grants  

Type of Grant Annual 
Target 

Total # No 
Approved 

2021 

Variance Total Jobs 
Created 
Target - 
Grant 

Approvals 

Total Jobs 
Created - 

From Grant 
Approvals 

2021 

Annual 
Target  

Total Value 
M1  Grant 
Approved 

2021 

Variance 

Feasibility Grant 28 27 1 23 27 €172,500 €242,810 -€70,310 

Priming 16 13 3 31 36 €315,000 €355,000 -€40,000 

Business Expansion 
Grant 

28 26 2 32 59 €400,000 €682,500 -€282,500 

TOTAL  72 66 6 86 122 €887,500 €1,280,310 -€392,810 

 

P
age 125



 15 
 

 

2. List of M1 Grants approved in 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

GMIS No. Company Name Grant Type first name Executive 
Official 

Amount 
Approved 

Jobs  

9031085 Klever Vault Feasibility Colin Napper Ross Curley €6,000 1 

9028130 Native Cabins Feasibility Deirdre Culley Dermot Shortt €7,000 1 

9028557 GRC Playbook LTD Feasibility Michali Hyams Dermot Shortt €8,500 1 

9031479 ifig Space Limited Feasibility Eoghan Maloney Peter Sheridan €15,000 1 

9014757-05 Child Paths Limited Business Expansion Ciaran Flynn Ross Curley €25,000 2 

9019904-03 Get Broadcasting Limited Business Expansion Brian Larkin Peter Sheridan €30,000 2 

9031391 Living Language Contact Ltd. Business Expansion Jean-Marc Bourguignon Dermot Shortt €17,500 2 

9031481 Kinahans Irish Whiskey Limited Business Expansion Tom Murray Peter Sheridan €40,000 4 

9029791 Tara Engineering Consultants Ltd. Priming James O’Brien Peter Sheridan €20,000 2 

9027107 Hiiker Priming Paul Finlay Peter Sheridan €27,500 3 

9031482 Konversational Consulting Limited Priming Richard Guy Ross Curley €47,500 5 

9028585 The Smart Money Series Feasibility Ed O’Riordan Dermot Shortt €3,800 1 

9030518 Driving Assessments inTuition 
Dublin 

Feasibility Fionnbarr McDaid Dermot Shortt €1,600 1 

9030280 IAA Technology Services Limited Feasibility Jim McGovern Peter Sheridan €15,000 1 

9030816 Discover Vend Ltd Feasibility Paul Sandilands Peter Sheridan €4,000 1 

9031423 Pup Pup Foods Ltd Feasibility Hayden Smith Dermot Shortt €8,400 1 

9031087 PS Byrne Holdings Ltd. Feasibility Siobhan Byrne Peter Sheridan €3,150 1 

9030368 Healthreach Limited Business Expansion Kevin Hurley Dermot Shortt €17,500 2 

9019015-04 Cloud Picker Coffee Ltd Business Expansion Peter Sztal Ross Curley €40,000 3 

P
age 126



 16 
 

9019228 NAB Academy Ltd Business Expansion Dermot Russell Peter Sheridan €25,000 2 

9032975 MYNE Nutrition Feasibility Jennifer O'Connell Ross Curley €12,370 1 

9032907 Qodify Payments Ltd Feasibility Eamonn Fitzgerald Peter Sheridan €7,000 1 

9028313 Qilta Ltd Feasibility Jim Dunne Peter Sheridan €10,250 1 

9026035-02 Boundary Blade Ltd Business Expansion Aidan Murphy Peter Sheridan €10,000 1 

9032912 Notions Creative Business Expansion Jamie Maguire Ross Curley €40,000 3 
9010542-02 Brandfire Limited Business Expansion Nuala Canning Ross Curley €7,500 1 

9015271-04 Creative Collisions Limited Business Expansion Niall O'Neill Ross Curley €30,000 2 

9006374-02 Kf Internet Software Ltd T/A 
National Wax Museum 
 

Business Expansion Brendan Kearns Peter Sheridan €35,000 3 

9031568 Seceuropark Limited Business Expansion Diarmuid McAuliffe Dermot Shortt €30,000 3 

9032913 Manakau Ltd Priming Dan Evison Dermot Shortt €47,500 5 

9032914 Kelstar Aviation Priming Steve Kelly Peter Sheridan €25,000 2 

9019422 The Moodytoons Storytelling 
Business 

Feasibility Conor Casby Dermot Shortt €11,900 1 

9032402 FinopsBirdseye Feasibility Mark McHugh Peter Sheridan €7,500 1 

9030508 Jengus Limited T/A Mulch.ie Business Expansion Eugene O'Keane Dermot Shortt €30,000 3 

9032875 Utilityfair Limited Business Expansion Neil Ryan Peter Sheridan €40,000 4 

9026551-02 Decent Reusables Ltd t/a Mother 
Reusables 

Business Expansion Sarah Byrne Ross Curley €25,000 2 

9033215 The Home Moment Ltd Priming Eileen Denham Dermot Shortt €30,000 3 

9032098 Bees on the Roof Ltd. Priming Emma Finn Ross Curley €10,000 1 

9031374 Fizfit Ltd Trading as Fizfit Priming Gary Twohig Ross Curley €10,000 1 

9029333 Woodbury Learning Academy 
Limited T/A Learnful 

Priming Shane Ormsby Peter Sheridan €30,000 3 

9033216 Back To Work Connect Priming Gina Oglesby Ross Curley €20,000 2 

P
age 127



 17 
 

9029688 BuyandSellbullion Ltd Feasibility Rory Roberts Peter Sheridan €11,825 1 

9033473 Embellehair Feasibility Sinead Asple Dermot Shortt €15,000 1 

9030652 Wireless Connect Ltd Feasibility Gerard Healy Peter Sheridan €8,800 1 

9026817-02 Inneall Development Ltd Business Expansion Ciaran Mac Donncha Dermot Shortt €35,000 3 

9012398-02 Allgo Global Rewards Limited t/a 
Allgo 

Business Expansion Gary Purcell Ross Curley €20,000 2 

9021861 Oxmantown Skincare Business Expansion Amy Cahill Dermot Shortt €10,000 1 

11008589-05 Agency X Limited Business Expansion Grainne/Brian Larkin Dermot Shortt €30,000 2 

9027372-02 Akara Robotics Limited Priming Conor McGinn Peter Sheridan 
 

€40,000 4 

9033213 Bluelocks Solutions t/a ReferHop Feasibility Chris Deane Ross Curley €8,935 1 

9033482 Mustard Feasibility Matthew Hewston Dermot Shortt €14,980 1 

9027785-02 ACE Golf Tee Limited Feasibility Elizabeth Lawlor Ross Curley €4,150 1 

9033757 Carlcode Limited t/a Hooked Feasibility Cormac Finn Dermot Shortt €14,400 1 

12021366-02 Feed Me Mother Feasibility Fiona Fahy Peter Sheridan €1,400 1 

9033758 ProMotion Cycle Ltd t/a ProMotion Feasibility Lauren O'Reilly Dermot Shortt €15,000 1 

9033270 Diffusion Lab Business Expansion Ivan Klucka Ross Curley €10,000 1 

11014635-02 JustFetchIt Limited T/A Grab Same 
Day 

Business Expansion Liam Bourke Ross Curley €30,000 2 

9015492-06 Arran Street East Limited Business Expansion Dobrawa  Brach Dermot Shortt €30,000 2 

9033778 Heartland Activities Ltd t/a 
CounsellingandTherapy.com 

Business Expansion Maura Davis Ross Curley €17,500 1 

9033760 Leamhain Non-Dairy Frozen 
Dessert 

Priming Conor Sweeny Ross Curley 
 

€17,500 2 

9033933 Emi Takakura t/a Unearth Feasibility Emi Dermot Shortt €11,000 1 

9033932 First Waste Options Limited Feasibility Declan Peter Sheridan €7,050 1 

P
age 128



 18 
 

9033848 The Elephant Hive Limited Feasibility Miriam Dermot Shortt €8,800 1 

9022625-03 MedVault Health Ltd Business Expansion Tony Dermot Shortt €17,500 2 

9024063-04 Continuous Software Business Expansion Cagkan Dermot Shortt €40,000 4 

9027997 Niamh Tallon t/a Her Sport  Priming Niamh Dermot Shortt €30,000 3 

    Total: €1,280,310 
 

122  

 

P
age 129



 19 
 

  

 

Trading Online Voucher Metrics: January to December 2021 

 Trading Online Vouchers:  
 

Target 2021 
 

1 Jan – 29 Nov 2021 
 

No. of Trading Online Vouchers Approved 
 

200 624 

Value of Trading Online Vouchers Approved  €1,422,087.50 

No. of Trading Online Vouchers Paid  1014 

Value of Trading Online Vouchers Paid  €2,304,208.35 

 

 

 

TAME Metrics: January to December 2021 

Technical Assistance for Micro Exporters:  
M1 Metrics 2021 

2021 
as at 24.11.2021 

Value of 
Approvals 2021  

Grant Approvals  8 €16,714 
 

Value of Grants Paid Out- January to 
24.11.2021 

€10,209   
 

 

P
age 130



 20 
 

3. Dublin Place Brand - Dublin.ie 

 

Strategy & Research 

Following a tender process and the creation of a multi-party framework, OCO Global have 
been appointed to review Dublin’s Place Brand strategy. The benefits of a well-developed 
place brand include: enhanced international visibility to support foreign investment and 
visitor attraction; attraction of international students & talent and a stronger sense of 
identity and community cohesion for residents. The work is underway and will be completed 

by June 2022. Several workstreams will run concurrently with input from the team, 
management and a wide range of stakeholders. 

Campaigns & Events 

 

Brigit 2022 

Dublin.ie will be the home for Bridget 2022: Dublin City Celebrating Women. The Lord 

Mayor’s initiative will take place on February 1st. Further information and events will be 

featured at:  https://dublin.ie/brigit    

ENFUSE 

The place brand will be an official partner of the ENFUSE initiative for 2021, primarily 

assisting with social promotion and goodie bags, plus the possibility of featured stories.  

Dublin.ie 

Design and development updates: Following testing, new performance and user experience 

upgrades for the site are going live in late January 2022.   

Content: 

 Story Updates: An audit of the almost 300 site stories took place in December. This 

was done to ascertain how many need updates or removal. The team are currently 

working with a content writer to scope out the updates required, with a view to 

starting them in Q1. 

 Enterprise Ireland content series: Work is ongoing with Enterprise Ireland to 

produce a content series over the next few months. 

 

Stakeholder Engagement 

 Education in Ireland (part of Enterprise Ireland): We’re in the planning stages of an 

international destination marketing campaign with Education in Ireland and Dublin’s 

Higher Education Institutions to promote Dublin as a location for international 

students. 

 DCU and Failte Ireland: working on a collaborative project with Innovation students 

at DCU to come up with new and innovative ideas to encourage people from Ireland 

and Northern Ireland who live outside the capital to visit Dublin and spend at least 

one overnight. 

Page 131

https://dublin.ie/brigit


 21 
 

 

4. Smart Dublin & Smart Districts 

 

Smart Dublin is an initiative of the four Dublin Local Authorities to engage with smart 

technology providers, researchers and citizens to solve challenges and improve city life.  It 
aims to position Dublin as a world leader in the development of new urban solutions, using 

open data, and with the city region as a test bed.  

DCC Smart City Unit under the Smart Dublin umbrella has developed a world-leading Smart 

City programme.  It drives forward the use of new technologies to improve our city’s 
operations; improving efficiencies, reducing costs, driving economic growth and future 

proofing our communities.  

Smart Districts are strategically selected locations where targeted smart city projects can be 
fast-tracked to measure impact and potential scalability. Each Smart District is unique, with 
bespoke programmes developed to meet the specific needs of the district residents and also 
provide growing businesses with a wider variety of testbed locations. 

Dublin City Council supports three out of the five Smart Dublin districts; Smart Docklands, 
Smart DCU and our latest smart district Smart D8, a smart district focusing on Health and 
Well Being. It has also recently established a Smart Tourism Programme in partnership with 

Failte Ireland. 

 

 

 

For more information on Smart Dublin Project, see the Public Trello Board: 

https://trello.com/b/188O9azF/smart-dublin-project-board 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 132

https://trello.com/b/188O9azF/smart-dublin-project-board


 22 
 

 

 

Smart City Updates:  

 

1. European Capital of 

Innovation (iCapital) 

Awards 2021  

On the 26th of November 2021 

Dublin was awarded joint second 
place in the 2021 European Capital 

of Innovation (iCapital) awards. 

The European Capital of 
Innovation (iCapital) awards is an 
annual recognition prize awarded 
to the European cities that best 
promote innovation in their 

communities. Past winners include Leuven, Nantes, Athens and Amsterdam. 

The 2021 edition recognises cities’ that contribute to developing a local ‘innovation 
ecosystems’ for the benefit of innovators and the wellbeing of their citizens.  

Dortmund (Germany) was awarded first place and was named as the European Capital of 
Innovation 2021. Dublin and Malaga (Spain) were awarded joint second place. Vilnius 
(Lithuania) came third. 

Dublin will receive €50,000 to continue to work on innovative projects for the city. 

In a press release after the awards , Mariya Gabriel, Commissioner for Innovation, Research, 
Culture, Education and Youth, said: “I am impressed by the outstanding work of all iCapital 

finalist cities. I am honoured to highlight these cities that are the real test beds for 
innovation.” 

Press Release: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_21_6224  

Find out more about the European Capital of Innovation Award HERE 

 

2. Smart D8 – A Smart Health and Wellbeing District 

 

Smart D8 has launched its largest pilot 

project to date with the introduction of a 
new ‘Civic Dollars’ community currency to 
encourage the use of public parks and drive 
better health outcomes for the community 
on the 27th of November 2021 and was 
featured on RTE online and on the 6 o’clock 
news. 

The project, led by Dublin City Council, will 

use a smartphone app to reward visitors 

Page 133

https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_21_6224
https://eic.ec.europa.eu/eic-funding-opportunities/eic-prizes/european-capital-innovation-awards_en
https://www.rte.ie/news/dublin/2021/1129/1263738-parks-dublin/


 23 
 

with the new Civic Dollars for spending time in participating Dublin 8 parks, which can then 

be exchanged for goods and services from local businesses or gifted to local community 

organisations.  

5 parks in Dublin 8 are participating in the pilot: St Audoen’s Park, St. Patricks Park, Weaver 
Park, Oscar Square in the Liberties, and Grattan Park in Inchicore. All 5 parks have seen 
recent investment by Dublin City Council who aim to roll the scheme out to other parks 
under its control if it is a success. The Civic Dollars pilot will run for 5 months, and the team 
are hoping to attract 1,000 users in the first 2 months. 

The app does not measure steps or distance that the users accumulate in the park, just the 

time spent in a zone, ensuring that users with mobility or health issues are not discriminated 
against and can participate fully. The project goal is to decrease health inequality and help 

citizens who are not currently active to take part and improve their wellbeing. 

Since the project began, 845 users have downloaded the app, 141 Civic Dollars have been 
donated to local community groups. Users have engaged in 531.5 hours of activity in the 
park up to the 10th of January. 

3 more Dublin 8 parks will be added in February and staff in Dublin City Council will also be 

encouraged to try out the app during lunch breaks. The new parks will include the War 
Memorial Gardens, Turvey Park and St. James Walk, the linear park along the canal. 

Read more & download the Civic Dollars app HERE. 

 

3.  Smart DCU- MicroMobility safety,  Shared E-Cars, Delivery Robots 

5. MicroMobility safety 

Following the launch during 2021 of the 

research collaboration between Tier, DCU 

Insight and Luna Systems (A DCU Alpha 

company), the pilot has focused on improving 

MicroMobility safety by perfecting the ability 

to detect pedestrians and footpath riding 

(Hazards are Red zones). 

 

Shared E-Cars 

Staff at DCU now have access to two Renault 

Zoe E-Cars for intercampus travel. The 

vehicle telemetry is being analysed by DCU 

Insight to understand how ‘E-car sharing’ can 

be optimised for intelligent transportation 

(right vehicle, right place, right time). 

 

 

 

Page 134

https://www.civicdollars.com/


 24 
 

Delivery Robots 

  

The first robot delivery of a burger and chips to a student was done by the Hosted Kitchens 

automated Deliver Robot. This relied on teleoperation (driven by a remote driver). While 

another Delivery Robot from Transpoco (A DCU Alpha company) is piloting AI-enabled 

Computer Vision to navigate indoors. 

 

4. Smart Tourism Programme - 

Digital Trails Toolkit 

The Smart Tourism Programme for 

Dublin, supported by Dublin City Council, 

Failte Ireland and Imaginear have 

developed a Digital Trail Toolkit, designed 

to help identify best practice for 

destinations and businesses who wish to 

develop digital trails. 

The Digital Trail Toolkit is a step by step 
guide to assist industry in Digital Trail App development. Although there are many different 

types of app and digital trail developments in the tourism industry, there are few examples of 

toolkits developed specifically for organisations who are interested in building thei r own digital 

trail.  

 

The purpose of the Toolkit is to help identify best practice examples of digital trails and create 

a path to development for destinations and businesses who wish to develop digital trails. A key 

Page 135



 25 
 

focus for the project which began in February 2021, is the growing crossover between tourism, 

culture and technology. The goal of the Smart Tourism programme is to establish Dublin as a 

world-leading ‘Smart Destination’ through innovation, research and partnerships.  

View the Digital Trail Toolkit and Tutorial Video HERE 

5. Ring Buoy Project- Water Safety Ireland Award 

                                                                                                                        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Ring Buoys initiative, led by Dublin City Council and in partnership with the other 3 
Dublin local authorities were awarded a Community and Social Responsibility Award from 

Water Safety Ireland. The award recognises Smart Ring Buoys and how this low-cost 
innovative alert system is helping to ensure that public rescue equipment is in place and 

ready to use when needed. 

The Ring Buoy project in collaboration with Water Safety Ireland to trial and test solutions 
that can help address vandalism and theft of ring buoys. The project uses an innovative 
procurement methodology, the first of its kind in Ireland that allows local authorities to pilot 
and buy the validated solutions. 

Phase 2 of the project which aims to scale up the solutions will be rolled out across 10 local 

authorities in Ireland. Phase 2 will begin in January 2022. 

 

Read more about Smart Ring Buoys HERE. 

 

6. The Academy of the Near Future 

Academy of the Near Future is a smart cities education programme being developed by 

Dublin City Council, Smart Docklands and CONNECT, the world leading Science Foundation 

Ireland Research Centre for Future Networks and Communications at Trinity College Dublin. 

Page 136

https://smartdublin.ie/smart-tourism-digital-trails-toolkit-and-tutorial-video/
https://smartdocklands.ie/project/ring-buoy-theft/
https://scanner.topsec.com/?r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Fnearfuture.ie%2F&d=1962&t=2178aa5f425706e14906fcc6928d6dc73a4c0673
https://scanner.topsec.com/?r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Fsmartdocklands.ie%2F&d=1962&t=455bbc9b5cd31cdcc19dfe42dc8d105cadbdc0d2
https://scanner.topsec.com/?r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Fconnectcentre.ie%2F&d=1962&t=47665804f721bc13875f97e8798f2e50fd482f82


 26 
 

The Academy of the Near Future 

delivered workshops to 190 Transition 

Year students from Nov2021-Dec2021, 

as part of the Visioneers smart city 

education programme.  

Several workshops involved a 

collaboration with Trinity College 

Dublin's Codeplus programme, an 

initiative set up to introduce girls to 

computer science and coding. 

Workshops were delivered to 2 schools in Waterford City, as part of our national outreach 

with CONNECT.  

Workshop evaluations demonstrated an increase in concept familiarity of smart cities and 

the internet of things.  

 

Students demonstrated strong enjoyment of workshops, the following are student 

reflections when asked to reflect on their workshop highlight.  

● 'coming up with creative ideas to make towns better'  

● 'having fun and being inventive'  

● 'working together as a team' 

● 'learning that I can think of solutions to problems'  

 

7. Accelerating the Potential of Drones for Local Government 

 

Regulations: Drone User Handbook & Tutorial Video 

The ‘’Regulations: Drone User Handbook is a free to use 

resource, developed as part of Dublin City Council’s 

‘Accelerating the Potential of Drones for Local Government’ 

Project. 

Drones are increasingly used by local authorities. This resource 

is intended to help strengthen best-practice in the sector and 

support local authority staff to deliver better, safer and more 

efficient services.  

View the tutorial video and download the handbook HERE. 

Page 137

https://smartdublin.ie/regulations-drones-user-handbook-and-tutorial-video/
https://smartdublin.ie/regulations-drones-user-handbook-and-tutorial-video/


 27 
 

Data Protection: Drone User Handbook & Tutorial Video 

The Data Protection Handbook is a resource designed to 
support local authority drone operators to meet data 
protection compliance requirements. 

The handbook was developed by Castlebridge, as part of 
Dublin City Council’s ‘Accelerating the Potential of Drones 
for Local Government Project’, funded by the Public Sector 

Innovation Fund. 

View the tutorial video and download the handbook HERE. 

 

 

 

For any queries in relation to any of the above please contact: 

Jamie Cudden, Smart City Programme Manager Jamie.cudden@dublincity.ie  or; Nicola 

Graham, Smart City Operations Manager Nicola.graham@dublincity.ie  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 138

https://smartdublin.ie/data-protection-drones-user-handbook-and-tutorial-video/
https://smartdublin.ie/data-protection-drones-user-handbook-and-tutorial-video/
mailto:Jamie.cudden@dublincity.ie
mailto:Nicola.graham@dublincity.ie


 28 
 

6. International Relations: 

 

International Relations continues to develop and enhance international relationships 
through mutually beneficial initiatives, cultural, educational and economic development 
exchanges.  International Relations acts as first point of contact for city, business and 
government visiting delegations from other cities to provide support to the Lord Mayor’s 
office on international relations matters.    
 
Friendly Agreements with other Cities: 
 
Dublin City Council has received a growing number of requests for Friendship Agreements 
with other International cities.   As there is no existing criteria in place for the evaluation of 

such requests, it is accepted that it would be beneficial if a process could be established to 
manage such requests and that they should be evaluated in the context of the benefit to the 
city and should also align with existing Council policy.  It was agreed that a report would be 
brought back to the Protocol Committee. 

 

Page 139


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Draft Dublin City Development Plan 2022 - 2028 -  Update - Deirdre Scully, Deputy City Planner, Planning & Property Development
	5 Dublin City Local Economic and Community Plan - Mary MacSweeney, Senior Executive Officer/Deputy Head of Enterprise & Economic Development
	6a Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards 2015 - 2021 Brochure
	6b Reset Summit 2020 - Outcomes Report
	Foreword
	Executive Summary
	Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Dublin
	Future of Dublin
	Key Insights and Recommendations
	Introduction
	Reset Summit Contributions
	Lord Mayor’s Welcome
	Keynote Address / European Context
	Dublin City Context
	 Dublin Region Context
	Panel Discussions
	Panel 1 - Innovation & Entrepreneurship
	Panel 2 - Sustainability & Climate Change
	Panel 3 - Employment & Skills
	Panel 4 - Culture & Community
	Closing Address
	Appendices
	Reset Summit Photograph Gallery

	7 European Programme Support Office - Anthony Flynn, Executive Manager, CRES
	8 Economic Development & Enterprise Management Reports

